
1

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

Mid Devon District Council

Cabinet
Thursday, 7 March 2019 at 2.15 pm

Exe Room, Phoenix House, Tiverton

Next ordinary meeting
Thursday, 4 April 2019 at 2.15 pm

Those attending are advised that this meeting will be recorded

Membership
Cllr C J Eginton Leader and Environment
Cllr R J Chesterton Deputy Leader and Planning and Economic 

Regeneration
Cllr P H D Hare-Scott Finance
Cllr C R Slade Community Well Being
Cllr Mrs M E Squires Working Environment and Support Services
Cllr R L Stanley Housing

A G E N D A

Members are reminded of the need to make declarations of interest prior to any 
discussion which may take place

1.  Apologies  
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.  Public Question Time  
To receive any questions relating to items on the Agenda from members 
of the public and replies thereto.

3.  Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct  
Councillors are reminded of the requirement to declare any interest, 
including the type of interest, and reason for that interest, either at this 
stage of the meeting or as soon as they become aware of that interest.

4.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 16)
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct 
record of the meeting held on 7 February 2019.

5.  S106 Governance  (Pages 17 - 34)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning Economy and 
Regeneration regarding governance arrangements for Section 106 
agreements and financial contributions.

Public Document Pack

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


2

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

6.  Costs in the Planning Service.  (Pages 35 - 56)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning Economy and 
Regeneration highlighting some of the headline findings of the recent 
costs exercise to provide Members with background information on 
suggested service improvements and changes.

7.  Discretionary fee setting in Development Management  (Pages 57 - 
60)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration regarding discretionary charges.

8.  Crediton Town Centre Masterplan  (Pages 61 - 70)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning Economy and 
Regeneration defining the scope for the commissioning of consultants to 
assist in the preparation of a Masterplan Supplementary Planning 
Document and Delivery Plan (SPD) for Crediton Town Centre in the 
budget year 20/21.

9.  Future High Streets Fund  (Pages 71 - 118)
To consider a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration analysing the three market towns and seeking to prioritise 
which of them should be selected to form the basis of the single 
expression of interest which is allowable under this fund.  It also 
identifies the potential for a further expression of interest to be submitted 
for the separate heritage part of the fund.

10.  Vehicle Supply and  Maintenance Contract  (Pages 119 - 130)
To consider a report of the Director of Operations advising Members on 
the results of the procurement exercise for the provision of fleet supply 
and maintenance and seek approval to award the contract to the 
successful bidder.

11.  Supporting the formation of a South West Mutual Bank  (Pages 131 
- 160)
To consider a report of the Chief Executive seeking approval to invest 
£49,995 to support the next stage in the setting up of South West 
Mutual.

12.  Financial Monitoring  
To receive a verbal report from the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) 
presenting a financial update in respect of the income and expenditure 
so far in the year.

13.  Cabinet Member Decisions  
Cabinet are asked to note the following decisions made by Cabinet 
Members:

Cllr P H D Hare-Scott: 

To close the bottom half of the Station Road pay and display Car Park 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


3

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

Cullompton on Saturday 13th April 2019 between 6am and 2pm.

REASON FOR DECISION:
The Cullompton Farmers Market Committee Group have approached 
the Council with a request to close part of the Station Road car park in 
Cullompton to host Cullompton Spring Festival.

They have requested on Saturday 13th April from 6am until 4pm to close 
and erect stalls to the lower part of the car park so stalls can be erected, 
this would mean the upper car park would be still available for pay and 
display and permit holders to use but the reduced number of spaces 
would result in a reduced income.

Cllr R J Chesterton:

Increase Building Control Fees by approximately 3%.

REASON

To maintain cost recovery for Building Control activity. Building Control 
fees were last changed in 2018 and this change keeps fees in line with 
inflation and ensures that the service continues to cover its costs.

14.  Notification of Key Decisions  (Pages 161 - 174)
To note the contents of the Forward Plan.

15.  Access to Information - Exclusion of the Press and Public  
During discussion of the following item(s) it may be necessary to pass 
the following resolution to exclude the press and public having reflected 
on Article 12 12.02(d) (a presumption in favour of openness) of the 
Constitution. This decision may be required because consideration of 
this matter in public may disclose information falling within one of the 
descriptions of exempt information in Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. The Cabinet will need to decide whether, in all 
the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption, outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  

To consider passing the following resolution so that financial information 
may be discussed.

Recommended that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the public be excluded from the next item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 respectively of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
namely information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


4

Committee Administrator: Sally Gabriel
Tel: 01884 234229

Email: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk

16.  3 Rivers Development Limited - Business Plan  (Pages 175 - 186)
To consider a report of the Director of Finance, Assets & Resources and 
the  3 Rivers Development Limited Acting Managing Director requesting 
approval of the draft 5 year (21 February 2019) business plan for 3 
Rivers Developments Limited

Stephen Walford
Chief Executive

Wednesday, 27 February 2019

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press 
and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not 
to do so, as directed by the Chairman. Any filming must be done as 
unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting 
and having regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who 
may not wish to be filmed. As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film 
proceedings is asked to advise the Chairman or the Member Services Officer in 
attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening. 

Members of the public may also use other forms of social media to report on 
proceedings at this meeting.

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting and listen to 
discussion. Lift access the first floor of the building is available from the main 
ground floor entrance. Toilet facilities, with wheelchair access, are also 
available. There is time set aside at the beginning of the meeting to allow the 
public to ask questions.

An induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone wearing a hearing aid 
or using a transmitter. If you require any further information, or

If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large 
print) please contact Sally Gabriel on:
Tel: 01884 234229
E-Mail: sgabriel@middevon.gov.uk

Public Wi-Fi is available in all meeting rooms.

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


Cabinet – 7 February 2019 78

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of a MEETING of the CABINET held on 7 February 2019 at 2.15 pm

Present 
Councillors C J Eginton (Leader)

R J Chesterton, P H D Hare-Scott, 
C R Slade, Mrs M E Squires and 
R L Stanley

Also Present
Councillor(s) Mrs B M Hull and F J Rosamond

Also Present
Officer(s): Jill May (Director of Corporate Affairs and Business 

Transformation), Kathryn Tebbey (Group Manager for 
Legal Services and Monitoring Officer), Andrew Busby 
(Group Manager for Corporate Property and Commercial 
Assets), Alan Keates (Group Manager for ICT and GMS 
Services), Joanne Nacey (Group Manager for Finance), 
Stuart Noyce (Group Manager for Street Scene and Open 
Spaces), Chris Shears (Economic Development Officer), 
Adrian Welsh (Group Manager for Growth, Economy and 
Delivery), John Bodley-Scott (Economic Development 
Team Leader), Nicola Cuskeran (Senior H R Business 
Partner), Gemma Causey (Accountant) and Sally Gabriel 
(Member Services Manager)

132. APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies.

133. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

There were no members of the public present.

134. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (00-01-02) 

The following interests were declared:

Councillor Interest Reason

C J Eginton Personal  Item 8 –as he owned a 
shop in Tiverton

C J Eginton Personal Item 17 – as he received a 
pension from Lloyds 
Banking Group

C J Eginton Personal Item 22 - as he owned a 
shop in Tiverton

R L Stanley Personal Item 22 – as this was 
within his portfolio as 
Cabinet Member

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 79

135. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (00-01-50) 

The minutes of the previous meeting were approved as a correct record and signed 
by the Chairman.

136. SAFEGUARDING POLICY GUIDANCE AND PROCEDURES (00-03-06) 

Arising from a report of the Director of Corporate Affairs and Business 
Transformation, the Community Policy Development Group had recommended that 
the revised Safeguarding Policy and Procedures be approved.

The Cabinet Member for Community Well-Being outlined the contents of the report 
stating that the revised policy provided greater clarity of roles and responsibilities of 
officers throughout the Council and provided a framework for developing partnerships 
within appropriate external bodies and other local authorities.

RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr C R Slade and seconded by Cllr Mrs M E Squires)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

137. BULKY WASTE CHARGES (00-04-23) 

To consider a * report of the Group Manager for Street Scene and Open Spaces 
regarding an alternative charging structure for bulky waste.

The Leader outlined the contents of the report stating that at a meeting on 8 January 
2019, members of the Environment PDG had asked that the bulky waste charges be 
investigated to ensure that they were in line with other authorities in Devon. As part 
of the exercise it was shown that in certain instances users were actually paying less 
for more items being removed under the fixed price items charge.  It was therefore 
proposed that the charge for fixed priced items, for example a settee and 2 armchairs 
be removed from the charging scheme and that those be dealt with as 
individual/additional items.

Discussion took place regarding the value of the scheme in that it sought to reduce 
fly tipping and that the revised scheme would commence on 1 April 2019 with a press 
release being produced to inform the public.

RESOLVED that the current fixed price item charge of £27 for bulky waste be 
abolished as recommended by the Environment Policy Development Group on 8 
January 2019.

(Proposed by the Chairman)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

Page 6



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 80

138. SHOP FRONT ENHANCEMENT SCHEME (00-07-02) 

Arising from a *report of the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration, the 
Economy Policy Development Group had recommended that a seed fund totalling 
£15,000 to maintain/reinstate shopfront enhancement schemes for the three main 
market towns in the District be approved.

The Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration outlined the contents 
of the report stating that it was recognised that the visual attractiveness of a town 
centre was an important element of consumers choice as to where they shopped and 
was seen as a major contributor to a towns vitality and economic success.  The 
shopfront scheme was a practical way to support local business owners, previous 
schemes had been a success and it was felt that the scheme should be continued in 
the 3 main towns.

Consideration was given to:

 The details provided in appendix 1 of the report with regard to individual 
schemes that had been completed

 The need to help local traders.

RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr R J Chesterton and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)

Notes:

i) Cllr C J Eginton declared a personal interest as he owned a shop in Tiverton;

ii) *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

139. ECONOMIC STRATEGY (00-13-28) 

Arising from a report of the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration, the 
Economy Policy Development Group had made the following recommendations:

1. The Economic Strategy and year 1 action plan be approved.

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman of the Economy PDG and 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration to finalise the document for 
publication (document appearance such as formatting, illustrative material and 
minor changes).

3. That delegated authority be granted to Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration in consultation with the Chairman of the Economy PDG and 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration to add an appendix to include 
key employment sites.

Page 7



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 81

The Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration outlined the contents 
of the report by way of presentation stating that the revised strategy had been 
developed by a process of engagement with Members through a series of informal 
workshops and local business representatives in which priorities and possible 
interventions had been discussed and was aimed to supplement the joint strategy 
created with other EHOD authorities.  He highlighted the themes of discussion, the 
overarching objectives of the strategy, the five key themes, the proposed outcomes 
of the themes and the level of ambition.

Consideration was given to:

 The year 1 action plan
 How productivity could be influenced
 The need to attract new businesses into the area
 The work of the Economic Development Team with local businesses
 The need to upskill the workforce and how Petroc had widened its 

opportunities available to young people

RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr R J Chesterton and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

140. VOID MANAGEMENT POLICY (00-36-22) 

Arising from a report of the Group Manager for Building Services, the Homes Policy 
Development Group had recommended that the revised Void Management Policy be 
approved and that the term of the policy be extended to 10 years.

The Cabinet Member for Housing outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
revised policy was a guide to tenants and officers on how the authority managed void 
properties in that how the properties should be left and what was available to new 
tenants.  The revised policy had been aligned to the latest tenancy agreements and 
the recent Recharges Policy.  It was envisaged that the policy have a 10 year 
lifespan.

RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr R L Stanley and seconded by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

141. MEETING HOUSING NEEDS POLICY (00-40-11) 

Arising from a report of the Group Manager for Housing, the Homes Policy 
Development Group had recommended that:

Page 8



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 82

a) The revised Housing Options Supply and Demand Policy be approved;

b) The Cabinet notes the Housing Options Service will continue to make best use 
of its temporary housing resources when accommodating homeless 
households.

The Cabinet Member for Housing outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
Councils statutory duties were governed by legislation by the Housing Act 1996 as 
amended under the Homelessness Act 2002 Part II and the Homeless Reduction Act 
2017.  The Housing Authority had a duty to carry out an assessment in all cases 
where an eligible applicant was homeless or threatened with homelessness.  He 
highlighted the duty of the Housing Authority and the need for the provision of 
suitable accommodation for homeless applicants.

Discussion took place regarding the current situation and that homelessness issues 
were getting worse and that a budget was available to help people before they 
became homeless.

RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr R L Stanley and seconded by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

142. DRAFT 2019/20 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET (00-43-05) 

Arising from a * report from the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) and Director of 
Operations considering the options available in order for the Council to set a 
balanced budget for 2019/20 and agree a future strategy for further budgetary 
planning for 2020/2021 onwards; the Homes Policy Development Group had made 
the following recommendations: that the proposed HRA budget for 2019/20 be 
approved subject to garage rents being frozen for 2019/20 and that from 2020/2021 
onwards garage rents be increased by the Consumer Prices Index plus 1%.

The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
Housing Revenue Account was well managed and he highlighted the 1% rent 
decrease proposed by central Government in 2015 each year until 2019/20. It was 
proposed that rents be increased in 2010/21 by CPI plus 1% which confirmed with 
the previous rent policy.  He stated that it was  proposed to freeze garage rents for 
2019/20.  He explained the Right to Buy system and the impact of this on the HRA.

Consideration was given to the impact of the Right to Buy scheme. 

RESOLVED that the recommendation of the Policy Development Group be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott and seconded by Cllr R L Stanley)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

Page 9



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 83

143. UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENT PROCEDURE FOR MANAGING OR 
ENFORCING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS (00-47-40) 

Arising from a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) the Community Policy 
Development Group had recommended that Cabinet and then  Council adopt the 
Unauthorised Encampment Policy subject to a further review by the legal 
department, following the review it was agreed that consultation take place on the 
proposed policy.  

The Cabinet Member for Housing outlined the contents of the report stating that at 
the present time, the authority did not have a policy in place for responding to and 
enforcing on unauthorised encampments on land owned by the District Council.  He 
explained the consultation process that had taken place with the town and parish 
councils and the county council.  The policy set out guidance explaining how the 
authority would deal with unauthorised encampments on its land; the policy was 
deemed to be firm but fair.

Consideration was given to the consultation process and that this was seen as 
positive engagement, also that a flowchart had been produced which would allow for 
quick reference.

RECOMMENDED to Council that: the proposed corporate policy and procedure for 
managing and enforcing unauthorised encampments as detailed in Annex A be 
adopted and implemented.

(Proposed by Cllr R L Stanley and seconded by Cllr R J Chesterton)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

144. FINANCIAL MONITORING (00-52-55) 

The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
(S151) presenting a financial update in respect of the income and expenditure to 
date.

The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
proposed deficit for the current year had now been reduced to £65k, largely as a 
result of the Business Rates Retention Scheme and savings made within Revenues 
and Benefits; the under recovery of income within the Planning Service was still an 
issue.  The HRA was forecasted to have an underspend of £58k and there was some 
slippage within the Capital Programme.

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

145. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES (00-54-40) 

The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) providing 
Members with an update on the income generation and financial implications of the 

Page 10



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 84

number of Business Rate properties in Mid Devon and requesting it to approve the 
NNDR1 (estimated income to be generated in 2018/19 from business rates).

The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report explaining that 
the annual report highlighted the forecasted annual amount of revenue that was 
expected to be generated from Business Rates and how that money would be 
distributed.  The net collectable debit was then split proportionally in accordance with 
the provisions of the Local Government Finance Settlement issued in December 
2018 which enabled the whole of Devon to have 50% rates retention, subject to 
tariffs and levies.  He explained the pilot scheme that had taken place to retain 100% 
of Business Rates growth income which had been for one year only and that the 
authority had been unsuccessful in a bid for a 75% pilot in 2019/20, the authority 
therefore had to revert to the 2017/18 distribution system.

Consideration was given to the Business Rates Revaluation Relief Scheme and how 
that had been managed and the proposal to better manage it in the future.

RECOMMENDED to Council that:

a) The calculation of the NNDR1 net yield of £5.500m from 3079 Business Rated 
properties be noted and approved for 2019/20;

b) The proportions distributed to the respective authorities and central 
Government be allocated as per the statutory regulations; and

c) Members note and approve that Central Government will reimburse the 
Council through a Section 31 grant to compensate it for the reduction in 
collectable business rates as a result of introducing reliefs.

(Proposed by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott and seconded by Cllr R L Stanley)

Note: *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

146. BUDGET (00-59-23) 

The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) providing 
the proposals for the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account for the year 
2019/20.

The Cabinet Member for Finance informed the meeting that there had been 18 
occasions in which members had involvement in the budget setting for 2019/20, 
following discussions at PDG meetings and members briefings.  He outlined the 
headlines of the report with regard to the proposed increase in Council Tax, the 
temporary transfer of £253k from the New Homes Bonus, the position of the HRA 
and the proposals within the Capital Programme

Consideration was given to:

 The legislation requirement for a 1% decrease in social housing rents, the 
freeze on garage rents and the increase in garage plot ground rents

 The impact of Universal Credit

Page 11



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 85

 The Local Government Pension Scheme.

RECOMMENDED to Council that:

a) Council Tax is increased by 2.996% (£5.93) to £203.84. 

b) The General Fund budget for 2019/20 is approved. 

c) The 2019/20 budget requires no transfer from the General Fund Balance. 

d) The General Fund Budget requires a temporary transfer of £253k from New 
Homes Bonus EMR. 

e) The HRA budget for 2019/20 be approved as outlined in Appendix 5. 

f) HRA fees/charges are approved based on the attached schedule shown as 
Appendix 5a and 5b. 

g) Work on strategic planning for delivering balanced budgets in the future is 
commenced in the spring.

h) The authority continues to maintain a 25% General Fund Balance of our net 
operational expenditure as referred to in para 5.1of the report.

(Proposed by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott and seconded by Cllr R L Stanley)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

147. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2022/23 (1-05-14) 

The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) seeking 
approval of the 2019/20 Capital Programme and requesting that the draft 2020/21, 
2021/22 & 2022/23 programmes be noted.

The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report explaining that 
the programme was mainly focused on essential asset maintenance, the funding of a 
range of private sector housing projects, ICT replacement and investments and 
ensuring that the existing housing stock was maintained to the decent homes 
standard.

RECOMMENDED to Council that:
 
a)  The detailed Capital Programme for 2019/20 be approved and the estimated 

amounts for 2020/21, 2021/22 & 2022/23 be noted. 

b)  The earmarking of New Homes Bonus (NHB) monies of £613k to support the 
2019/20 Capital Programme (see para 2.3) be agreed.

(Proposed by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)

Page 12



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 86

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

148. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY (1-06-16) 

The Cabinet had before it a *report of Deputy Chief Executive (S151) requesting that 
Council approve the proposed Treasury Management Strategy and Annual 
Investment Strategy for 2019/20.

The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
Council was required to set a balanced budget and due to the reduction in 
Government funding there was a need to look at other ways of creating income and 
that any investment and borrowing had to be prudent and sensible.  The strategy set 
out how the authority’s proposals for future financial matters.

RECOMMENDED  to Council that: 

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy 
for 2019/20 be approved.

b) The prudential indicators for the next 3 years be approved.
c) The Minimum Revenue Provision Statement (Appendix 1), be approved.
d) Funds loaned to subsidiaries do not have to be constrained to capital 

purposes to be approved.
e) The following options be approved:

Option 1 : Increase the investment terms to 2 years for banks to obtain higher 
interest rates and returns

Option 2; Diversify the investment portfolio to include non-UK banks with a 
minimum Sovereign Fitch rating of AAA which will potentially negate the 
effects of Brexit post 29 March 2019.

Option 3: Diversify the borrowing portfolio to include short term loans 
(maximum 5 years) from other Local Authorities, Banks and Building Societies

(Proposed by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott and seconded by Cllr Mrs M E Squires)

Notes:  

i) Cllr C J Eginton declared a personal interest as he received a pension from 
Lloyds Banking Group;

ii) *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

149. CAPITAL STRATEGY (1-08-33) 

The Cabinet had before it a * report of the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) requesting 
agreement of the proposed Capital Strategy for 2019/20.

The Cabinet Member for Finance outlined the contents of the report stating that the 
new reporting procedures required by CIPFA which gave a high level overview of 
how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management actively 

Page 13



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 87

contributed to the provision of local public services along with an overview of how 
associated risk was managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.

Consideration was given to the prudential indicators for estimates of capital 
expenditure.

RECOMMENDED to Council that: the proposal Capital Strategy for 2019/20 be 
approved.

(Proposed by Cllr P H D Hare-Scott and seconded by Cllr R L Stanley)

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

150. POLICY FRAMEWORK (1-12-03) 

The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Chief Executive requesting it to endorse 
the Policy Framework for the year.

The Cabinet considered the policies and the review dates.

RECOMMENDED to Council that the Policy Framework be adopted.

(Proposed by the Chairman)

Note: *Report previously circulated; copy attached to the Minutes.

151. ESTABLISHMENT (1-12-32) 

The Cabinet had before it a *report of the Group Manager for Human Resources 
outlining the overall structure of the Council showing the management and 
deployment of officers.

The Cabinet Member for the Working Environment and Support Services outlined the 
contents of the report stating that a significant amount of positive change had been 
undertaken over the past 12 months and this continued to deliver a more effective 
and efficient service; changes to the Council’s structure was still ongoing.  She 
highlighted the total number of full time staff, the sickness absence statistics, the 
turnover of staff and reasons for leaving.

Consideration was given to:

 The breakdown of short term and long term sickness
 The support for stress and mental health issues
 How the statistics provided compared with other authorities nationally
 The annual turnover rate
 Ongoing staff surveys

RECOMMENDED  to Council that the Establishment be approved.

(Proposed by Cllr Mrs M E Squires and seconded by Cllr C R Slade)

Page 14



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 88

Note:  *Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

152. PAY POLICY (1-20-00) 

The Cabinet had before a * report of the Group Manager for Human  Resources  
which set out the legislative requirements of the Localism Act 2011 relating to senior 
pay, in particular the role of the Chief Executive, Directors and other senior officers.

The Chairman outlined the contents of the report explaining the pay multiple which 
was calculated by comparing all taxable earnings for the given year for the Chief 
Executive compared to mean earnings and the lowest paid in the organisation.

RECOMMENDED  to Council that the Pay Policy 2019 be adopted.

(Proposed by the Chairman)

Note: * Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

153. TIVERTON REGENERATION SCHEME (1-22-20) 

The Cabinet had before a * report of the Group Manager for Corporate Property and 
Commercial Assets requesting the approval of a regeneration scheme for Tiverton 
town centre between Fore Street and the pannier market,  to enable a tender process 
to commence.

The Cabinet Member for Housing outlined the contents of the report highlighting the 
previous schemes which had not come to fruition and the detail of the current 
scheme which would encourage footfall through to the Pannier Market and Market 
Walk and then onto Bampton Street to create a circular shopping route that would 
assist all traders in its path, this would be backed up by additional signage.  A 
planning application had been submitted for the demolition  of the  ground floor retail 
shop at 34 Fore Street to create a widened pedestrian access to the Pannier Market,  
the construction of 3 flats and 3 units in plot 36.  The layout and design of the 
proposal demonstrated that the site could accommodate the amount of retail and 
residential development.   The widening of the pedestrian access adjacent to 34 Fore 
Street would improve pedestrian access and visibility of the Pannier Market from 
Fore Street and make a more welcoming approach.  

Consideration was given to:

 The next step for the project, that of a tender process
 The desire to deliver the masterplan which would give confidence to the other 

main towns with regard to regeneration

RESOLVED to proceed with the tender process for this key regeneration project in 
the heart of Tiverton town centre, in line with the results of the stage one Tiverton 
Masterplan public consultation.

(Proposed by Cllr R L Stanley and seconded by Cllr R J Chesterton)

Page 15



Cabinet – 7 February 2019 89

Notes: 

i) Cllr C J Eginton declared a personal interest as he had a shop in the town;

ii) Cllr R L Stanley declared a personal interest as the project was within his 
portfolio as Cabinet Member;

iii) * Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

154. ICT STRATEGY (1-30-13) 

The Cabinet had before a * report of the Group Manager for ICT and GMS Services 
providing an overview of the revised ICT Strategy and seeking approval of the 
strategy.

The Cabinet Member for Community Well-Being outlined the contents of the report 
stating that the strategy provided a vision and ensured that the appropriate ICT 
infrastructure was in place to enable the Council to deliver services efficiently and 
effectively.

RESOLVED that the revised strategy be approved.

(Proposed by Cllr C R Slade and seconded by Cllr R J Chesterton)

Note: * Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

155. PERFORMANCE AND RISK (1-31-25 

The Cabinet had before it and NOTED a * report of the Director of Corporate Affairs 
and Business Transformation providing Members with an update on the performance 
against the Corporate Plan and local service targets.

The Group Manager for Performance, Governance and Data Security outlined the 
contents of the report and took the Cabinet through each of the appendices.

Note: * Report previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

156. NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS (1-32-25) 

The Cabinet had before it, and NOTED, its rolling plan * for March 2019 containing 
future key decisions.

Note:  *Plan previously circulated, copy attached to minutes.

(The meeting ended at 3.50 pm) CHAIRMAN

Page 16



MDDC Report [title]
v

1

CABINET   
7TH MARCH 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION

SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS – PROPOSED 
GOVERNANCE 

Cabinet Member(s): Cllr Richard Chesterton
Responsible Officer: Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and 

Regeneration

Reason for Report: 
The Audit report of May 2018 flagged up the need to review and formalise 
governance arrangements in relation to Section 106 agreements. Following the 
decision taken at the Cabinet meeting on 25th October 2018 the draft governance 
arrangements were sent out for consultation with Parish and Town Councils. This 
report outlines the comments received from that consultation process and includes 
the resultant changes to the governance arrangements and guidance notes.

Mid Devon District Council currently collects financial contributions from new 
development through legal agreements signed under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), sometimes also referred to as planning 
obligations. It is considered that the governance of the s106 contributions set out in 
the Councils adopted SPD can be further refined to enhance the transparency of this 
process. The report therefore sets out the additional recommendations for 
governance of s106 contributions. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. That Cabinet recommend to Council that the governance arrangements 
at Appendix A be adopted.

2. That Cabinet approve the guidance notes and public open space funding 
flow chart as attached at Appendices B and C to this report and grant 
delegated authority to the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration 
to make any necessary future changes to these to reflect amendments 
to Government legislation or guidance.  

Relationship to Corporate Plan: 
The Planning Service is a statutory service, the effective operation of which will 
deliver funds for necessary community projects which are central to the delivery of 
Corporate Plan priorities of community, housing, economy and environment 

Financial Implications: 
S106 agreements will normally include clauses stating when the funds will be paid 
(by reference to some trigger in the development phase) and for what purpose they 
will be used, often project or location specific.  There is also provision for the return 
of contributions if they remain unspent or uncommitted after an agreed period of 
time, typically 10 or 15 years depending on the nature of the contribution. All monies 
collected on applications submitted since April 2015 must be spent on the specific 
project that it was allocated to at the time the planning application was submitted and 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5.



MDDC Report [title]
v

2

that should be set out clearly in the s106 agreement. It cannot be spent on any other 
project and will only become available for spending once a development has 
commenced on site. Therefore if a site is never developed the monies won’t become 
available and equally if development of the site is delayed, some monies may not 
become available for some time. It is therefore important to track payments to ensure 
any funds secured are used before they have to be returned.  

Legal Implications: 
Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 agreements and procedures must 
comply with the following legislation and Government guidance:

1. The 1990 Town & Country Planning Act
2. Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (“CIL Regulations”)
3. National Planning Policy Framework 2018 
4. Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government Planning Practice 

Guidance. 

Risk Assessment: 
Clearer governance and the opportunity for Town and Parish Councils to engage 
with the process results in greater transparency and understanding of the processes 
that need to be followed in order to comply with the aforementioned legislation and 
guidance.

Equalities Impact: 
There are no equality issues identified in this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND.

1.1 The Governance Arrangements, Guidance Notes and Flow Chart set out in 
this report were sent out for consultation purposes with Parish and Town 
Councils, the 5 week consultation period finished on the 4th January 2019. 
Section 3 of this report summarises the responses from the consultation 
process, provides an officer response where required and advises of any 
revisions to the governance arrangements, guidance notes and flow chart that 
are proposed. A copy of the governance arrangements, guidance note and 
flow chart are attached at Appendices A, B and C.
Sections 1.2 – 2.4 below provide a brief overview of the s106 Process.

1.2 Mid Devon District Council currently collect financial contributions from new 
development through legal agreements signed under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), sometimes also referred to as 
planning obligations.

1.3 The need for planning obligations are considered on a case by case basis and 
may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission if they meet the 
following statutory tests from the CIL Regulations, namely that they are: 

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

• directly related to the development; and

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind. 

Page 18



MDDC Report [title]
v

3

1.4 Planning obligations must be fully justified (usually by reference to 
development plan policy requirements) and evidenced.

1.5 Since April 2015, Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations has placed a national 
restriction on the traditional approach of ‘pooling’ Section 106 contributions 
from numerous developments towards the provision of infrastructure, such as 
public open space, schools or roads. Such pooling is now only permissible for 
up to five separate planning obligations, for any given infrastructure by project 
or type. It should be noted that the Government has indicated an 
intention to remove s106 pooling restrictions in all areas. Once the 
legislation has been amended accordingly, the governance 
arrangements and guidance notes will be reviewed and updated as 
necessary to ensure they reflect the changes to pooling restrictions. 

1.6 Local planning authorities are expected to use all of the funding they receive 
through planning obligations in accordance with the terms of the individual 
planning obligation agreement. This will ensure that new developments are 
acceptable in planning terms; benefit local communities and support the 
provision of local infrastructure. Agreements should normally include clauses 
stating when and how the funds will be used by and allow for their return, after 
an agreed period of time, where they are not. Equally, if monies are not spent 
in accordance with the terms of the s106 agreement, developers can request 
that their contribution is returned to them.

1.7 With the introduction of the CIL legislation, the Government has ‘scaled back’ 
the use of planning obligations, as CIL is viewed as a replacement for the use 
of planning obligations in some circumstances. When Mid Devon introduces 
CIL, the use of planning obligations to raise financial contributions towards 
infrastructure will be restricted and, with the exception of the identified 
strategic sites, will generally only be used for site-specific impacts of new 
development, necessary on-site infrastructure and the provision of affordable 
housing.

1.8 Upon implementation of the Mid Devon CIL, the Council will also implement 
the “Regulation 123 List” which sets out the items of infrastructure which will 
be wholly or partly funded by CIL. After that time, it will not be possible to 
secure Planning Obligations under Section 106 to fund infrastructure items on 
that list. Accordingly, there will be a scaling back of Section 106 use.  Before it 
can be introduced, Mid Devon CIL will be subject to examination by the 
Planning Inspector at the end of the Local Plan Review hearings.

1.9 The following four sections indicate the areas which may still be subject to 
planning obligations under S106 following adoption of the Mid Devon CIL:

1. Non – Infrastructure Requirements 
• The funding and provision of items which are not defined as 

infrastructure, such as affordable housing. 

• Other non-infrastructure requirements such as development phasing, 
the implementation of travel plans and construction management.

 

Page 19



MDDC Report [title]
v

4

• For other purposes which do not require developer contributions, such 
as regulating the use of land. 

2. Infrastructure for Urban Extensions. 
The provision of infrastructure within, directly related to, or required as a result 
of, development within the defined areas of the North West Cullompton, East 
Cullompton and East Tiverton urban extensions allocated in the adopted Local 
Plan Review. Zone 1 - Zero rated. 

3. Site –Specific Transport Improvements. 
Site-specific improvements needed to make a development acceptable in 
planning terms. 

4. Other Infrastructure Provision. 
Infrastructure provision which meets the tests set out in the CIL Regulations 
but which is not included on the Regulation 123 list to be funded by CIL may 
be sought through the use of Planning Obligations. A full list of infrastructure 
to be sought through planning obligations is not included, since much would 
depend on the specific development put forward, but the following forms of 
infrastructure are specifically referred to within the Local Plan. 

• Public Open Space -the provision of public open space (publicly 
accessible open space, allotments, other green infrastructure and 
sports pitches with associated changing facilities) in accordance with 
the adopted policies of the Local Plan Review including where 
necessary replacement provision as a result of the loss of an existing 
facility. 

• Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems
 
• Wildlife protection, enhancement and mitigation 

• Measures related to pollution and contaminated land. 

2.0 PUBLIC OPEN SPACE

2.1 Since the adoption of the Provision and Funding of Open Space Through 
Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in 2008 (and the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance prior to that), the District Council has been 
collecting and spending financial contributions from developers through s106 
Planning Obligations for this purpose. Contributions are taken towards new or 
improved open space in order to mitigate for the additional demand arising 
from the development in question. Day to day management and routine 
maintenance of existing open space may not be funded by S106, but 
improvements may be. The contributions which have been collected are held 
in a fund by the Council and made available for spend within the relevant 
catchment area (referred to as catchment funding) to bring forward new or 
improved provision of sports areas, children’s play areas and informal open 
space. This is in accordance with policies within the Development Plan and 
SPD

Page 20



MDDC Report [title]
v

5

2.2 The 62 parishes across Mid Devon have been grouped into 28 catchment 
areas. All the monies which have been collected prior to April 2015 can be 
spent on any public open space project within that catchment area.

2.3 Since April 2015 s106 funds must be spent on the specific project that it was 
allocated to at the time planning permission was granted. It cannot be spent 
on any other project, without an agreed variation to the section 106 
agreement.  It is likely that the Council would be asked to cover the costs of 
such a variation.  The financial contributions only become available to spend 
once they have been paid to the Council.  In some cases, this may be shortly 
before there is a commencement on site, but in some cases, the contribution 
is payable on a later trigger e.g. prior to any residential occupation on site. 

2.4 The SPD specifies that, in spending contributions, the Council will have regard 
to:

• The views of Council Ward Member(s) in the catchment area;
• The views of Town or Parish Council(s) in the catchment area;
• The priorities for improving open space identified in the Council’s Open 

Space and Play Area Strategy (December 2006). 
• Providing value for money;
• The potential for securing external or matched funding.

3.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES. 

The consultation exercise over the proposed governance arrangements 
produced 8 responses. The responses and officer comment upon them are 
set out below:

3.1. Town and Parish Council responses 

Bradninch Parish Council – Our main concerns are that the balance 
between the District and the local community affected is too much in favour of 
the District and that, within MDDC, the balance between the primacy of 
officials and elected councillors on the Planning Committee/S106 Board is too 
much in favour of the officials, in particular the Head of Planning. We’ve heard 
in the past that the Committee is led by the recommendations of the Planning 
Officers and this governance policy will only serve to reinforce that position. 
We understand that this makes things easier for District Councillors but are 
not convinced that it is necessarily right. We have seen numerous instances 
in previous planning matters where dubious decisions have been the result.

The document also needs a good proof read for both grammar and the 
inclusion of jargon, such as ’SPD’. 

The project areas for spend are limited to Public Open Space, Air Quality and 
‘Other’. Should these be more comprehensively defined and does it mean that 
projects will only have a reasonable chance of success if they fall into one of 
the first two categories?

We trust that these comments will be taken on board prior to finalising of the 
documents.

Page 21



MDDC Report [title]
v

6

Officer comments 
a. The documentation has now been updated to explain any abbreviations 

and to include corrected grammar. 
b. The reason for the documentation is to improve transparency and 

governance whilst not making the process so bureaucratic as to delay the 
allocation of funds on much needed community funding.

c. There seems to be some confusion between the general fund and the 
project specific funds. The pre 2015 s106 agreements are included in the 
general funds which relate to the air quality / public open space. Post 2015 
s106 agreements are project specific so any funds gathered would be in 
relation to an agreed project.

Clayhidon Parish Council – Clayhidon Parish Council would like to install 
some benches for a couple of areas it owns Grays Quarry and Hidon Woods 
- could these be 106 projects please?

Officer comments 

a. This is a project specific comment and advice has been given to assist 
with this request.

Cullompton Town Council – Thank you for providing Town and Parish 
Councils with an opportunity to make comment on the changes to the S106 
governance arrangements. Cullompton Town Council discussed these 
changes at its meeting on 13 December 2018 and agreed to respond as  
follows:
1. Cullompton Town Council is pleased to note that MDDC intends to consult 
with Town and Parish Councils and hopes that MDDC will not only consult but 
also take on board the comments made and act on those comments.

2. That Town and Parish Councils receive regular update reports on what 
S106 funding is available and when it needs to be spent by.

Officer Comments  
a. The aims of the Governance arrangements are to ensure that the process 

is transparent and Officers will be looking to consult and take on board 
comments and act on them as part of this process. 

Stoodleigh Parish Council - It's a badly written document - hard to 
understand with the guidance notes being the only helpful part. There is 
even one sentence with 81 words in it (a sure sign of bad writing). 
Abbreviations are not explained making it hard to comprehend. Generally, 
really not impressed with what's been produced.

Officer Comments 
a. The report and appendices have been amended to remove the overly long 

sentences and to explain abbreviations. It is welcomed that the Guidance 
notes were seen as being helpful.  

Halberton Parish Council – Response from Halberton Parish Council, 
December 2018

Page 22



MDDC Report [title]
v

7

1. Pre 2015 contributions – not scheme specific
o spending under £10k is delegated to officers
o spending over £10k is delegated to S106 Board consisting of members 

and officers. Towns/parishes within catchment area to be consulted 14 
days before Board meeting.

Comment: Town/Parishes should be consulted on all proposed spending 
including up to £10k. It would be useful to have more than 14 days notice 
where possible as referrals are likely to need to fit in with formal council 
meeting cycles. 

2. Post 2015 contributions – scheme specific
o nominations for specific projects and amount made at planning 

application stage
o nominations to come from MDDC departments, Ward members within 

the catchment area, Town/Parishes within the catchment area, 
sports/community groups

o assessment of nominations delegated to officers, or S106 Board if 
competing projects.

o Note that a project in a neighbouring area may be prioritised over local 
project if officers feel it is closer/more accessible. Town/Parishes in 
both areas to be consulted. 

Comment: The council welcomes the opportunity to nominate projects, but 
does not find it helpful to nominate projects now which may not be delivered 
for many years hence when priorities may have changed. The council does 
recognise this is a legislative issue and not within MDDC control. 
Similar to the comment on 1 above, the council would like as much notice as 
possible to consider where a neighbouring project is likely to be prioritised 
over a local project, including MDDC reasons for preferring the neighbouring 
project, so that a considered response can be made. 

3. Requests to vary S106
o delegated to officers, unless members require it be considered by 

MDDC committee
o must have clear planning reasons

Comment: Given the current process of nominating projects potentially many 
years hence, MDDC should make the process of varying the project as 
straight forward as possible as priorities do change over time.

Officer comments 
a. The Governance arrangements have now been updated to make the 

proposed consultation arrangements clearer. In terms of the 14 day response 
time being too short the governance arrangements have now been amended 
to 28 days to fit in with meeting cycles. 

b.  The time lines for funding can be dependent on the delivery rates of the 
development and legislative constraints which are out of the control of the 
Planning Service. Whilst the long lead in times for projects are frustrating it is 
important to ensure that projects are identified as early as possible to ensure 
that MDDC can secure funds. Hopefully the extended response period will 
provide the time needed for project discussions. By way of clarification any 

Page 23



MDDC Report [title]
v

8

new project that has been agreed post April 2015 must meets the legal tests 
on the CIL Regulations as identified in paragraph 1.3 above. The projects 
need to directly relate to the development in question.

c. The process for varying schemes is dependent on legislative constraints 
which are out of the control of the Planning Service. But wherever possible 
MDDC will try to make this process as straight forward as possible. 

Stockleigh English Parish Council – We have discussed the contents of 
your letter dated 22 November 2018 at Stockleigh English Parish Meeting 
held on 11 December.
As Stockleigh English is a tiny parish with no arrangements to handle money 
we do not wish to participate.

Officer comments 
Noted 

Tiverton Town Council – The 14 days proposed for comments from Parish 
and Town Councils is not a long enough period for a democratic view to be 
provided. One would also question why such a short period would be 
necessary. We would suggest 28 days is far more realistic. Many Parish 
Councils meet on a monthly basis; therefore 28 days is far more realistic a 
period

In the flow chart it would seem that a Parish Council could be by-passed by a 
S106 Board. This is not acceptable. We would wish to always be consulted.

Officer Comments 
a. Governance arrangements have now been amended to reflect the 28 days 

needed for consultation.
b. It is the intention to consult with Town and Parish Councils on s106 decisions 

where set out in the Governance arrangements at Appendix A. This is shown 
in the flow chart. The Governance arrangements have now been amended to 
make it clearer where such consultation is proposed.

Willand Parish Council – It was felt that the PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
FUNDING FLOWCHART was overly complicated but no alternative layout is 
offered as it will mainly be used by officers administering the process. It 
would be helpful if some likely timings could be put on this process.

In the PROPOSED SECTION 106 GOVERNANCE document under 
paragraph 2 Willand Parish Council are concerned that the suggested 
makeup of the Board would mean that the decision making is officer 
controlled and have asked why this is felt to be necessary. It is suggested that 
there should be an uneven number on the Board, maybe 7 and that the 
majority should be elected members. The Councillors feel strongly that the 
officers are there to advise and not to decide, this should be decided by 
elected members.

Paragraph 2 also states that ‘views will be sought from Parish or Town 
Councils and Ward Members (14 days allowed)’. Although it is recognised 
that these things need to be moved quite quickly Willand Parish Council also 
think that this period of time should be longer given that some Councils only 

Page 24



MDDC Report [title]
v

9

meet bi-monthly, even Willand with its more frequent meetings can have a 
gap of 3 weeks between meetings

It would be helpful if the note to paragraph 3 Project Selection for Spend could 
emphasise that this would be discussed during the setting up of new projects 
from new developments and there would not be any possibility of agreed 
projects having funding removed to another parish.

In March 2017 the Parish Council submitted details and costings for three 
projects within the village and it is not clear from the correspondence if these 
are still relevant and/or current or whether we need to submit them again to 
be party to the current process. Would it be possible to receive information on 
the current situation and allocated developments against the projects?

Officer Comments 
a. It is accepted that the flow chart is complicated but it is a true reflection of the 

process involved and it was thought to be more transparent to show all 
processes rather than a schematic plan that was easier to read but missed 
out elements of the process. It is accepted that the timings of the process 
would be helpful but as each s106 is different and each can have differing 
degrees of complexity any stated timings would not be a true representation 
of what happens and would therefore not be that helpful. As such it is felt that 
timings should not be included on the flow chart.

b. The number of officers has been identified to ensure that each department 
involved in the spending and utilisation of s106 funds are involved in the 
process. Therefore the numbers of officers on the Board are to ensure there is 
a corporate approach to the decisions made by the Board.  

c. The Governance arrangements have now been amended to reflect the 28 
days needed for consultation.

d. The note referred under Project Selection for Spend identifies that there may 
be instances where a project in a different catchment area to the development 
is identified in order to meet the tests of the CIL Regulations.  It is unlikely that 
agreed projects would see funding removed and instead directed to another 
catchment area.   

e. Two of the three projects referred to have been approved and funds are 
already being collected. With regard to the third project, discussions have 
taken place recently between the Willand Parish Clerk and the Planning 
Obligations and Monitoring Officer (POMO). Following those discussions 
further information has been provided to the POMO and a further response 
will be provided to the Parish on this project. 

4.0 REFERRALS TO THE S106 GOVERNANCE BOARD

4.1 The referrals of projects or spend requests for consideration at the S106 
governance board is proposed to take place where:

 Requests greater than £10,000 are made to spend S106 funds that are not 
project specific. 

 More than one eligible project is nominated to receive S106 funding and 
prioritisation is required. 

Page 25



MDDC Report [title]
v

10

It is also proposed to produce guidance to assist Town and Parish Councils 
submit applications for Board consideration. 

5.0 MOTION TO COUNCIL 27 FEBRUARY 2019

4.0 A motion from Councillor Evans regarding S106 agreements has been 
submitted to the meeting of Council on 27th February 2019. Should the motion 
be passed it should be noted that it will have the potential to affect section 8 of 
the governance arrangements set out in Appendix A dealing with requests to 
vary s106 agreements. 

Contact for more Information: Mr David Green, Group Manager for Development
 01884 234348

dgreen@middevon.gov.uk  

Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy 
and Regeneration 01884 234346
jclifford@middevon.gov.uk  

Circulation of the Report: Cabinet Members

List of Background Papers: Audit report May 2018 
Cabinet Report 25th Oct 2018

Page 26

mailto:dgreen@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:jclifford@middevon.gov.uk


MDDC Report [title]
v

11

APPENDIX A - SECTION 106 GOVERNANCE

1. All payments received by Mid Devon District Council (MDDC) for legal 
agreements signed under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended) which are referred to as Section 106 agreements (S106) 
must be given the relevant planning application reference upon receipt.

2. Arrangements for the spending of financial contributions for S106 
agreements where financial contributions are not project specific 
(generally pre 2015 and by infrastructure type).

a. Spend <£10,000 delegated to Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration in consultation with Estates and Operations (if relevant to 
operational area).

Views will be sought from Parish or Town Council and Ward Members 
within the catchment area in advance (28 days allowed).

b. Spend >£10,000 shall be referred to a S106 Board comprising of the 
following:

1. Cabinet Member of Planning and Regeneration (Chair)
2. Cabinet Member for Community Well being
3. Senior officer from Planning (Head of Planning or Group 

Manager for Development)
4. Senior officer from Operations
5. Senior officer from Estates
6. Admin support – Planning Obligations Officer.

Views will be sought from Parish or Town Council and Ward Members 
within the catchment area in advance of Board Meeting (28 days allowed).

4. Project Selection for spend: PUBLIC OPEN SPACE  

For S106 financial contributions post 2015, these are required to be project 
specific. Accordingly prior to the signing of a S106 agreement at the planning 
application stage the project upon which the financial contribution should be 
spent needs to be specified. 

Project nominations will be sought from:

a. Internal to MDDC – Relevant departments and Ward Members within 
the catchment area.

b. External to MDDC – Parish or Town Council within the catchment area, 
sports and community groups (with 28 days allowed and sports /community 
group consultation depending on relevance to S106 contribution).

c. Assessment of the eligibility of a project (assessed against statutory 
requirements, guidance and its relation to the planning application from which 

Page 27



MDDC Report [title]
v

12

contribution sought) – Delegated to Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration via case officers. 

d. In the case where project prioritisation is required between two or more 
eligible projects – Referred to S106 Board.

NOTE – Whilst the Provision and Funding of Open Space Through 
Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) identifies the use of 
a catchment area approach for the collection and spend of financial 
contributions towards public open space, in order to ensure that the tests of 
the CIL Regulations are met, there may be instances where a project or 
facility in an adjacent catchment area is more likely to be used/accessed due 
to it being closer/more accessible to the development in question. In such 
cases the Parish or Town Council and Ward Members of both catchment 
areas will be consulted during the setting up of new projects. 

5. Project selection for spend: AIR QUALITY  

a. For S106 contributions post 2015 towards air quality, these are project 
specific therefore project nominations will be sought from:

b. Internal to MDDC – Relevant departments and Ward Members (both Ward 
within which the development is located and Ward of the relevant Air 
Quality Management Area if different). 

NOTE 1 – Air quality projects are generally those which will assist in the 
management of air quality within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)  
(Cullompton or Crediton). Contributions may be sought from outside the 
AQMA where it is identified that new development would have a negative 
impact upon the AQMA. Actions to address air quality are included within the 
Air Quality Action Plan. Air quality projects to receive s106 funding will 
normally be based upon the actions identified within the Mid Devon District 
Council Air Quality Action Plan.

NOTE 2 – Suggestions for air quality projects from the community to be 
considered for inclusion in the Air Quality Action Plan (when next reviewed) 
may be made via the Ward Member. 

6. Project selection for spend: OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS.

a. Delegated to the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration in 
consultation with relevant departments. 

NOTE – These are normally identified through adopted planning policies 
relevant to the development and responses from statutory consultees during 
the planning application assessment process. 

7. Selection of s106 heads of terms and prioritisation between s106 asks 
where viability an issue.

Page 28



MDDC Report [title]
v

13

a. Delegated to the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration in 
consultation with the Ward Members and relevant services (e.g. Housing, 
Environmental Health etc.)

NOTE – These are normally identified through adopted planning policies 
relevant to the development and responses from statutory consultees during 
the planning application assessment process. 

8. Requests to vary s106 agreements 

a. Delegated to the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration in 
consultation with the relevant services unless the Ward Member, 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Planning Committee and Cabinet 
Member for Housing (the latter in the case of amendments to affordable 
housing only) require that the Planning Committee consider the proposed 
changes having given clear planning reasons. 

NOTE- Existing process in place, agreed by Planning Committee 6th July 
2016. The procedure includes consultation with relevant consultees, Ward 
Members and the Parish or Town Council (14 days allowed). 

Page 29



MDDC Report [title]
v

14

APPENDIX B – Guidance Notes on Section 106 Projects 

Mid Devon District Council collects financial contributions from new development 
through legal agreements signed under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended), sometimes also referred to as planning 
obligations.

The need for planning obligations are considered on a case by case basis and may 
only constitute a reason for granting planning permission if they meet the following 
statutory tests from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations, namely 
that they are: 
• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind. 
Planning obligations must be fully justified (usually by reference to development plan 
policy requirements) and evidenced.

Since April 2015, Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations has placed a national 
restriction on the traditional approach of ‘pooling’ Section 106 contributions from 
numerous developments towards the provision of infrastructure, such as public open 
space, schools or roads. As such s106 funding must now be project specific and any 
agreed project can only have contributions from up to five separate planning 
obligations. Local planning authorities are expected to use all of the funding they 
receive through planning obligations in accordance with the terms of the individual 
planning obligation agreement. 

The aim of the regulations is to ensure that new developments meet the three 
statutory tests from the CIL Regulations (shown above), benefit local communities 
and support the provision of local infrastructure. 

Agreements will normally include clauses stating when and how the funds will be 
used by and allow for their return, after an agreed period of time, where they are not. 
Equally, if monies are not spent in accordance with the terms of the s106 agreement, 
developers can request that their contribution is returned to them. 
Once discussions as part of the planning application process have agreed s106 
contributions for a specific project, the following has to happen before the money 
becomes available to spend on that project:

• Planning permission has to be granted 
• The money has to be collected (sometimes the money will be collected during 

the planning process and other times certain triggers will have to be met 
before any payment is due)

• The development must have commenced on site (this does not include 
preparatory groundworks and certain investigative works) 

This process can take place up to five times on some schemes for the maximum 
amount of funding to become available as funds for the same project will sometimes 
be collected from more than one development.
It should be noted that it is unlikely that funding generated this way would be suitable 
for projects that need quick delivery.  As it can sometimes take years before the full 
amount of funding is available and we are therefore asking that all Parish Councils 

Page 30



MDDC Report [title]
v

15

act now to come up with a list of Public Open Space projects for delivery in five to 
ten years.

For example; some equipment in your local play park looks tired but is safe and does 
not need replacing for another four or five years minimum.  Contact the Planning 
Obligations Monitoring Officer (POMO) as soon as possible to nominate this as a 
project to receive S106 public open space funding for new equipment in the play 
park.  If the project is confirmed as being suitable, contributions can be collected 
straight away but are unlikely to be available for several years.  Therefore in five 
years when the equipment needs replacing the funding will be there specifically to 
support new equipment in that play park.

What you need to do to get S106 funding for your projects 
We need your help to identify projects at the outset of any planning discussions for a 
development so we can make our best endeavours to secure funds to help you to 
deliver the project. 

There is no limit to how many projects can be set up within a parish/catchment but it 
is worth considering the levels of development likely to occur locally.  e.g.  it would 
be unlikely for s106 contributions to meet the full cost of a £250,000.00 sports pitch 
in a locality that only receives one or two small scale planning applications for new 
dwellings per year.

The key is to be realistic and plan ahead; have a rolling works programme that is 
deliverable.  Contributions that can’t be spent on the specified project are liable to be 
refunded to the Developer so aim for projects that have a degree of certainty when it 
comes to delivery.  Plan for future costs but again, be realistic.  Prices will go up over 
five to ten years but try not to over-estimate as any unspent money may be returned 
to the Developer.  Also please be mindful that funding cannot be transferred to 
another project unless the S106 agreement is amended with the consent of the 
developer. 

What to do next
All Town and Parish Councils are invited to nominate projects for the allocation of 
future funding.  In fact all Town and Parish Councils are actively encouraged to 
nominate projects.  Without sufficient projects we are unable to allocate contributions 
and we risk losing the funding.  This funding opportunity exists to benefit local 
communities and support the provision of local infrastructure.

When nominating projects, it is helpful for the following information to be provided: 
A. Applicant Details – (e.g Town/Parish Council or Community body details – 

name, address, contact email address and telephone number).
B. Project title – (e.g Provision of new toddler play equipment at Somewhere 

Recreational Ground, Somewhere).
C. Description of proposed works – (e.g a written paragraph on the need, 

purpose and content of the project in this location).
D. Location – (e.g site address and location plan). 
E. Guide target figure to collect (e.g. Approx £15,000).

Please feel free contact the Planning Obligations Monitoring Officer (POMO) at Mid 
Devon District Council (see contact details below) with your project suggestions and 
an estimate of the project cost.  As part of this process we will also contact other 

Page 31



MDDC Report [title]
v

16

Parishes that may be located in the catchment, together with the local Ward 
Members and relevant Officers at the District Council to ensure there is adequate 
local support for the project.  We will also consider whether it is eligible to receive 
financial contributions and align it a priority where there is more than one eligible 
project within the catchment area. Once the project has gained approval it will be 
added to our list of Public Open Space projects and contributions can be allocated to 
it 

Going forward
Please engage with the POMO who will be happy to advise and assist with 
prioritising projects.  Please remember this is a rolling process so we will always 
need your suggestions for new public open space projects.

Page 32



APPENDIX C
PUBLIC OPEN SPACE FUNDING FLOWCHART

YesNo

No

Yes

Application received:  
contribution required

Passed to S106 Officer to 
allocate a project

Consult Parish 
Council and/or 

S106 Board

Contribution spent

Deed null and void; 
contribution refunded

Permission 
implemented?

Funding 
approved

Signed agreement received 
and contribution paid

Officer informed of 
allocation; deed and letter 

sent to applicant

Pre-commencement 
decisions discharged and 

development commenced

Contribution becomes 
available for spending

Planning permission 
refused/ appeal dismissed

Planning permission 
granted

Decision appealed
Revised application 

submitted

Funding application 
received

General or non-project 
specific  

Project Specific

Funded request less than 
£10,000  

Funding request greater 
than £10,000

  

Delegated to Head of 
Planning for approval

  

Check eligibility of project 
against the project title 

allocated  

Consultation 
process (Members, 

PC, MDDC)

Referred to S106 Board for 
approval 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



MDDC Report [title]
v

1

CABINET   
MARCH   2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION

COSTS IN THE PLANNING SERVICE

Cabinet Member(s): Cllr Richard Chesterton
Responsible Officer: Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and 

Regeneration

Reason for Report: 

In 2018 a cost analysis of planning service and recording of officer time was carried 
out in partnership with Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA). 
A report by CIPFA was subsequently produced on the 30th October 2018 and is 
attached as Appendix 1. Analysis of the data in this report has enabled the 
Development Management Service to identify areas of focus to deliver greater 
efficiencies, service improvement and in some instances opportunities for the 
recovery of costs in discretionary areas of service. This report highlights some of the 
headline findings of the recent costs exercise to provide Members with background 
information on suggested service improvements and changes. It also demonstrates 
that the Planning Service is actively assessing the level of customer care, 
performance improvement, cost recovery and process efficiencies.

RECOMMENDATION: 
That Cabinet notes the contents of this report and the CIPFA report of 30th 
October 2018.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: 
The core of the Planning Service is a statutory service, although some of the work 
undertaken, particularly before the formal planning application stage is discretionary 
and carried out for customer service reasons as well as seeking to secure higher 
quality planning outcomes through positively influencing development schemes at an 
early stage. The effective operation of the Planning Service delivers not only the 
processing of planning applications in line with the Government’s performance 
targets, but also customer care and high quality development. The Planning Service 
directly contributes to the Corporate Plan priorities of community, housing, economy 
and environment, together with many of the aims under each of these priorities. 

Financial Implications: 
The introduction of service efficiencies and exploring cost recovery opportunities will 
improve the service for customers whilst reducing the costs of the operation of the 
service. Underpinning the cost of discretionary services through charging that seeks 
to recover the cost of providing that service will reduce the extent to which the 
discretionary elements of the Service budget are subsidised and will instead transfer 
more of the cost of non-statutory services to the users and beneficiaries of the 
service. 

The CIFA report also considered the fee income received for certain application 
types and compared it with the cost to the Council of processing those applications 
by type. This is considered in more detail below and in the attached report. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6.



MDDC Report [title]
v

2

Legal Implications: 
The provisions of the Local Government Act 2003 are relevant to any consideration 
of charging for discretionary services as this must be on a cost recovery basis (s93). 
Planning fees for formal application processing are set nationally by the Government 
via Fee Regulations. 

Risk Assessment: 
This evidence based report is providing the focus for improvements to the Planning 
Service by aiding understanding of the amount of staff time spend in different activity 
areas, the cost of providing different parts of the service in relation to income (either  
as set by the Government in the case of the formal planning application process or 
discretionary for non-statutory areas). The time recording exercise and cost analysis 
undertaken reduce risks associated with either over or under-recovery of the costs of 
the service and will lead to targeted service improvements on an evidenced basis. 

Improvements to efficiency and greater opportunities for cost recovery (where 
appropriate) will lead to less financial risk going forward. Having an appropriate and 
funded level of resource in place will allow for a sustained level of service delivery for 
customers that also reduces the risk of Government performance requirements not 
being met. 

Equalities Impact: 
There are no equality issues identified in this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND.

1.1. In 2018 a cost analysis of planning service and officer time was carried out in 
partnership with Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting 
(CIPFA). The report by CIPFA incorporated data obtained from a four week 
time recording exercise, information on the costs of operating different parts of 
the service and the application of corporate on costs for support services. This 
resulted in annualised information on the cost and time spend of different 
activities and is being used as a basis for the service to identify and prioritise 
efficiency opportunities and areas of discretionary activity suitable for the 
recovery of costs through locally set fees. 

1.2. Similar costs exercises were undertaken in 2011-2013 at a time when the 
Government was considering the introduction of local fee setting for planning. 
At that time local authorities worked with the Planning Advisory Service and 
CIPFA to establish the level of fees that would be applied by each Council by 
application type based upon activity levels, time taken and costs of service 
provision. Through this exercise benchmarking information was gained with a 
range of other councils both within the local area and on a more national 
basis. The Government did not introduce local fee setting for applications, 
these still being set nationally by fee regulations. 

1.3. The 2018 exercise sought to undertake a similar approach to give an updated 
picture of costs in order to drive service improvement. Unfortunately it was not 
part of a wider exercise with other councils on this occasion and hence no 
benchmarking of the outcomes has taken place against other councils. 
However the information gathered in 2018 has been compared to that of 2013 

Page 36



MDDC Report [title]
v

3

to provide a limited comparative analysis. Outcomes from the study are 
informing the Development Management service improvement plan.

2.0 SERVICE COST HEADLINES  

 Pre-application and duty planning officer services currently include time 
for which a fee is not charged. Based upon the time recorded and 
annualised, the currently non-fee generating aspects of this service 
costs the Council £109,000 pa to deliver. 

 The assessment and processing of applications on a delegated basis 
(as compared with via Planning Committee) costs £137,000pa and 
represents 94% of decisions. 

 Planning Committee reports and decisions cost £174,000pa and 
represents 6% of decisions. In cost terms, 16 delegated applications 
may be processed for the equivalent of each application that is 
considered at Planning Committee. However Planning Committee 
items are by their nature usually the most significant and complex 
applications. 

 The percentage of delegated decisions is the same as it was in 
2013(94%)

 The cost of complainant and contravener liaison in Planning 
Enforcement has increased by £18,000pa compared to 2013.This 
indicates a greater amount of staff time being recorded to this activity 
than previously. 

 Running the planning application consultation process costs 
£111,000pa.

 Evaluation and negotiation costs on planning applications cost the 
service £236,000pa.

 The percentage of planning approvals is slightly up, to 94% from 91% 
in 2013. 

 The number of planning appeals allowed in 2018 is down to 36% 
compared to 38% in 2013. 

 The cost per hour of handling planning applications has increased from 
£30 to £36 per hour. 

3.0 FEE INCOME HEADLINES 

There has been a 29% increase in planning fee income since the 2013 data 
was gathered. This can partly be explained by the 20% increase in planning 
fees introduced by the Government on 17th January 2018. It has also been 
established through this process that in some instances fee income does not 
cover the costs of dealing with a particular type of planning application:

Page 37



MDDC Report [title]
v

4

 Non-residential planning applications currently cost £68,000pa more to 
determine than the fees they generate.

 Householder planning applications cost £19,000pa more to determine 
than the fees they generate. This disparity between the cost of 
determining this application type in comparison with the fee income 
gained is significantly narrower than in 2013, although planning fees 
have increased by 20% within this period. This indicates that they are 
being processed with greater efficiency than previously, but that further 
efficiencies are still required. 

 Heritage planning applications (for which the council is not able to 
generate a fee) cost £72,000pa. The introduction of greater efficiencies 
for this application type will reduce the financial extent to which the 
council must cover the cost of processing such applications.

Whilst there is a significant shortfall in the 18/19 planning fee income against 
target, this has primarily been due to a drop off in the receipt of major fee 
earning applications. This is mainly due to uncertain economic conditions that 
are outside the control of the service, but it does not mean there is a drop off 
in officer workload as lower fee earning applications can often generate 
significant work for officers and do not give the opportunity for Planning 
Performance Agreements (PPAs) to be entered into. PPAs are agreements 
between the council and applicant that lay out agreed timescales, actions and 
resources to process an application. They give greater certainty to the 
applicant and Council that technical issues will be addressed within a timely 
manner and the application will be processed to an agreed timescale. They do 
not commit to a particular outcome or decision, the Council retaining full 
discretion over the determination of the application in the usual way. 

4.0 HEADLINE COST RECOVERY OPPORTUNITIES 

 The target income for PPAs in 2018/19 is £20,000 and is in addition to 
the national planning fee. More efficient processes will ensure greater 
engagement in PPA’s as they are very dependent on officer capacity to 
provide this additional service for applicants.

 The currently unpaid element of the duty planning officer service costs 
£46,000 per annum. The introduction of a £30 fee for each duty enquiry 
could bring in revenue of £21,420pa taking into account the expected 
demand for such a service. This is the subject of a separate report to 
this meeting of Cabinet. 

4.0 EFFICIENCY SAVINGS IN PROCESSES 

 A virtual sign off basket has already been created for the electronic 
checking and signing off of both delegated and committee decisions. 

 The CIPFA report has identified the need to improve Planning 
Committee processes in order to reduce costs whilst still recognising 
the importance of this vital democratic process. 

Page 38



MDDC Report [title]
v

5

 All Development Management activities have now been process 
mapped with the aim of setting out procedures for each element of the 
service. Process mapping is seen as a priority in order to challenge 
established practices, ensure service resilience through clear well 
documented processes and result in greater efficiencies.

 The service will continue to look at opportunities to streamline the 
consultation process whilst still ensuring the provision of a high level of 
customer care. This is being explored through consideration of the 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). 

 The service will continue to explore opportunities to streamline the 
simplest planning applications such as householder planning 
applications. Efficiency savings in processing times can lead to 
improved customer care, reduced costs to the Council and improved 
performance statistics. More efficient processes on simpler planning 
applications will result in more officer time to deal with the higher fee 
generating major planning applications and to secure and resource 
other services such as PPA’s and the paid for pre-application advice 
service. It will also give more time for officers to assist service users. 

 A reduction in the time spent on negotiation can reduce service costs 
by taking less staff time. An example is where a refusal could be issued 
earlier in the application process in lieu of seeking to negotiate several 
rounds of application revisions.  However, this must be balanced 
against the impact on customer care, the potential increase in appeal 
rates and associated costs and the fact that a quick refusal will result in 
a free resubmission as a new application. 

5.0 SUMMARY 

5.1 The time recording exercise and subsequent CIPFA report of 30th October 
2018 has provided benchmarking evidence to show that in many areas the 
service is operating more efficiently than in 2013. It has also provided the 
service with evidence of officer time and overheads to help drive forward 
efficiency and cost savings whilst improving customer focus. Work of this 
nature is providing a more commercially aware approach to service delivery. 
The Development Management service will utilise this information to drive 
further service improvement and efficiencies including assessing opportunities 
for cost recovery in areas of discretionary service provision. It is intended that 
a staff time recording exercise is undertaken annually to provide up to date 
intelligence on the time taken on different service activities. 

Contact for more Information: Mr David Green, Group Manager for Development 
01884 234348
dgreen@middevon.gov.uk  

Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy 
and Regeneration 01884 234346
jclifford@middevon.gov.uk  

Page 39

mailto:dgreen@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:jclifford@middevon.gov.uk


MDDC Report [title]
v

6

Circulation of the Report: Cabinet Members

List of Background Papers: CIPFA Report Oct 2018

Page 40



 

 

 

 

Report for: 

Mid Devon District Council -  

Comparative Analysis of the 

Planning Service 

 

8th October 2018 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 

 

In the first instance please direct all enquiries to: 

Vijay Pillai, Analytics Manager – CIPFA 

 

 020 7543 5755 

Email: vijay.pillai@cipfa.org 

www.cipfa.org  

 

Page 41

mailto:vijay.pillai@cipfa.org
http://www.cipfa.org/


 

 
 

2 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 
    

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

Project Leads: ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Key project timescales & milestones: ................................................................................................. 3 

Coding Changes .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Performance measurement range: .................................................................................................... 4 

Key project deliverables: .................................................................................................................... 4 

Overview Analysis ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Cost per application for major non-residential dwellings .................................................................. 5 

Cost per application for all dwellings.................................................................................................. 6 

Cost per application for local non-residential dwellings .................................................................... 6 

Cost per application for all other application categories ................................................................... 7 

Cost per application for householders ............................................................................................... 8 

Cost per heritage applications ............................................................................................................ 8 

Overall cost per hour for handling applications ................................................................................. 8 

Analysis of performance ..................................................................................................................... 9 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

Page 42



 

 
 

3 

Introduction 
 
This report provide an analysis of Mid Devon District Council’s planning service by comparing 

its relative costs and performance attained in 2013 with that of the current data set (2018). 

This report should be read in conjunction with the analytical summary attached (Appendix A). 

 

Project Leads: 

 

a) CIPFA 
Vijay Pillai - Analytics Manager  

James Martin - Service Lead 
Alex Wilkinson - Senior Data Analyst  
 

 
b) Mid Devon Metropolitan District Council  

Jenny Clifford - Head of Planning Services  
David Green - Group Manager Development Management  
Ruthie Pollington - Admin Team leader 

 
 

Key project timescales & milestones: 
 

c) Data gathering questionnaire initiated on the: 22nd June 2018 

d) Test run completed: 25th – 29th June 2018 
e) Formal collation period:2nd July 2018 – 27th  July 2018  
f) Data reconciliation: 30th July 2018 – 10th August 2018 June  

g) Data submitted to CIPFA: 15th August 2018  
h) Data validation completed: 16th August 2018 

i) Final data set received: 17th August 2018 
j) Draft analysis report issued: 11th September 2018 
k) Final report issued: 8th October 2018 

Coding Changes  
 
The following activity coding amendments/additions were made to ensure the Mid 

Devon County coding structure were reflective of current practices; 110a, 110b 
referring to Customer care and GDPR activities. Other codes amendments/additions 

were; 312 (pre-application-unpaid), 480a (Section 106 management, 212 
(Neighbourhood-evidence and policy, 214 (Neighbourhoods; forums, examination 
and referendum, 482, 484, 485 (compliance and delivery). In addition new codes 

(500-599) relating to various Economic Development were also added to monitor 
these new activities (see appendix 5 for details). 

 
 

Page 43



 

 
 

4 

 

Performance measurement range: 
 

The performance measurement period remained the same as it was for 2013 to 
enable direct comparability (1st May 2017 to 30th April 2018). 

Key project deliverables: 
 

1. Provision of draft questionnaire workbook with draft changes as agreed. 

2. Provision of final an Excel questionnaire workbook to be completed by 

planning staff to record their use of time between the periods of 2nd July 2018 

– 27th July 2018. 

3. Provision of an Access database to help with data collation process for 

performance 1 and 2. 

4. Processing and analysis of the recorded data. 

5. Delivery of a benchmarking report comparing Mid Devon non-metropolitan 

district council 2018 date set with that of 2013. 

6. Provide an Excel spreadsheet to enable Mid Devon non-metropolitan district 

council to produce their own analysis of the data included in the final report. 

  

Page 44



 

 
 

5 

Overview Analysis 
 
In terms of costs a key point to note is the fact application handling costs remain 

more or less the same, albeit a 25% increase in terms of indirect planning 
applications received by the authority.  
 

The number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff responsible for planning is again fairly 
stable although the FTE numbers for generic work has gone up from 4% in 2013 to 

11% in 2018. 
 
A key point to note is the significant (29% point) increase in income from application 

fees. Also of interest is the improvement in the productivity cost of the Planning 
Policy, which has gone down from £21 to £4 per hour, a decrease of 80% since 

2013. 
 
A detailed look of application handling costs by activity would suggest costs have 

increased in relation to the following categories: 
 

a) Committee reports & decisions– by 107% 
b) Running the consultation process - by 36% 

c) Evaluation & negotiation – by 29% 
 
Conversely, there are also costs reductions in relation to: 

 
a) Planning appeals – down 84% 

b) Responding to internal consultation – down 83% 
c) Decision notice, agreements – down 76% 

  

 
A comparison of 2018 data with 2013 on unit costs would suggests that costs have 

increased, varying upwards between 9% (overheads) to 51% (other costs). However 
full costs have increased by 20% since 2013.    
 

Analysis of the application costs by type would suggest overall costs have increased 
by 3% since 2013. However what is significant is the cost increase of Major non-

residential (112%) and dwelling applications (70%) since 2013.  
 

Cost per application for major non-residential dwellings  
 

A more detailed look of application processing costs based on the analysis of 20 
applications reveals where the cost increases have occurred.  By far the biggest 

increase in costs is attributed to: 
 

 Planning appeals - up by (739%) 

Planning Expert 

Comments 

This suggests potential 

confusion over whether to 

allocate time to this 

category or b) below 

where there has been a 

reduction in time 

Page 45



 

 
 

6 

 Committee reports & Decisions – up by (270%) 
 Evaluations & Negotiations – up by (112%) 

 

However on a positive front the delegated reports and decisions cost are much 
cheaper. 

 
In terms of net income received this analysis suggests Mid Devon has made a 
surplus income of £146K based on 20 applications received in this category. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Cost per application for all dwellings  
 
The overall cost of handling for the category of applications ‘all dwelling’ appears to 
have decreased from £1,179 in 2013 to £359, based on the analysis of 135 

applications received in 2018 (70%). Looking at specific elements with the exception 
of the consultations process major reduction apply to the following application 

stages: 
 

 
This is clearly an area requiring further investigation given the considerable variation 
in cost reduction, this may however be due to data quality issues. 

 
The total value of income generated in this category if £46K based on a total of 135 
applications received during the period. 

 
 

Cost per application for local non-residential dwellings 
 
The table below shows the relative application costs of non-dwellings. Overall costs 

for key activities have increased by 39% (£160) since 2013. 
 

Planning Expert 

Comments 

 
Cheaper? Or are the 

processes used less? 

Planning Expert Comments 

 
The reference to increase in income may also 

need to be set in the context of the 20% 

increase in application fees which came in for 

the last 3.5 months of the reporting period. 

Page 46



 

 
 

7 

 
 

With the exception of; receipt and validation, decision notices, agreements and 
planning appeals, all other processes are showing significant increases ranging from 

52% (evaluation & negotiation) to 251% (committee reports & decisions), hence 
these key processes are the major contributors to the overall cost increase.  

 
Based on 307 applications received in this category the net effect of income verses 
expenditure would suggest this category of applications have made a loss of £68K.  

 

Cost per application for all other application categories 
 

The overall costs for this category is showing an increase of 34% since 2013. 
However the key drivers for cost increase are processes such as; committee reports, 
decisions (219% increase) and consultation showing a 101% increase in cost. 

 

 
Three out of four of the seven key processes are however showing varying degree of 

decreases in costs, with planning appeals showing a decrease from £44 per 
application in 2013 to just £6 in 2018, representing decrease of 86%.  

 
Based on the analysis of 612 applications received in this category the overall impact 
is a surplus in income of £127K. Comparing this with 2013 when income was in 

deficit by £287, this would suggest the overall net effect is a boost in income levels 
by £160K.  

 
 
 

Receipt & validation

Consultation

Evaluation & negotiation 

Delegated reports & decisions 

Committee reports & decisions 

Decision notice, agreements

Planning appeals

Total

£/App 2013

£70 £70

£72 £43

£138 £91

£158 £83

£117 £33

£14 £41

£4 £53

£573 £413

2

0

1

8 

2

0

1

3 

Planning Expert Comments 

 

Decrease in hours spent on appeals 

suggests time now spent negotiating, 

and also show negotiating may be more 

expensive that refusing and appealing 

(although awards of costs by PINS 

would affect this). 

Planning Expert Comments 

 

. Difference appears to be very 

big and not clear what this 

includes. Further detailed 

analysis is required to understand 

the high costs 

Page 47



 

 
 

8 

Cost per application for householders 
 

A total of 346 applications were received during this period, based on this with the 
exception of category (evaluation & negotiation) all other stages are showing cost 
reductions. Overall costs for householders have therefore decreased by 30% since 

2013. 
 

However, unit income levels are showing an increase from £131 in 2013 to £171 in 

2018. Despite the increase in income the net effect of this is a short fall of £19K for 
this category of applications.  
 

Cost per heritage applications 
 

Overall costs for this category of applications has gone up by 4% since 2013, with 
the key process cost of evaluation and negotiation more than doubling in value. This 
has therefore contributed to an overall net loss of £72K based on the receipt of 140 

applications received in period. Again there was no income recorded for this category 
either now or in 2013.  

 

 

 

Overall cost per hour for handling applications 
 

During the current period (2018) the total number of productive hours were 
21,476. Based on this a comparisons of costs with 2013 suggests total cost 

has increased from £29.9 to £35.8 and increase of nearly £6. The key driver 
for cost increase is other costs, although direct staffing costs is also a factor.   

 
Further analysis of overhead charges suggests big increases in generic 

overhead charges (466%), although management charges have decreased by 

163% since 2013. The overall net effect is a 12% decrease in charges over 
the last 5 years. 
 

 

Receipt & validation

Consultation

Evaluation & negotiation 

Delegated reports & decisions 

Committee reports & decisions 

Decision notice & agreements

Planning appeals

Total

£/App 2013

£53 £73

£9 £141

£372 £153

£75 £83

£12

£4 £30

£513 £492

Page 48



 

 
 

9 

 

 

 

 

  
  

Analysis of performance 
 

The tables below provide a summary of key statistical outturns based on the 

performance figures reported. In terms of determining how efficient Mid 
Devon are at processing applications at a national level where applicable we 

have also used the CIPFA’s Nearest Neighbour Model to identify the top ten 
nearest Non-Met District Councils to Mid Devon and compared the relative 

performances using the local planning authority performance Tables 
published by Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) 

in accordance with section 62B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

The CIPFA Nearest Neighbour Model is based on certain social and physical 

characteristics to provide a balanced scientific representation of each local 
authority’s traits. The technique used by CIPFA follows the tradition of 

‘distance’ approach using the Euclidean distances between all possible pairs of 

local authority standard characteristics. The calculation provides a final 
distance measure between authorities by assigning a distance of 0 to 1, with 

zero being the closest the 1 being the furthest. The characteristic measures 
used in the calculation includes factors such as; population, Area, density, 

space and household information etc the table below summarises the top ten 
Nearest Neighbour rankings: 

 

 

£'000 £/hour 2013

Direct staff 441 £20.5 £16.6

Other costs 58 £2.7 £1.8

Overhead charges 270 £12.6 £11.6

Total cost 769 £35.8 £29.9

Overhead Charges £'000 % staff

Away from work 91 21%

Generic overhead 304 69%

Management -124 -28%

Total 270 61%

2013

13%

12%

45%

70%

Planning Expert Comments 

 

Could this be 20% of staff on 

sick leave? 

Page 49



 

 
 

10 

For more information on using the CIPFA Nearest Model please click on the 
link: CIPFA Nearest Model.  
 

Applications valid on receipt 
 

The proportion of valid applications received based on a total of 1,560 
applications received in 2018 is 37%. Compared with 2013 the position 

remains the same. Looking at the different categories major non-residential 
and local non-residential applications had the lowest proportion of valid 

applications compared with other types.  
 
 
Table 1 

 
 

Applications withdrawn 

 
In terms of application withdrawal rates the percentage withdrawn in 2018 is 

5% compared with 8% in 2013, whilst the change is relatively minor it does 
still represent an improvement. Factors such as better guidance and 

improved on-line support and assistances can influence withdrawn rates, 
although this can also have an impact on time spent negotiating. 

 
Table 2 

 
 

Zero fee applications 
 

Proportionally the percentage of zero fee applications have remained the 
same as it was in 2015, albeit there does appear to be a downward trend in 

terms of each category of applications and this can be influenced by local 

planning policies on charges that are outside the scope of the fee regulations 
e.g. pre-application advice. 

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Applications received 20 135 307 346 140 n/a n/a n/a 612 1,560

Valid on receipt 3 37 78 111 40 n/a n/a n/a 307 576

% valid on receipt 15% 27% 25% 32% 29% .. .. .. 50% 37%

2013 27% 19% 26% 33% 21% 100% .. .. 59% 37%

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Applications received 20 135 307 346 140 n/a n/a n/a 612 1,560

Applications withdrawn 12 14 12 4 n/a n/a n/a 36 78

% withdrawn na 9% 5% 3% 3% n/a n/a n/a 6% 5%

2013 11% 17% 11% 4% 7% n/a n/a n/a 6% 8%

Page 50

https://www.cipfa.org/services/cipfastats/nearest-neighbour-model?crdm=0


 

 
 

11 

 
Table 3 

 
 

Pre-application advice 

 

This was a new category introduced in 2018, hence there are no comparable 
data sets with 2013. However the proportion of people seeking pre-

application advice does vary significantly between major non- residential and 
all dwelling applications as compared with other types of applications. This 

may be due to the fact major non- residential and all dwelling applications 
being more technical than the other categories of applications. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 Table 4

 
 
Delegation 

 

The rates remain consistent compared with 2013. Although major non- 
residential dwelling delegation rates appears to show an increase of 24% for 

2018.  
Table 5

 
 

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Applications received 20 135 307 346 140 n/a n/a n/a 612 1,560

Zero fee applications 1 10 15 30 140 n/a n/a n/a 238 434

% zero fee 5% 7% 5% 9% 100% .. .. .. 39% 28%

2013 8% 17% 6% 13% 100% 100% .. .. 32% 28%

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Applications received 20 135 307 346 140 n/a n/a n/a 612 1,560

Pre-application advice 12 85 9 2 4 n/a n/a n/a 73 185

% receiving 60% 63% 3% 1% 3% .. .. .. 12% 12%

2013 .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. n/a

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Delegated decisions 12 106 278 324 133 526 1,379

Committee decisions 8 17 15 9 3 31 83

Delegation rate 60% 86% 95% 97% 98% .. .. .. 94% 94%

2013 48% 83% 95% 97% 96% 100% .. .. 96% 94%

Planning Expert Comments 

 

It is important to analyse time 

spent on this to see if it is cost 

effective to consider whether the 

service is worthwhile and/or 

needs to change 

Planning Expert Comments 

 

If the LPA didn't offer pre-app advice in 2013 

or just that it didn't charge for pre-app advice in 

2013?  If the former then a comparison with the 

levels of pre-apps would be helpful.  Certainly 

when we introduced pre-app charges the 

number of pre-apps fell by approximately 50%. 

Page 51



 

 
 

12 

Permissions 

 
The comparative permission rates remains fairly consistent with 2013, above 

the 90% range. 
 
Table 6

 
 
Overturns 

 
Application overturn rates runs at a ratio of 3:1 compared with 2013.  
 
Table 7 

 
 

Based on the Local planning authority performance Table P152a (percentage 
of applications overturned at appeal on major development July 2015- June 

2017), which measures the quality of decisions made by Mid Devon compared 
with its nearest neighbours, this shows that Mid Devon is ranked third in 

comparison with its nearest 10 peers and is performing well above the upper 
quartile position (see table P152a below). 

 
The second table P154 provides data on district planning matters 

performance for quality of non-major decisions (July 2015 to June 2017). The 
performance here is somewhat better with Mid Devon being ranked second 

and well above the upper quartile range.   

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Total decisions 20 123 293 333 136 n/a n/a n/a 557 1,462

Permissions granted 20 102 281 328 127 n/a n/a n/a 513 1,371

% Granted 100% 83% 96% 98% 93% .. .. .. 92% 94%

2013 86% 77% 97% 95% 95% 100% .. .. 85% 91%

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Total decisions 20 123 293 333 136 n/a n/a n/a 557 1,462

Overturns 4 10 11 1 6 n/a n/a n/a 12 44

Overturn rate 20% 8% 4% 0% 4% n/a n/a n/a 2% 3%

2013 10% 4% 0% 0% 1% n/a n/a n/a 1% 1%

Planning Expert Comments 

 

It might be helpful to identify whether any service improvements have 

been implemented over the last 5 years that might have resulted in some 

of the differences - e.g. greater focus on electronic working, new IT 

systems/process, amendments to the constitution to allow for more 

delegation or variation to the call in to committee procedures, etc. 

 

Page 52



 

 
 

13 

  
  

Appeals and Local Reviews (Performance) 
 

This table provides the ratio of decisions made and the number of appeals 
against it. Again this remains fairly consistent at 2% compared with 2013. 
 

Table 8 

 
 

 
Appeals allowed and Local Reviews 

 

Based on the total appeals made (table 8 above) table 9 provides the total 
appeals allowed and its running rate. There are no major differences 

compared with 2013, with appeals running at a rate of between 36% and 
38% over the 5 year period.  
 
Table 9 

 
 
Speed of Processing 

 
During the period analysed Mid Devon made a total of 1,462 planning 

decisions. From end to end the average number of weeks taken to make a 
decision was 0.6 weeks compared with 1 week in 2013. This represents and 

overall improvement of 34% over the five year period.  

P152a: Planning Authority Performance in % 

Richmondshire 0.00

Babergh 0.68

Mid Devon 2.08 Upper Quartile 2.15

North Dorset 2.22 Median Quartile 2.70

Hambleton 2.63 Lower Quartile 3.68

West Lindsey 2.70 Group Avg 3.47

Mid Suffolk 3.13 Group Median 2.70

Torridge 3.45 Mid Devon Rank 3

Melton 3.92

Craven 4.84

West Devon 12.50

Quartile & Rankings

P154: Planning Authority Performance in % 

Richmondshire 0.26

Mid Devon 0.33

Hambleton 0.71 Upper Quartile 0.77

West Dorset 0.83 Median Quartile 0.93

Babergh 0.89 Lower Quartile 1.32

Melton 0.93 Group Avg 0.96

Craven 0.99

North Dorset 1.28 Mid Devon Rank 2

West Lindsey 1.36

Mid Suffolk 1.39

Torridge 1.62

Quartile & Rankings

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Total decisions 20 123 293 333 136 n/a n/a n/a 557 1,462

Application appeals 3 14 6 1 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a 25

Appeal rate 15% 11% 2% 0% 1% .. .. .. n/a 2%

2013 9% 2% 1% 1% n/a .. .. 3% 2%

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 H o use 

ho lder 
 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Appeals allowed 2 1 6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 9

Appeal allowed rate 67% 7% 100% n/a n/a .. .. .. .. 36%

2013 .. 38% 67% 50% 50% .. .. .. 18% 38%

Page 53



 

 
 

14 

 
Table 10

 
 

Table P151a (speed of decisions on applications for major development at 
district level - July 2016 to June 2018) provides a summary of the key 

performance stats for the percentage of applications processed within 13 
weeks or within agreed time without penalty for missing data. This analysis 

would suggest Mid Devon’s performance is ranked sixth against its nearest 
neighbouring non-metropolitan district councils using the CIPFA Nearest 

Neighbour model and in terms of quartile rankings Mid Devon’s performance 
of 86.8% of applications processed on time is above the median quartile. 

 
Similarly, for Table 153 performance non-major development the percentage 

of applications completed within 8 weeks or within agreed time without 

penalty for missing data decisions, suggests Mid Devon is ranked in the same 
sixth positon at the median quartile. Therefore in both of these categories Mid 

Devon’s’ standing is good and well above the group average. However in 
terms of future targets the aim here should be to reach the upper quartile 

position.  
 

   
 

 

Enforcement 

 

 M ajo r no n-

residential 

 A ll 

dwellings 

 Lo cal no n-

residential 

 

H o useho lde

r 

 H eritage  Waste  M inerals  Electricity  A ll o thers  T o tal 

Total decisions 20 123 293 333 136 na n/a n/a 557 1,462

Av end-to-end weeks 17.6 12.6 9.8 9.2 10.6 na na na 7.7 0.6

2013 12.5 14.3 9.7 8.6 9.7 7.9 na na 7.5 1.0

P151a: Planning Authority Performance in % 

Richmondshire 100

Hambleton 91.4

Melton 91.2 Upper Quartile 90.8

Babergh 90.4 Median Quartile 85.45

West Devon 88.9 Lower Quartle 83.9

Mid Devon 86.8 Group Avg 85

West Lindsey 84.1 Group Avg 85

Mid Suffolk 83.9 Mid Devon Rank 6

North Dorset 82.4

Craven 68.3

Torridge 67.6

Quartile & Rankings

P153: Planning Authority Performance in % 

Richmondshire 96.00

Hambleton 89.50

West Lindsey 89.50 Upper Quartile 88.05

North Dorset 86.60 Median Quartile 85.70

West Dorset 86.40 Lower Quartile 80.65

Mid Devon 85.70 Group Avg 83.95

Babergh 82.60

Torridge 81.50 Mid Devon Rank 6

Melton 79.80

Mid Suffolk 76.60

Craven 69.30

Quartile & Rankings

Enforcement allegation investigations 410

N % 2013

Enforcement actions 320 78% 95%

Notices served 34 11% 8%

Enforcement prosecutions n/a 16%

Enforcement appeals 2 .. 100%

Appeals upheld 1 50% 14%

Page 54



 

 
 

15 

 

As shown above the total volume of planning enforcement investigations for 
2018 is 410. In terms of enforcement activity, actions have reduced by 18% 

since 2013 although the number of notices issued has increased by 28%. 
Interestingly though the number of appeals upheld has increased by as much 

as 250% compared with 2013. 
 

Enforcement- Costs 
 

The above table provides a summary of enforcement costs. Cost of 
investigations have nearly doubled since 2013 with costs rising from £178 to 

£303 per allegation. Unfortunately there were no comparable data for 2018 in 

relation to prosecutions and appeals. 
 

 
 

  

Cost of allegation investigation £124k Cost of prosecutions £14k Cost of enforcement appeals n/a

Cost per allegation received £303 Cost per prosecution .. Cost per appeal n/a

2013 £178 2013 £6,371 2013 £263

Page 55



 

 
 

16 

Published by: 

CIPFA \ THE CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC FINANCE AND ACCOUNTANCY 

77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN 

020 7543 5600 \ www.cipfa.org 

© 2018 CIPFA 

No responsibility for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from action as a result of any material in this 
publication can be accepted by the authors or publisher. 

While every care has been taken in the preparation of this publication, it may contain errors for which the publisher and 
authors cannot be held responsible.  

Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of research or private study, or criticism or review, as permitted under the 
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted, in any form or by any 
means, only with the prior permission in writing of the publishers, or in the case of reprographic reproduction in accordance 
with the terms of licences issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside those 
terms should be sent to the publishers at the above mentioned address 

Page 56

http://www.cipfa.org/


MDDC Report [title]
v

1

CABINET   
7TH MARCH 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION

DISCRETIONARY CHARGES IN THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICE.

Cabinet Member(s): Cllr Richard Chesterton, Cabinet Member for Planning 
and Economic Regeneration

Responsible Officer: Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration

Reason for Report: 

In 2018 a cost analysis of the Planning Service was carried out in partnership with 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) and also involved a 
staff time recording exercise over a 1 month period. A report by CIPFA was 
subsequently produced on the 30th October 2018 and is the subject of a separate 
report on the agenda of this meeting. Analysis of the data in this report has enabled 
the Development Management Service to identify areas of discretionary service 
currently being provided without charge. There is therefore the potential for cost 
recovery and efficiency opportunities with regard to such elements of the service 
being offered. 

This report relates specifically to services at a pre-application stage where advice 
has previously been provided to prospective applicants via walk into the office or 
phone call. Reassessment of the basis upon which this service is offered will enable 
the duty officer to be continued, but for its cost to be recovered via the introduction of 
a fee for the Planning Duty Officer Service. 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet agree 

The introduction of a fee for the Planning Duty Officer Service to be initially set 
at £30 (plus VAT).

Relationship to Corporate Plan: 
The Planning Service is a statutory service, the effective operation of which seeks to 
deliver high quality in terms of customer care and developments. The services in 
Development Management are relevant to the Corporate Plan priorities of 
community, housing, economy and environment.

Financial Implications: 
The introduction of charges for a Planning Duty Officer Service will help to cover the 
cost of providing this valued service whilst also improving the service for our 
customers. 

Legal Implications: 
It is important to ensure the advice given by the Duty Officer is accurate and correct 
as this advice can be challenged and could lead to unlawful development taking 
place. By providing notice of the issues to be raised in an allocated meeting slot and 
by providing time to allow the officer to make notes of the discussion the new 
process would ensure the advice provided is robust and documented. The Duty 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7.



MDDC Report [title]
v

2

Officer service complements the pre-application advice service that is already 
charged for.

The fees charged are on a cost recovery basis.

Risk Assessment: 
The current Duty Officer service is provided on a free, discretionary and informal 
basis. The proposed approach will give customers clearer advice via a more 
controlled and documented meeting, reducing the risk of misinterpreted advice. The 
submission of inaccurate, poor quality planning applications generates risks through 
delays to the processing of applications and the requirement for the planning support 
team to carry out extensive checks and to manage the storage of invalid applications 
whilst they are awaiting further information. 

The proposed fees for the areas of the service as identified in this report are on a 
cost recovery (non-profit making) basis, where evidence has been gathered via the 
recent CIPFA exercise on the cost of provision. 

Equalities Impact: 
There are no equality issues identified in this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In 2018 an analysis of the Planning Service and the cost of different activities 
and officer time was carried out in partnership with Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA). A four week time recording exercise 
was undertaken in addition to activity and application processing cost 
analysis. This work has allowed the Planning Service to identify and prioritise 
cost recovery and efficiency opportunities for certain discretionary areas of the 
service that to date have been provided free of charge to the customer and 
hence at a cost to the Council. An area of the service have been identified 
with regard to the potential introduction of a fee: for the Planning Duty Officer 
Service.

1.1. The information gathered through this cost and time recording exercise has 
informed service improvements which prioritise areas for cost recovery and 
efficiency savings that can be achieved during 2019-2020. 

1.3 The Duty Service currently provides free planning advice using Planning 
Officers to answer general queries from customers who arrive at the office on 
Tuesdays and Thursdays from 9-12am. Free general planning advice is also 
provided through the Planning Support team on Mondays, Wednesdays and 
Fridays from 9am – 12pm. The CIPFA report of the 30th October 2018 has 
identified that the unpaid duty planning services utilise 1638 hrs of staff time 
with direct costs of £27,000 per annum. When this is combined with overhead 
costs the Duty Officer service currently costs the Council £46,000 per annum. 
Whilst Members will be aware that MDDC provides a paid for pre-application 
advice service, the CIPFA report has clearly identified that officers are still 
spending a lot of time helping customers on queries which do not fall within 
the current paid for pre-application advice category.

 

Page 58



MDDC Report [title]
v

3

2.0 PAID DUTY OFFICER SERVICE 

2.1 The cost of the current Duty Planning Officer service is currently borne by the 
Council at an estimated annual cost of £46,000. This is a discretionary 
service. The Development Management service has looked into ways to try to 
address this cost in order to be able to continue to provide this service that is 
valued by customers. This investigation work has established that South 
Hams District Council introduced a paid for duty service approximately 12 
months ago. Their paid for duty service has been hugely successful with the 
number of customers utilising it increasing over the past year. It has also 
provided a greater level of customer care and recovers the cost of the service 
provided, ensuring its continuation against a background of service budgets 
being under increasing pressure. The approach at South Hams involves a fee 
of £30 for a 30 minute meeting with a planning officer on an appointment 
basis. 

2.2 Customer service benefits 

2.2.1 The benefits of this type of service are that it enables the customer to come in 
for an organised meeting at a set time. It removes the frustration of turning up 
and having to wait in a queue with no guarantee on the amount of time with 
the planning officer. Currently customers are experiencing uncertainty over 
whether they will get the planning advice they need, how long they will have 
to wait to get that advice and how long they will have with the Planning 
Officer. Having made the effort to visit the MDDC offices to specifically get 
planning advice it is understandable that customers could find the current 
service less than satisfactory, particularly if they arrive at a busy time and 
need to wait. 

2.2.2 The opportunity has been taken to review how the duty planning officer 
service is structured and resourced as part of a paid for service. The 
proposed approach will give customers greater certainty on when the planning 
guidance sought will be available by offered a pre-booked appointment. They 
will arrive with the knowledge that they will definitely have 30mins with a 
Planning Officer who is aware in advance of the nature of the planning 
enquiry. 

2.2.3 It is crucial to ensure that our customers are made fully aware of the level of 
service that the paid for Duty Officer Service will provide. A customer advice 
note will be prepared setting out the operation of the service and service 
standards to be expected. 

2.3 Appropriate fee for this service.

2.3.1 Setting the correct fee for this service is an important consideration and will 
need to offset the cost of providing the service, offer value for money and also 
not be so high as to be unattractive to customers and hinder such advice 
being taken at this stage with the resultant impact on the quality of 
applications.  It is also important to ensure that the service does not 
undermine the more detailed paid for pre-application advice service. The fee 
must therefore be lower than the adopted pre-application advice charges. 

Page 59



MDDC Report [title]
v

4

2.3.2 Based on the figures from the time recording exercise carried out as part of 
the CIPFA report, the unpaid duty planning services utilises 1638 hrs of staff 
time and directly costs £27,000 per annum to run. When overhead costs are 
included this figure rises to £46,000 per annum, equating to £28.08 per hour. 

2.3.3 The number of duty planning enquiries dealt with by officers in the last year 
was 1428. The charging of a fee will be likely to impact upon the total number 
of requests for this service and initially demand is expected to fall until the 
new service beds in and the benefits to customers through the restructuring of 
the delivery of this service are clear. It has been estimated that the number of 
Duty Officer queries could initially be reduced by 50%, equating to 714 per 
annum. A £30 charge would generate £21,420 per annum at this level of 
service activity and cover the cost of the service. It is proposed to monitor 
customer feedback and use of the service in order to review its operation after 
six months from its relaunch. This £30 charge is also in line with that charged 
by South Hams. It should be noted that the proposed £30 charge excludes 
VAT. The £30 fee will provide an appointment in the office or over the phone 
of up to 30 minutes.

2.3.4 Members should note that it is intended that the Planning Support Team still 
provide a telephone service for general customer enquiries on Mondays, 
Wednesdays and Fridays from 9am to12 noon and an online enquiry form is 
also used. 

Contact for more Information: Mr David Green, Group Manager for Development 
01884 234348
dgreen@middevon.gov.uk  

Circulation of the Report: Cabinet Members

List of Background Papers: 2018 CIPFA report

Page 60

mailto:dgreen@middevon.gov.uk


CABINET
7th March 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION

CREDITON TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN.

Cabinet Member Cllr Richard Chesterton 
Responsible Officer Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and

Regeneration

Reason for the Report: To define the scope for the commissioning of consultants to 
assist in the preparation of a Masterplan Supplementary Planning Document and 
Delivery Plan (SPD) for Crediton Town Centre in the budget year 20/21.

RECOMMENDATION 
i) That the scope and geographical area of the Masterplan be 

agreed.
ii) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Planning, 

Economy and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Economic Regeneration to engage 
consultants to assist with the preparation of a Crediton Town 
Centre Masterplan and Delivery Plan in the budget year 20/21. 

Relationship to Corporate Plan: To ensure delivery of key plans for Mid Devon, 
including a thriving economy, better homes, empowering local communities and 
caring for the environment.

Financial Implications: The cost of engaging consultants would be in the region of 
£60,000. The funding will be identified within the 20/21 service budget. 

Legal Implications: In order for the masterplan to be adopted as a Supplementary 
Planning Document, two stages of public consultation need to take place in 
accordance with the requirements of the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement. Whilst not forming part of the Development Plan, once adopted it will 
be a material consideration in the determination of planning applications.

Risk Assessment: There are few risks with regard to this report.  However there is a 
risk that failure to undertake Masterplanning for Crediton could hamper the town’s 
ability to meets its potential.  Furthermore there is a risk that without a masterplan 
identifying opportunities for improvements the town could deteriorate.  For the 
masterplan to be successful it needs to have achievable actions.  To ensure that this 
happens it is proposed that the Masterplan would include identified interventions 
which will need to be assessed to demonstrate their deliverability.    

Equality Impact Assessment:  No equality issues identified for this report.

Page 61

Agenda Item 8.



1. BACKGROUND.

1.1. The Mid Devon Core Strategy 2007 sets the direction of growth for Mid Devon 
for the plan period to 2026.  It focuses development on the three main towns: 
Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton.  Crediton is the smallest of the three 
towns in Mid Devon but serves a large rural population. Crediton is 
strategically located on the A377, Exeter to Barnstaple Road.  

1.2. Policy COR15 of the Core Strategy identifies Crediton as continuing to 
develop as a small market town with aims to increase the self-sufficiency of 
the town by reducing the need to travel to Exeter by widening and expanding 
employment opportunities, enhancing retail provision and improving access to 
housing and services for its population. It requires the Council to promote a 
reduction in traffic on congested streets within Crediton, improve local air 
quality by enhancing walking and cycling opportunities and implementing 
initiatives within the air quality action plan.  This includes the provision of a link 
road between the A377 and Lords Meadow Industrial Area (completed in 
2014). It also seeks to promote public transport improvements and manage 
the town centre so that economic regeneration and heritage complement one 
other by promoting new homes, shops, leisure, offices and other key town 
centre uses which are well designed and contribute to the vitality and viability 
of the town.

1.3. The emerging Local Plan Review 2013-2033 identifies Crediton as a small 
and vibrant market town. Policy S12 states that:

“Policy S12 Crediton
Crediton will continue to develop in its role as a small and vibrant market 
town, serving a rural hinterland in the western part of the district. The strategy 
aims to improve access to housing within the town, expand employment 
opportunities and improve the quantity and quality of the existing retail 
provision. Proposals will provide for approximately 786 dwellings, of which 
220 will be affordable and 14,700 gross square metres of commercial 
floorspace over the plan period.

The following development will be supported over the plan period:
 
a) Proposals which support the economic regeneration of the town centre, 
including the provision of new homes, commercial development, cultural 
facilities and other key town centre uses which support the town centre’s 
viability and vitality. Particular support will be given for proposals which 
improve the quantity and quality of existing retail provision within the town 
centre. All proposals within the town centre will need to play a positive role in 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of the area’s heritage;
b) Proposals which respect the setting provided by the open areas of hillside 
and the adjoining historic parklands of Creedy Park, Shobrooke Park and 
Downes;
c) Continuation of measures to support the implementation of the Crediton Air 
Quality Action Plan, including enhanced walking and cycling opportunities 
around the town; 

Page 62



d) Enhance the tourism facilities and visitor role of the town and surrounding 
area; and 
e) Community and education facilities and other infrastructure to support the 
development proposed. “

1.4. The Local Plan Review builds on existing strategic allocations in the adopted 
Local Plan. The Allocations and Infrastructure DPD (AIDPD) allocated a 
number of sites for residential and employment development including the   
completed Link Road between the A377 and Lords Meadow site. Policies 
CRE1-CRE10 of the Emerging Local Plan Review re-allocate or introduce 
new sites to support Policy S12. Policies CRE1-CRE10 of the emerging Local 
Plan Review propose to allocate a total of 62.04 hectares within the 
settlement limit of Crediton; to provide 768 dwellings and 9,820sqm of 
commercial development.

1.5. In addition, Policy CRE11 of the Emerging Local Plan identifies that funds 
secured through development proposals along with other external sources of 
funding will support the delivery of the physical regeneration and 
enhancement of the town:

“Crediton Infrastructure  
The Council will use Community Infrastructure Levy and planning obligations 
where appropriate, seek external sources of funding and work with partners to 
deliver the following infrastructure for Crediton:
a) Enhanced pedestrian and cycle facilities to serve development;
b) Bus service enhancements;
c) Air quality improvements;
d) Expansion and improvement of primary and secondary education facilities;
e) Public open space and green infrastructure;
f) Expansion of emergency fire and rescue services;
g) Library reconfiguration to provide Devon Centre;
h) Extra care housing;
i) Community facilities including provision for children / youth;
j) Potential highway improvements; and 
k) Provision of works to reduce flood risk.”

  
1.6. There are air quality issues within Crediton town centre which are having an 

adverse effect on living conditions and the attractiveness of the town centre.  
Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to review and 
assess the current and likely future air quality in their areas against those 
objectives in the National Air Quality Strategy. Where objectives are not likely 
to be met then the local authority is required to designate an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) at the relevant locations. The local authority must 
then draw up an action plan setting out the measures it intends to take in 
pursuit of the air quality objectives within the area covered by the AQMA.  
Crediton has been designated as an AQMA.  An action plan was produced in 
2006 and reviewed in 2018.  

1.7. One key air quality objective was the implementation of the Lords Meadow 
Link Road to take traffic away from the town centre. The completion of the link 

Page 63



road has provided significant benefits for the town centre including air quality, 
a reduction in traffic noise and congestion. The Emerging Local Plan 
continues to support further air quality improvements (Policy CRE11) through 
Community Infrastructure Levy and planning obligations, where appropriate.
 

1.8. In addition to Mid Devon planning policy, Mid Devon District Council agreed, 
at a meeting on 2 July 2014, to designate the ‘Crediton Neighbourhood Area’ 
for the purposes of preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan by Crediton 
Town Council under Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended). The Neighbourhood Plan during the course of its adoption will 
seek to represent the community’s vision and priorities for how they would like 
to see the Crediton area develop in the coming years. The Draft 
Neighbourhood Plan sets out a number of policies to be taken into account 
when proposals for development come forward in the town. They cover issues 
such as open space / green infrastructure, principles of site layout and design, 
sustainable modes of transport, community and other infrastructure facilities. 
Town centre policies include the re-use of above ground floor accommodation 
for residential use, promoting pedestrian / cycle priority and routes, shop front 
enhancement and redevelopment of ground floor accommodation where it 
enhances vitality and viability, retention / redevelopment of existing town 
centre employment sites and new development to positively contribute to the 
historic streetscape. Once adopted, the Neighbourhood Plan will form part of 
the Development Plan for Mid Devon.

1.9. In 2018 Crediton Town Council commissioned a ‘Crediton Traffic & Urban 
Realm Feasibility Study’.  This study was informed by previous traffic and 
streets advice given to the Town Council.  It sought to fully analyse the current 
traffic and urban realm conditions within the town centre and main approach 
roads. This study included the creation of a vision for the High Street.  The 
study also presented a series of conceptual designs for various parts of the 
High Street and its approaches.

1.10. The 2012 Retail Study identified that 43% of frequent visitors’ main purpose 
for visiting was shopping.  Shopping habits nationally have changed.  It is 
suggested that within the Masterplan scope it could be considered how 
Crediton could respond to changing shopping habits.  It would be sensible to 
draw upon work such as the Grimsey Review 2 (2018) to inform consideration 
on how Crediton could respond to the National trend of changing High Streets 
in order to enhance the quality of the environment and attract more visitors.

1.11. The 2016 Household Survey indicates that 81% of Crediton residents 
undertake their main food shopping trip outside of the town centre. The 
convenience retail offer in the town centre appears to be mainly supported by 
‘top up’ food shopping trips. Due to the relatively small size of convenience 
shops in the town centre the majority of the centre’s main and top-up food 
market share is leaking to the out of centre Tesco and Morrisons stores.  
Conversely the comparison goods retail offer performs generally better, which 
predominantly comprises independent antique and second hand goods shops, 
although some sectors such as clothing and audio visual equipment are 
generally subservient to Exeter.  Despite the centre having a below average 

Page 64



representation of service goods retailers, Crediton still has two national high 
street banks and a number of cafes, restaurants and takeaways. The vacancy 
rate also remains below the national average.  It is suggested that the scope 
of this Masterplan includes consideration of these issues.

1.12. The Greater Exeter Authorities are currently considering the health of town 
centres.  Early indications from that work suggest that Crediton is performing 
as a reasonably healthy town centre despite its proximity and access to 
Exeter city centre. 

1.13. There has been a great deal of positive feedback with regard to the town in 
recent years however there is still a great deal that could be done to help the 
town reach its full potential.  Crediton is a town that benefits from good 
community activity and higher town centre business occupancy rates than the 
other Mid Devon towns.  However the town still has potential to reduce the 
need to travel to Exeter by widening and expanding employment 
opportunities, enhancing retail provision and improving access to housing and 
services for its population.  Crucially attention is needed to enhance the built 
environment and local heritage.  Crediton has some wonderful buildings and 
yet there are a number of buildings within the Conservation Area which could 
benefit from enhancements.  Similarly gateway treatments could be 
considered along with improving the quality of some of the public spaces.  
There is potentially more that can be done to strengthen the town’s identity 
and celebrate its culture and its historic associations.  An example could be 
greater promotion of Crediton being the birthplace of St Boniface (Patron 
Saint of Germany).

2. THE ROLE AND PURPOSE OF A MASTERPLAN.

2.1. Key to delivery of the regeneration of the town centre is the development of a 
masterplan to guide the process. A masterplan is a comprehensive plan that 
acts as a blueprint for the development of an area: setting out principles for 
the way in which it will develop on a comprehensive basis, coordinating policy 
and planning requirements. It is considered essential that the town centre is 
the subject of a masterplanning process to ensure that the development, 
regeneration and enhancement of the town centre develops in tandem with 
housing and employment growth elsewhere in and around the town.

2.2. Once the masterplan is finalised it will set out the firm direction for the 
regeneration of the town and provide the basis for detailed consultation with 
all interested parties. 

2.3. It is proposed that the masterplan includes a delivery plan to ensure that the 
masterplan outcomes are deliverable. This would include details of potential 
incentives and funding opportunities.

2.4. The masterplan would be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD).  Whilst the SPD will not in itself form part of the Development Plan, it is 
a material consideration in the determination of planning applications.  The 
preparation of an SPD requires two stages of public consultation in 

Page 65



accordance with Mid Devon’s Statement of Community Involvement.  The 
Masterplan SPD would work within the framework of policies S12 and CRE11 
of the Local Plan Review and also focus on implementation and delivery of the 
key priorities envisaged by those policies. It is anticipated that the work on this 
SPD would be completed during the financial year 20/21. 

3. AIM AND SCOPE OF THE CREDITON TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION 
MASTERPLAN AND DELIVERY PLAN.

3.1. The aim of the masterplan is to provide a clear strategy to ensure that 
Crediton town centre meets its full potential as an attractive, thriving vibrant 
place with a strong economic function, now and into the future.  

3.2. Crediton town centre should be a place of choice and quality, with a good 
range of shops, services, cultural and leisure opportunities, offering something 
different to nearby centres, set within an attractive and pleasant environment 
reflecting the history and character of the place. It will provide a 
comprehensive masterplan for the town centre which addresses the key 
issues, makes recommendations for regeneration and enhancement of the 
town centre, as well as a wider focus on transport infrastructure and set out 
delivery and funding options.

3.3. The masterplan should seek to strengthen the economy by creating new 
opportunities for businesses, jobs, shops, leisure, heritage and culture, and 
public spaces to make the town a more attractive place to shop, relax and 
stay, strengthening the town’s role as a growing market town. It should also 
consider sustainable transport options, movement and links. 

3.4. The key objectives of the masterplan are considered to be:

 Improving the quality of the town centre in terms of heritage, public 
realm, air quality and traffic congestion.

 Improving sustainable transport, walking and cycling within the town 
and physical links to and from existing and new housing and 
employment developments.

 Consideration of transport management initiatives and rationalising car 
parking. Identification of how these may deliver public realm benefits.

 Improving the retail, leisure, cultural and tourism offerings within the 
town centre.

 Improving the economic function of the town centre so that it is able to 
compete with / complement new business, retail and leisure offerings.  

 Achieving a prosperous town centre developed in harmony with 
significant planned housing growth.

 Improving the identity, character and visitor experience.
 Improving the evening economy.
 Identifying development opportunities within / adjacent to the town 

centre.
3.5. The masterplan would sit alongside and supplement other initiatives such as 

the Neighbourhood Plan. 

Page 66



3.6. The suggested geographical area of the masterplan is shown in Appendix 1.  
This incorporates the town centre and areas identified by the Town Council’s 
2018 study.  The Council wishes the local community to have a key role in the 
development of the masterplan and the masterplan should build on the 
aspirations for the town set out in the emerging Neighbourhood Plan.  It 
should draw upon work such as the Grimsey Review 2 of High Streets (2018) 
and local studies such as the recent Crediton Town Council commission on 
Traffic and Public Realm (2018).  This will involve engagement with 
stakeholders such as the Town Council, Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, 
the Highway Authority and Chamber of Commerce as well as at least two 
stages of public consultation.

3.7. It is envisaged that the masterplan would be developed in two stages: an 
initial scoping exercise leading to the development of options, followed by the 
development of a draft masterplan with delivery and funding options.  

3.8. It is intended to commission consultants to assist in the preparation of this 
masterplan during the financial year 20/21. This report seeks authority to do 
so and sets out the intended scope of the geographical area to be covered. 

Contact for more Information: 

Christie McCombe, Area Planning Officer, (Major Projects, Tiverton EUE) 
01884 234277 cmccombe@middevon.gov.uk

Adrian Welsh, Group Manager, Growth, Economy and Delivery
01884 234398 awelsh@middevon.gov.uk 

List of Background Papers: 
Emerging Local Plan Review
Draft Neighbourhood Plan (Crediton)
Crediton Traffic and Urban Realm Feasibility Study (2018)

Circulation of the Report: Members of Cabinet

Page 67

mailto:cmccombe@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:awelsh@middevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2018.  OS 100022292.  

Appendix 1

Crediton Town Centre Masterplan Boundary

N
Sc

al
e 

1:
75

00

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET
7th March 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION

FUTURE HIGH STREETS FUND

Cabinet Member Cllr Richard Chesterton 
Responsible Officer Mrs Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and

Regeneration

Reason for the Report: This report analyses our three market towns and seeks to 
prioritise which of them should be selected to form the basis of the single expression 
of interest which is allowable under this fund.  It also identifies the potential for a 
further expression of interest to be submitted for the separate heritage part of the 
fund.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
 

i) That delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 
Regeneration and the Cabinet Member for Housing to submit an 
Expression of Interest to the Future High Streets Fund and to determine 
the financial amount sought under the fund; 

ii) That the expression of interest is made for Tiverton Town Centre; and

iii) That delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive (S151)  
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 
Regeneration and the Cabinet Member for Housing to submit a further 
Expression of Interest (or equivalent) if the opportunity presents for the 
regeneration of Cullompton’s historic High Street through the Heritage 
element of the Future High Streets Fund and to determine the financial 
amount sought under the fund.

Relationship to Corporate Plan: There is a very close correlation between the 
Government’s aspirations with regard to the purpose of the fund and our Corporate 
Plan’s key priorities.  In particular with regard to the Economy Priority Aim 3 – 
‘Improve and regenerate our Town centres, increasing footfall, dwell time and 
spend’. The Homes Priority Aim 3 – ‘Planning and enhancing the built environment’ 
and under Community Priority Aim 3 – ‘Promote physical activity, health and well-
being within the context of town centres’.  

Financial Implications: The fund provides an opportunity to help realise the 
ambitions the Council has to regenerate our town centres and respond to the current 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9.



challenges that they face to ensure their future economic prosperity.  It is not 
considered that the Council will incur any significant costs in applying for the funding. 

The Future High Streets Fund (FHSF) nationally totals £675 million.  It is anticipated 
that this fund will be significantly oversubscribed.  The Government has indicated 
that the majority of successful bids with receive between £5 -10 million; however the 
fund is able to contribute up to £25 million to projects per local area. 

The fund will also support the regeneration of heritage high streets up to £55 million 
of the overall fund.  This is through helping to restore historic high street properties 
through Historic England and equipping communities with their own resources to put 
historic buildings back into economic use via the architectural heritage fund.  

Legal Implications: To draw down the funding the Council would need to enter into 
a funding agreement with the Government which would be considered by Legal 
Services prior to signing.  

Risk Assessment: If the expression of interest does not align adequately with the 
Government criteria there is a risk that it has less likelihood of success. If 
unsuccessful it may be seen as a missed opportunity to help a High Street in Mid 
Devon meet its aspirations. 

There is also a risk that despite investing significant amounts of staff time and 
resource that the expression of interest could still be unsuccessful; however the work 
undertaken to prepare an expression of interest could be seen as a useful basis for 
future funding opportunities and aligns with areas of activities that the Council is 
already engaged in.

This report refers to the potential to make a further bid under the heritage high street 
element of the fund. The ability to do so in addition to a main fund bid is currently 
unclear. Officers have been engaging with Historic England over a potential heritage 
focussed bid within the context of Cullompton town centre.

Equalities Impact: There are no equality issues identified in this report.

1. FUNDING PROGRAMME

1.1 High streets are recognised as lying at the heart of our communities and local 
economies, creating jobs, nurturing small businesses and injecting billions of 
pounds into our economy. The Government has committed to helping local 
high streets to evolve and adapt to the rapidly changing ways that 
communities use their high streets; changes that are having an impact on the 
success of the high street.  

1.2 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government released a call 
for Expressions of Interest (EOI) for a fund of £675 million that has been made 
available to support local areas to prepare long-term strategies for their high 
streets and town centres. 

Page 72



1.3 The fund will provide investment in physical infrastructure including improving 
access, regenerating high streets, using under-used retail units for housing 
and workspace and supporting new housing and workspace. In the first round 
for the fund, projects which are ‘shovel ready’ may be fast-tracked for funding.  

1.4 There is also funding for regenerating heritage high streets - to restore historic 
high street properties and to put historic buildings back into economic use, for 
example as residential buildings, new workspaces or cultural venues. It is 
understood that Historic England will be administering a separate fund of £55 
million towards this.

1.5 Local areas are invited by the Government to provide proposals setting out 
the overall vision that they wish to achieve for their high street (and town) and 
specific improvements that would contribute to that overall vision. Funding is 
available for up to £25 million for each successful project area although 
project funds in the region of £5-10 million are the expected allocation range 
per town centre. 

1.6 The application process will be a 2 phase process. The first EOI phase is 
where the proposals will be assessed on the need for funding, nature of the 
challenge experienced by the high street and the vision for the future of the 
high street / town centre. For those who pass to Phase 2 there will be an 
amount of revenue funding available to work up project plans and associated 
business cases. Funding decisions will be based on project plans and 
business cases. 

1.7 The receipt of EOIs for Phase 1, are expected by 22 March 2019. However, 
applications for the Fund are expected to be supported by a letter of 
Endorsement from the Local enterprise Partnership HotSW. Officers will be 
working on this basis.   The Future High Streets Fund Prospectus, along with 
the recently released supplementary guidance for bidding authorities, is 
appended as Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 respectively. 

2. ASSESSMENT OF THE POTENTIAL FOR AN EXPRESSION OF INTEREST                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

2.1 The two phase application process is expected to be highly competitive. The 
guidance makes it clear that Local Authorities need to prioritise the town 
centre in their area that would benefit most from the FHSF. The Government’s 
Supplementary Guidance clearly specifies that Mid Devon is only eligible to 
apply for one town.

2.2 The guidance specifically refers to town centres.  It is clear from the guidance 
that the population served by the high streets is a significant consideration 
along with the breadth of different services offered.  It is clear therefore that 
we should be pursuing high streets in one of our three towns rather than the 
larger villages.  

2.3 The guidance suggests that there are six areas in which the bids will be 
assessed as follows:

 Population and links to wider economic area 

Page 73



 Challenges 
 Rationale for selecting town centre area 
 Town centre vision and ambition for change 
 Engagement and alignment of vision 
 Support for town centre vision

2.4 It is clear from the advice that successful bids will be for areas where 
challenges are significant and where funding has the potential to have the 
greatest impact. To inform the selection of which town centre Mid Devon puts 
forward, each of our three towns are considered in turn below: 

2.5 Crediton, similar to all three of our towns, has a fairly wide rural catchment.  It 
is performing reasonably well as a healthy town centre despite the national 
downturn and its proximity and access to Exeter city centre.  It also has 
relatively high occupancy rates when compared to the other Mid Devon towns 
and benefits from good community activity and engagement. However, it still 
has significant challenges such as air pollution and through traffic.  Similarly it 
has the potential to reduce the need to travel to Exeter by widening and 
expanding employment opportunities, improve the retail offer and enhancing 
the built environment. There is more that can be done to strengthen the town’s 
identity and celebrate its culture.  A Masterplan is planned to be developed in 
2020/21 to tackle issues relating to the town centre and identify projects for 
intervention and is addressed within a separate report on this agenda.

2.6 Cullompton is at a time of transition with significant growth planned for the 
area.  This includes sizeable development proposals to the North West of the 
town, the Garden Village initiative to the East and proposals for major 
infrastructure improvements.  There is wide acknowledgement that there is an 
acute need to achieve the following:

 improve the heritage assets of the town;
 tackle air quality problems;
 remove through traffic; and 
 improve the vibrancy of the town

2.7 The recent unsuccessful bid for Heritage Lottery funding does mean that there 
has been a bid already prepared for enhancing the heritage features of the 
town.  This would mean that Cullompton could be well placed to pursue the 
Heritage element of the Future High Streets Fund pot referred to in the 
previous section of this report.  It is intended that work on a Cullompton town 
centre masterplan will commence this year.

2.8 Tiverton, as with the other towns, has many challenges ranging from 
achieving increased footfall, improving the night time economy, enhancing the 
general environment of the town centre and tackling crime.  Tiverton has, 
through its Masterplan regeneration work, made significant progress towards 
visioning for the Town and engaging the local community in better 
understanding the challenges and the way forward to help transform the town.  
There has also been substantial work done with regard to significant 
regeneration projects being planned for the town.  The town now benefits from 

Page 74



an active Town Centre Partnership and there is growing clarity with regard to 
the aspirations of the town.  

2.9 All three town centres would be legitimate contenders for the Future High 
Streets Fund.  Given that the District Council can only choose one, it is 
recommended that a Tiverton based expression of interest (EOI) is pursued 
as it is considered that such a bid has the best fit with the Government’s 
criteria and has greatest chance of success. The criteria for the EOI make 
particular reference to the nature of the challenge facing the town centre, the 
scope of ambition / vision and readiness of ‘shovel-ready’ projects to be taken 
forward. The Local Authority is already in discussion with Historic England to 
seek opportunities to bring monies into Cullompton and this could be timely 
given the creation of the Heritage element of the Future High Streets Fund 
likely to be administered by them. Whilst Mid Devon District Council has 
committed to a masterplanning exercise for Cullompton town centre, detailed 
plans for the town are not as well progressed as Tiverton. All three of Mid 
Devon’s towns face significant challenges at a time of contracting high street 
retail. However, statistical evidence indicates that Cullompton and Tiverton 
have the greatest level of need, with Tiverton having the greatest clarity and 
readiness of key initiatives to transform the High Street. Other funding 
opportunities will  be sought for Cullompton and Crediton. 

3. AIM AND SCOPE OF THE EXPRESSION OF INTEREST.

3.1 A Tiverton based EOI would be complementing ‘shovel ready’ projects and 
initiatives already started and defined within the emerging Tiverton Town 
Centre Masterplan (that has been subject to a Stage 1 Public Consultation). 
The Regeneration and Delivery Plan shows clear evidence of MDDC seeking 
to invest in the town with opportunities to extend the programme of works 
beyond the Council’s assets to include private investors. In this context, the 
EOI will refer to the award winning Town Hall Riverside development as 
evidence of Local Authority investment. However, a clear rationale between 
the vision for regenerating the High Street and how this links with the 
challenges will be required. As a means to evidence strategic ambition the 
EOI will scope out:

i) Market Walk including redevelopment as a food and retail hall, 
improved frontages on to Bampton Street and the Pannier Market, new 
and additional residential accommodation and improved public realm.

ii) Fore Street / The Pannier Market including redevelopment to provide 
enhanced visual links to the historic market building, improved 
frontages on to Fore Street, new and additional residential and retail 
accommodation and improved public realm.

iii) Beck Square / Phoenix Lane including new and enhanced retail, 
residential, office, bar / restaurant and public realm works comprising 
private sector investment and third sector investment.

iv) Ambition to regenerate the market area, improve the streetscene and 
enhance access through to an improved cinema offering. 

v) Town centre including enhanced connectivity (broadband & mobile), 
signage and public realm including confirmed S106 funding.     

Page 75



3.2 Each will be scoped out in the Phase 1 EOI, within the context of the criteria 
set out below. A plan of the suggested geographical area to be covered by the 
EOI is attached at Appendix 3. Supplementary guidance (issued 8 February 
2019) provides weightings (%) to each element:

 Defining the Place (10%)
3.3 This will require information setting out the extent of the high street / town 

centre area covered in the proposal including a description of the area, the 
population living and working in the town centre area, how the area acts as a 
centre of social and economic activity and its links with wider economic 
catchment area. Statistical evidence will be required to support the assertions.  

 
Challenges (35%)

3.4 A clear description of the issues and challenges facing the area will be 
required including evidence setting out why the area would benefit from 
multiple sources of investment more than other centres in the area. 

Strategic Ambition (55%)
3.5 Evidence of the level of ambition from the local authority, support from local 

stakeholders and how government support would help to overcome the 
challenges will be required. A clear rationale between the vision for 
regenerating the high street and how this links with the challenges will be 
required.  

4.0 SUMMARY

 4.1 A Tiverton based EOI is proposed. The scope of ambition, vision and 
readiness of transformative ‘shovel-ready’ projects with the involvement of 
private and third sector partners to extend the programme of works, is more 
advanced than Cullompton and Crediton. This includes opportunities to deliver 
a dynamic mix of uses, employments, living spaces and cultural programme 
within the town centre beyond just Council owned assets as encompassed 
within the Tiverton Town Centre Regeneration and Delivery Plan.

4.2 EOI are required by 5pm on 22 March 2019 with an announcement of those 
submissions moving on to Phase 2, expected summer 2019.  

4.3 Should opportunity permit, authority is also sought to pursue a heritage high 
street bid for Cullompton. 

Contact for more Information: 

Adrian Welsh, Group Manager Growth, Economy and Delivery
01884 234398 awelsh@middevon.gov.uk 
 
Christie McCombe, Area Planning Officer, (Major Projects, Tiverton EUE) 
01884 234277 cmccombe@middevon.gov.uk

List of Background Papers: 

Page 76

mailto:awelsh@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:cmccombe@middevon.gov.uk


Future High Streets Fund call for proposals including prospectus, supplementary 
guidance for bidding authorities and application form:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-high-streets-fund-call-for-
proposals

Circulation of the Report: Members of Cabinet

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-high-streets-fund-call-for-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-high-streets-fund-call-for-proposals


This page is intentionally left blank



December 2018 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Future High Streets Fund 

Call for proposals 
 

Appendix 1

Page 79



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2018 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

December 2018 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5400-5

Page 80

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


3 

Contents 
Foreword 4 

Introduction 5 

Background: structural changes on high streets 7 

Scope of the fund 9 

Objectives 9 

How the Fund will work 9 

Funding decisions 10 

Eligibility 12 

Eligible places 12 

Local and stakeholder support 12 

Type and size of projects 12 

Assessment proces 14 

Phase 1: shortlisting places 14 

Phase 2: Business case development 15 

Application process 16 

Application form 16 

Submission of bids 16 

Enquiries 16 

Transparency and privacy 16 

Page 81



4 

Foreword 
For centuries, our high streets have been where commerce and community meet. They 
have been the hubs of enterprise, where small businesses grow and local jobs are 
created, and they are the barometers of our prosperity and the heartbeats of the places we 
call home. 
 
Today, as consumer patterns change and spending increasingly moves online, our 
expectations of high streets are changing too. A renewed emphasis on 'experience' brings 
convenience, valuable services and a powerful sense of the community to the fore – that 
intrinsic desire for something that cannot be replicated online. Where this has been 
achieved successfully, it can transform a community. It’s something we’ve seen 
showcased brilliantly at our Great British High Street Awards. 
 
This government is committed to helping more high streets adapt and meet these 
changing expectations; not just to survive, but to thrive. This is why we launched Our Plan 
for the High Street in autumn with a fund of £675m. Our Plan for the High Street includes a 
cut in business rates by up to a third for a wide range of retail properties for two years, a 
consultation on planning reform to make it simpler to create more homes, jobs and choice 
in our town centres, and the creation of a High Streets Task Force. 
 
The Future High Streets Fund is an essential part of Our Plan for the High Street, 
providing co-funding towards capital projects that bring transformative change. We want to 
see the regeneration of our town centres through innovative proposals around transport, 
housing delivery and our public services. 
 
Because no two high streets are the same, we are looking to work with visionary local 
leaders who understand what their local communities will need in the years to come. I’m 
looking forward to reading your Expressions of Interest and seeing your positive visions for 
our future high streets – places that can flourish for years to come. 

                                               
 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

The Rt Hon James Brokenshire 
MP, Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
 

Jake Berry MP, Minister for the Northern 
Powerhouse and Local Growth 

Page 82



5 

Introduction 
High streets and town centres lie at the heart of our communities and local economies, 
creating jobs, nurturing small businesses and injecting billions of pounds into our 
economy. But the way we shop and the way that communities use their high streets and 
town centres is changing: we are shopping more online, making fewer big shopping trips 
and shopping ‘little and more often’. This changes the nature of what makes a high street 
successful. 

The government is committed to helping local high streets evolve and adapt to these 
changes. We want to see thriving places created where the community feels engaged, and 
vibrant town centres where people live, shop, use services, and spend their leisure time.  

At the Budget, we set out Our Plan for the High Street, including: 

• cutting business rates by a third for up to 90% of retail properties for two years, to 
provide upfront support for high streets; 

• supporting the transformation of the high street, by creating a £675 million Future 
High Streets Fund to help local areas make their high streets and town centres fit 
for the future; 

• consulting on planning reform to make it simpler to create more homes, jobs and 
choice in town centres, and trialling a register of empty shops; 

• setting up a High Streets Task Force which will support local leadership with expert 
advice on helping local high streets to adapt and thrive; and 

• strengthening community assets, including the restoration of the historic buildings 
that make our high streets special, supporting community groups to use empty 
properties and providing business rates relief for public toilets and local 
newspapers. 

The Future High Streets Fund forms a central part of this Plan. It will support places by co-
funding transformative, structural changes to overcome challenges in their area. And it will 
support wider economic growth within local areas, delivering investment and growth 
across regions in England to deliver our modern Industrial Strategy.  

This document sets out how the Fund will operate as a two-round fund with two stages to 
the application process. This first stage of the application process, Phase 1, calls for 
places to come forward with Expressions of Interest by 22 March 2019 setting out their 
challenges and strategic approach to regenerating town centres. We will assess these 
Expressions of Interest against criteria set out within this document and make an 
announcement on which places will move forward to Phase 2, development of full 
business cases.  

During this second phase, shortlisted places will receive some revenue funding to support 
the development of their high street strategies which shall include specific project plans 
and associated business cases setting out how they shall regenerate these places. These 
business cases will be assessed in accordance with departmental and HM Treasury Green 
Book appraisal methodologies and criteria to be published in due course. 

£55m of the Fund has been allocated to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport to support the regeneration of heritage high streets. This has two elements: helping 

Page 83



6 

to restore historic high street properties through Historic England, and equipping 
communities with their own resources to put historic buildings back into economic use – for 
example as residential buildings, new work spaces or cultural venues, supported by the 
Architectural Heritage Fund. Further detail will be announced in due course. 

  

Page 84



7 

Background: structural changes on high 
streets 
Change on high streets is not a new phenomenon. Shop numbers have been steadily 
declining since at least the 1920s and over many years the ways in which people interact 
with their high streets and town centres have constantly evolved. Technological advances, 
new products, competition and changing consumer preferences have seen many high 
street retailers and industries rise to prominence or disappear. The rise in out-of-town 
shopping, for example, had a significant impact on the way that people engaged with high 
streets, in the same way that rising car ownership has transformed town centres.1 
 
In the past, high streets have shown themselves to be resilient to change, constantly 
needing to adapt to meet changing demands. They have continued to play a key role at 
the heart of many communities. 
 
However, the speed of these changes has increased dramatically in recent decades. The 
unprecedented growth of online shopping in particular has had a big effect on high streets. 
Between 2007 and 2018 online sales increased six-fold while the growth of in-store sales 
lagged behind. In 2000 online retailing accounted for less than 1% of total retail sales while 
in October 2018 almost a fifth of all retail sales took place online.2 
 
Technological advances, including the fast growth in personal computer use, smartphone 
use and improvements to broadband have facilitated this rapid rise in online retailing. We 
are starting to see online retailing replacing traditional "bricks-and-mortar" retailing seen on 
the high street as retailers are often able to offer competitive prices, more choice and 
greater convenience by moving their business online. 
 
This has left a number of vacant or under-used spaces in town centres, with a proportion 
of the existing stock of retail stores on high streets becoming under-used. There is 
currently a mismatch between the supply of existing space and the demand for different 
types of space in town centres.3 
 
The speed of this change has meant that high streets and local areas have not had 
sufficient time to adapt to meet these challenges. While there are examples of successful 
regeneration of town centres, many places across the country are struggling to transform 
in response to these structural changes. 
 
Evidence shows that high streets with a wide choice of retail services alongside well-
designed and planned residential and office space are more resilient to these changes and 
are adapting more successfully. In contrast, high streets that rely heavily on traditional 
retail without sufficient office space and housing surrounding the high street have found it 
harder to adapt to these changes and tend to be the ones that are struggling.4,5  

                                            
 
1 Centre for Retail Research (2013), Retail Futures 2018: Shop Numbers, Online and The High Street 
2 Office for National Statistics (2018), Retail Sales, Great Britain: October 2018 
3 British Property Federation (2016), Town Centre Investment Zones: Getting Investment Back Into the High 
Street 
4 Public Health England (2018), Healthy High Streets 
5 British Property Federation (2016), Town Centre Investment Zones: Getting investment back into the high 
street 
 

Page 85



8 

People want local high streets to provide convenience, a sense of community and to add 
value through services not offered online. High streets can and should continue to play an 
important role in the life of communities – they are the locus for some of the highest levels 
of social interaction in places and can be important drivers of growth in local economies.6  
 
Experience has shown that local areas need support, investment and guidance to help 
them meet these structural changes. To date many places have not been able to keep up 
with the speed of change to the detriment of town centres. We know that a scattergun 
approach of light touch interventions is not the solution for town centres facing large 
structural issues. Instead effective strategic thinking and masterplanning is needed, with 
local areas able to work across public and private sector organisations including local 
businesses, driven by strong local leadership. 
  

                                            
 
6 Parker, C., N. Ntounis, S. Quinn and S. Millington (2017), Identifying factors that influence vitality and 
viability 

Page 86



9 

Scope of the fund 

Objectives 
Given the above challenges, the objective of the Fund is to renew and reshape town 
centres and high streets in a way that improves experience, drives growth and 
ensures future sustainability.  

In this first phase of the programme we want local authorities to define the specific 
challenges faced by their high streets, to set out their overarching strategic ambition for 
what the high street or town centre should become and what needs to be done to make 
this possible.  

We would expect any identified need for investment to fall under the following themes: 

• Investment in physical infrastructure 
• Acquisition and assembly of land including to support new housing, workspaces and 

public realm 
• Improvements to transport access, traffic flow and circulation in the area 
• Supporting change of use including (where appropriate) housing delivery and 

densification 
• Supporting adaptation of the high street in response to changing technology 

How the Fund will work 

 
 
There will be two rounds of the Future High Streets Fund; we will therefore open 
applications to the Fund twice. The first-round application phase will open with the 
publication of this prospectus and aims to co-fund projects and places that have already 
started to formulate a vision for the future of their town centres. We will confirm the date of 
the second round and publish assessment criteria in due course, but it will not open before 
2020. 

The Fund will operate via a full competition over two phases, with the first acting as a light-
touch process in order to reduce the burden on places and minimise wasted resource. 
This prospectus acts as the launch of Phase 1 and invites places to come forward with 
Expressions of Interest setting out their challenges and strategic approach.  

As the first phase concerns identifying places to work with, we will not have regard to 
specific schemes included in submitted proposals when assessing bids.  

• There will be two rounds of the Fund, both with a two-phase application process 
• Phase 1 of application process: this is an Expression of Interest stage where we will 

assess places on the need for funding, nature of the challenge and the vision for 
the future of the town centre 

• Phase 2 of application process: for those who pass to Phase 2, there will be an 
amount of revenue funding available to work up project proposals. Funding 
decisions will be based on project plans and business cases 

• In the first round of the Fund, projects which are ‘shovel ready’ may be fast-tracked 
for funding 

• We will make an announcement on the second round of the Fund in due course 

Page 87



10 

We will assess these Expressions of Interest against criteria set out within this document 
and the application form. We expect to be able to make an announcement in summer 
2019 on which places will move forward to Phase 2, where they will develop full business 
cases. 

During Phase 2 shortlisted places will receive some revenue funding from government to 
support the development of their high street strategies and the business cases for their 
proposed projects. The High Streets Task Force, once established, will provide support to 
places in developing their cases. Places will also receive some support from within the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

We expect the full business case development phase to take 6 to 12 months, with some 
places taking less time and receiving decisions on capital funding at an earlier stage. At 
the end of each places’ business case development phase we expect them to submit 
specific project plans and associated business cases which will be assessed against 
departmental and HM Treasury Green Book appraisal methodologies. We will then make 
decisions on which places will receive capital funding and any further revenue funding as 
well as the level of this funding.  

• December 2018: Phase 1 opens and Expressions of Interest invited 

• 22 March 2019: deadline for Expressions of Interest 

• Summer 2019: announcement on places moving to Phase 2 

• Late 2019: first round of final business cases to be submitted  

• Spring 2020: all remaining final business cases to be submitted  

• Not before 2020: Second round of applications opens 

Funding decisions 
Phase 1 

Places shortlisted to move forward to Phase 2 will be granted some revenue funding in 
2019/20 to support the development of their project plans and associated business cases.  

We expect places to give in their Expressions of Interest an indication of the level of 
revenue funding they would need to deliver this; however, places are not guaranteed the 
full amount they propose as the amount of revenue funding is limited.  

Phase 2 

There is no guarantee of further investment funding to shortlisted places if the 
proposals put forward at the end of Phase 2 are not sufficiently developed or fail to 
demonstrate adequate value for money or deliverability. From the outset, places should 
consider how schemes could be flexed to reflect the options available and consider the 
best intervention to make a significant and transformative difference within their areas. 

Final decisions on the amount of capital funding (and any further revenue funding needed 
to support the delivery of this) for a shortlisted place will be made considering the quality of 
the proposals put forward at the end of Phase 2. When we make individual capital funding 
awards following the submission of business cases, we will announce the full funding 
amount for the scheme. We will also give an annual profile, which will need to be spent in 
the year allocated. 

Page 88



11 

Given the scale of investment proposed, any bids taken through to Phase 2 and shortlisted 
for capital funding will need to produce fully worked up business cases. We expect 
projects to be co-funded by public and private sector additions and this will be taken into 
consideration as part of the assessment of projects. We will expect an element of co-
funding, either on a project basis or to delivery a local area’s wider strategy for the high 
street.  This co-funding could either be public (e.g. from local areas’ own budgets) or 
private finance (e.g. co-financing housing infrastructure). 

The Fund will contribute up to a maximum of £25 million to each successful place. 
However, we expect to see a range of project sizes coming forward, many of which are in 
the region of £5-10 million per town centre. As such we do not expect to allocate that full 
amount to each area. When making funding decisions, we will consider the funding 
available in each financial year.  

The size of agreed funding packages, once approved, will be fixed. Should cost increases 
occur the Department will not provide additional funding, and this will need to be 
accounted for within local budgets or from private investment. 

  

Page 89



12 

Eligibility 

Eligible places 
 
Given their control over the strategic levers that will be necessary to bring forward the 
types of projects that will meet the objectives of the Fund, we recognise that local 
authorities are best-placed to bid for the funding and develop and deliver proposals.  

We therefore invite bids from unitary authorities, metropolitan districts, London boroughs 
and, where there is a two-tier system, from district councils, in England.  

We will not accept bids covering town centre areas that are not facing significant 
challenges. We expect places to come forward with proposals that cover high streets or 
town centres as defined as areas that exhibit high levels of social and economic activity, 
that contain a variety of uses and functions and that act as important service centres for 
extensive catchment populations. 
 
Small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance are not regarded as high 
streets or town centres for purposes of this fund. Additionally, the Fund is not directed at 
central business districts of major city centres. Proposals that cover entire city regions, 
rather than a single high street or town centre, will not be eligible for funding. 

Local and stakeholder support 
 
While we feel local authorities are best-placed to bid for funding, projects will likely be 
stronger and more successful if they tie into a broader economic market. We would like to 
see places link to the delivery of emerging Local Industrial Strategies and any wider 
strategic vision for the area at various levels. 
 
We therefore would expect to see Expressions of Interest come forward with proof of 
engagement with, and support from, a number of stakeholders including the following 
(where applicable): 
 

• Mayoral and non-Mayoral Combined Authorities 
• Local Enterprise Partnerships 
• Other tiers of local government in the area 
• Business Improvement Districts 
• Private sector 
• Community groups 

 
Type and size of projects 
 
We expect bidding local authorities to put forward a single, transformative submission 
covering one high street or town centre in their area. This may comprise of more than one 
intervention, but that will need to be subject to a strong business case. For example, a 
local authority may wish to consolidate its town centre offer across a number of high 
streets to provide additional residential or commercial space. In that case we would 
consider applications which saw interventions across the network of high streets assuming 
there was a sufficiently robust strategic business case.  

Page 90



13 

 
We would expect any identified need for investment to fall under the following themes: 

• Investment in physical infrastructure 
• Acquisition and assembly of land including making improvements to the public realm 
• Improvements to transport access, traffic flow and circulation in the area 
• Supporting change of use including (where appropriate) housing delivery and 

densification 
• Supporting adaptation of the high street in response to changing technology 

Funding will not be provided for surface-level projects that only make a difference to the 
appearance, rather than the use, of the area or those that would not have a long-term 
impact. 
  

Page 91



14 

Assessment process 
 

The competition will take place over two phases.  

Phase 1 is this light-touch process calling for Expressions of Interest by 22 March 2019. 
We will assess the definitions of places and need in these Expressions of Interest as well 
as the level of strategic ambition before making a decision on places we will take forward. 

During Phase 2 we will provide some support to these shortlisted places to develop their 
strategic vision and full business cases which will be assessed in accordance with the HM 
Treasury Green Book, MHCLG appraisal guidance and other departmental guidance 
where necessary. Places successful in moving to Phase 2 will receive capacity funding to 
support this. Based on the strength and merits of the final business cases, we will make a 
decision on which projects will receive capital funding and any further revenue funding. 

Phase 1: shortlisting places 
Places need to complete the application form in the annex. This is based around three 
themes against which places will be selected: 

1. Defining the place 

a. The geography of the high street/town centre 

b. The centre's catchment and link to wider economic areas 

2. Setting out the challenges 

a. Clear description of the issues and challenges facing this area 

b. Why central government funding is needed to meet these challenges 

c. Evidence to support this 

3. Strategic ambition 

a. Set out a high-level vision for improving their area and how this links with 
need expressed in Section 2 

b. Cover how investment from government will support the area and help 
overcome these challenges 

c. Demonstrate engagement with and support from local stakeholders including 
other tiers of local government, if applicable, and the private sector 

d. Demonstrate how this ambition will align with other funding streams (public 
or private) 

e. Show how this will link to wider strategic plans e.g. around housing and local 
growth 

f. Detail of capacity arrangements to ensure robust governance and delivery 

Page 92



15 

Applications will be sifted on the basis of the responses to these key themes. We will 
publish further guidance on the scoring criteria and weighting for Expressions of Interest 
before the end of January 2019. 

We will decide on the relative merits of each bid and shortlist places for the next phase of 
the competition.  

We are not asking for specific scheme proposals at this stage, as we will make a decision 
on which places to take forward based on the challenges and ambition set out in the 
application form.   

However, if as part of their strategic vision places would like to identify specific schemes 
they feel are “shovel-ready” and would be in a position to receive capital funding in the 
near future, we invite them to make this clear here and provide further supporting evidence 
if available. If this place moves forward to Phase 2 we would examine the proposed 
projects at an early stage of co-development. 

The use of qualitative and quantitative evidence from government bodies and well-
respected independent sources is encouraged. The suitability and validity of this will be 
scrutinised as part of the bid. 

Where the Fund is oversubscribed we will take into account factors such as the available 
profile of the Fund, ensuring a geographical spread of impact, and wider economic 
considerations. The Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government will make the final decision on funding.  

Phase 2: Business case development 
Shortlisted places will be invited to develop their strategic vision and business cases for 
specific projects. They will receive capacity funding at this stage to be spent on revenue 
needs and will be expected to seek additional private and local investment. They will also 
receive some support from the Department. 

Local authorities will then be asked to submit their final full business cases for specific 
projects. These business cases will then be assessed according to appraisal 
methodologies across the five cases as outlined in the HM Treasury Green Book, MHCLG 
guidance and other departmental guidance as necessary.  

More detail on appraisal and assessment at Phase 2 will be announced in early 2019. 

We expect to undertake business case development to allow those ready to move quickly 
to do so and avoid moving at the pace of the slowest. The Ministry will then take a final 
funding decision for each place who will then deliver the projects funded. 

It is expected that evaluation processes will be developed in tandem with the development 
of business cases. All funded places will be expected to complete an evaluation of 
interventions after the completion of the Fund proportionate to the level of investment 
agreed. 

Successful bids will be announced on a rolling basis. 

  

Page 93



16 

Application process 

Application form 
Places will be expected to apply via the application form attached as an annex to this 
document. 

Applications to the Fund will be assessed against the criteria set out in the annex. Further 
information on the scoring criteria and their weighting will be published by the department 
before the end of January 2019. 

A panel will moderate the final score of each bid to ensure consistency. The places taken 
forward to Phase 2 will be agreed by the Secretary of State after the proposals have been 
fully scrutinised. 

All applicants should evaluate whether their project will comply with the rules on State Aid 
under European Union law. 

Submission of bids 
All bids should be submitted electronically to highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk no 
later than 2359 on Friday 22 March 2019.  

We may wish to discuss the content of bids with local authorities to seek clarity on any 
aspects following the deadline. 

When authorities submit a bid for funding, as part of the Government’s commitment to 
greater openness in the public sector under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004, they must also publish a version excluding 
any commercially sensitive information on their own website within two working days of 
submitting the final bid to the Ministry. The Ministry reserves the right to deem the 
business case as non-compliant if this is not adhered to.  

As well as increasing transparency, publishing bids will also help create a network of 
places engaged in the process and support those places looking to bid for the second 
round of funding. 

Enquiries  
Enquiries about the Fund may be directed to highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk. 

Transparency and privacy  
Local authorities will be expected to spend funds in an open and transparent way. We 
would expect plans relating to the projects to be publicly available. In addition, we will 
expect details of the projects and progress to be made available to local authorities and 
MHCLG over the duration of the project including taking part in monitoring and evaluation.   
 
Any personal data provided through the application will be processed in line with data 
protection legislation. The following is to explain your rights and give you the information 
you are entitled to under the Data Protection Act 2018.   
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 

Page 94

mailto:highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk
mailto:highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk


17 

dataprotection@communities.gov.uk. Data protection legislation sets out when we are 
lawfully allowed to process your data. The lawful basis that applies to this processing is 
6(1)(e) of the GDPR: the processing of personal data is necessary for the performance of 
a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority.   
 
Your personal data is being collected to identify places to receive support from the Future 
High Streets Fund. We are processing your data as part of Phase 1 of the application 
phase deciding which places will move forward to Phase 2. We may also use it to contact 
you about further opportunities to apply for this project if we expand the Fund in future. 

We may share the information with external assessors as we assess the applications. 
Your personal data will only be shared with the assessor for that purpose and will only be 
retained by them for the duration of the assessment process. Your personal data will be 
held for the duration of the Fund, including monitoring and evaluation.   
 
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have rights that affect what 
happens to it. You have the right to:  

• know that we are using your personal data  
• see what data we have about you  
• ask to have your data corrected, and to ask how we check the information we hold is 

accurate  
• ask to have your data deleted  
• complain to the ICO (see below)  

  
In some circumstances you may also have the right to have all data about you deleted, or 
to object to particularly types of use of your data. We will tell you when these rights apply.  
Your personal data will not be sent overseas.  
 
We will not use your data for any automated decision making. Your personal data will be 
stored in a secure government IT system.   
 
When we ask you for information, we will keep to the law, including the Data Protection Act 
2018 and General Data Protection Regulation.  
 
If you are unhappy with the way the department has acted, you can make a complaint.  
If you are not happy with how we are using your personal data, you should first contact 
dataprotection@communities.gov.uk.   
 
If you are still not happy, or for independent advice about data protection, privacy and data 
sharing, you can contact:  
The Information Commissioner's Office:   
Wycliffe House   
Water Lane   
Wilmslow  
Cheshire SK9 5AF   
Telephone: 0303 123 1113 or 01625 545 745   
https://ico.org.uk/  

 

Page 95

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk
mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Future High Streets Fund: 

Supplementary guidance for bidding authorities 
 

Applications to the Future High Street Fund will be assessed based on the information 
provided to the department by bidding authorities in the Expression of Interest application 
form. Please see the application form published alongside the Fund prospectus for more 
detail on the information required in this stage. 

This document sets out the assessment approach, scoring criteria and provides additional 
information on the eligibility criteria for the first phase of the Future High Streets Fund. 

 

Fast track capital funding projects 
This first phase of the Future High Streets Fund is concerned with identifying the 
challenges that are being faced by high streets and identifying the town centre areas 
across England that are experiencing these challenges. 

However, if a local authority has been working on a specific project that meets the Fund 
criteria, but which they have not been able to progress due to a lack of capital funding in 
2019-20, we invite them to make that clear in their application form. If this is the case, 
local authorities should indicate this in section 3.4: Estimate of revenue funding 
required. 

While the details of specific projects will not be considered in our decision-making at this 
stage, we may consider fast-tracking these projects during business case development. 
We would expect to see clear evidence of the advanced nature of these projects, for 
example with masterplanning (if needed) in place, planning permissions at an advanced 
stage or in place, and delivery capacity in place. 

 

Local authorities with large populations 
We are inviting bids from unitary authorities, metropolitan districts, London boroughs and, 
where there is a two-tier system, from district councils, in England. 

We value the role of local authorities in identifying town centres in their area that are facing 
the challenges that the Future High Streets Fund is looking to address and prioritising 
those that would benefit most from this type of funding. 

However, across England the size of eligible authorities in terms of geography and 
population varies significantly. For example, many authorities have populations of under 
100,000 while larger unitaries and some metropolitan areas have populations 500,000 and 

Appendix 2

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-high-streets-fund-call-for-proposals


2 
 

above. To ensure that town centres and high streets across these larger are able to bid for 
funding, authorities with populations significantly higher than the national average are able 
to submit more than one expression of interest to the Future High Streets Fund if they 
wish, providing that authorities can demonstrate that these places are facing significant 
challenges, and that meet the eligibility criteria for the fund as set out in this guidance. 

Local authorities should still ensure that they are prioritising the town centres in their area 
where challenges are significant and where funding has the potential to have the greatest 
impact. Bidding authorities should note that we are expecting a high volume of 
Expressions of Interest into the fund and therefore we may take into account factors such 
as ensuring a geographical spread of impact and wider economic considerations when 
assessing bids. 

The maximum number of bids that each local authority is able to submit to the fund has 
been calculated by comparing each authority’s population to the average population 
across all eligible authorities. 

Please see Annex A for a breakdown of how many bids each authority is able to submit to 
the Future High Streets Fund alongside the methodology used to calculate these 
thresholds. 

 

Format of Expression of Interest applications 
The Expression of Interest application form is split into 3 sections, each of which is 
concerned with a separate theme against which places will be assessed: 

Section 1: Defining the place 

In this section, bidding authorities are required to provide details of the high street or town 
centre area to be covered within the application. Expressions of Interest should describe 
the town centre geography including its catchment and provide evidence of the importance 
of this town centre area to the wider local economy. 

Section 2: Setting out the challenge 

In this section, bidding authorities should provide information on the issues facing the town 
centre area covered within the bid. Bids should include a clear description, with supporting 
evidence, of the challenges facing the area, with clear links made to how these challenges 
align with the aims and objectives of the Future High Streets Fund. 

Section 3: Strategic ambition 

In this section bidding authorities need to set out their ambition for change and town centre 
vision. Applications should include evidence of support for this vision from relevant local 
stakeholders and demonstrate how this vision links to wider strategic plans such as Local 
Industrial Strategies. 

 

Page 98



3 
 

Assessment of Expressions of Interest 
Within these three sections there are a total of 8 questions that bidding authorities are 
required to complete in their application. The information provided through the answers to 
these 8 questions will be assessed in a several different ways: 

Bids will need to demonstrate that they meet the necessary eligibility criteria for the fund 
in order to be considered for funding. If an Expression of Interest fails to provide sufficient 
evidence of eligibility, it will not be scored as it will not be eligible for funding.  

Six of these questions are scored questions that will be assessed and given a score of 
between one and five. Each of these questions has been assigned a weighting and the 
total weighted score will be used to decide which of the eligible bids are successful at the 
Expression of Interest stage and will be therefore proceed to the business case 
development stage. For some of these questions, Expressions of Interest are required to 
score above a ‘minimum threshold’, or pass mark. Bids will be excluded from further 
consideration if they score below the threshold mark for any question. 

In addition, there is one ‘for information only’ question relating to an estimate of 
revenue funding required by places. This will not be considered in the assessment of bids. 
This information will aid the department in allocating available revenue funding to local 
authorities should they be successful in progressing to Phase 2 of the application. 

All Expressions of Interest will be moderated following the initial assessment to ensure 
consistency. Where there is a high volume of Expressions of Interest we may take into 
account factors such as ensuring a geographical spread of impact and wider economic 
considerations. Similarly, should be Fund be oversubscribed The Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government will make the final decision on which 
proposals progress to Phase 2 of the Fund. 

 

Minimum eligibility criteria for the Fund 
Bidding authorities are required to demonstrate in their application that their bid meets the 
minimum eligibility criteria for the Future High Streets Fund. 

If bidding authorities are not able to demonstrate eligibility, as defined in question 1.1 in 
the application, their Expression of Interest will not be considered for funding in that round 
of the Fund. This does not preclude local authorities from applying for a further round of 
Future High Streets funding in the future. 

 

1.1 Geographical area: 

Bidding authorities are required to demonstrate, with supporting evidence, that the 
geographical area covered in their bid meets the department’s definition of town centre 
areas as set out in the prospectus: 

Page 99



4 
 

“We expect places to come forward with proposals that cover high streets or town centres 
as defined as areas that exhibit high levels of social and economic activity, that contain a 
variety of uses and functions and that act as important service centres for extensive 
catchment populations. Small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance are 
not regarded as high streets or town centres for purposes of this fund. The Fund is not 
directed at central business districts of major city centres.” 

There is no minimum population threshold for eligible town centres for the fund as town 
centre populations do not account for wider catchments of town centres and high streets. 
This means that population data taken on its own is often not an effective measure of town 
centre or high street size. 

However, Expressions of Interest will need to provide evidence that the town centre area 
in their bid is an important centre serving the wider population, for example they could be 
town centres or district centres that provide a range of services and facilities and that 
support a mix of retail, leisure, entertainment and cultural activities. Where this is the case, 
bids should ensure that they include evidence to support this. 

We have stated that the Fund is not directed at central business districts of major city 
centres. We do not expect to receive Expressions of Interest that focus predominantly on 
the main commercial or retail centres of large major cities. This reflects the fact that the 
Fund is not designed to fund projects in areas which are not facing challenges that we see 
elsewhere in the country. 

Each bid must take the form of a single transformative submission that covers one town 
centre only. We value the role of local authorities in prioritising their bids to focus on the 
town centre(s) in their area that would benefit most from funding. Single bids that cover 
more than one distinct town centre area are not eligible and will not be considered for 
funding. 

 

  

Page 100



5 
 

Scored assessment questions 
All eligible bids will be assessed through six scoring questions: 

1.2: Population and links to wider economic area 

2.1: Challenges 

2.2: Rationale for selecting town centre area 

3.1 Town centre vision and ambition for change 

3.2 Engagement and alignment of vision 

3.3 Support for town centre vision 

 

Some criteria have a minimum threshold or ‘pass mark’. Where a bid scores below this 
threshold for any criterion it shall not be considered for funding. Please refer to the 
‘Eligibility’ section of the published Call for Proposals for more information on these 
eligibility criteria. 

A bid will not be considered if the bidding authority leaves any section blank or does not 
provide enough information for any question. All bids will be moderated following 
assessment to ensure consistency. 

We are aware that local context and the challenges facing each high street/town centre will 
differ from place-by-place. Therefore, each bidding authority must decide on the type of 
evidence that they include in their Expression of Interest, and the form that this evidence 
should take. Examples of the types of evidence that could be provided have been included 
below and in the application form, but this should be used as a guide only.  

The table below sets out more details of how each criterion will be scored and the 
weighting for each question. 

Where data is provided, please state the source. We expect places to use data and 
statistics from reputable sources.  

 

Criteria Factors taken into account Weighting (%) 

1.2: Population and 
links to wider 
economic area 

Bidding authorities will need to demonstrate 
that the town centre area covered in their 
Expression of Interest is an important centre 
serving the wider population. There is no 
minimum population threshold for town centre 
areas, as town centre populations do not 
account for the wider catchments that town 
centres and high streets serve. 

10 

Page 101



6 
 

 
Expressions of interest should include strong 
evidence detailing how the area in their bid 
supports extensive economic and social 
activity, that the area provides a range of 
services and could be considered an important 
centre for the wider catchment area. 
If the Expressions of Interest is from a city 
region there should be particularly strong 
evidence that this does not focus 
predominantly on the main commercial or retail 
centres of large major cities 
Supporting evidence could include (but is not 
limited to): 

• Resident and workplace population 
• Travel to work catchment area 
• Town centre footfall and visitor numbers 
• Commercial space in town centres 
• Evidence of retail and cultural activities 
• Information on the social and historical 

importance of the town centre area 
 

2.1: Challenges Bidding authorities will need to provide 
evidence that the town centre area covered in 
their Expression of Interest is facing the 
challenges cited in the Future High Streets 
Fund call for proposals, for example high levels 
of vacancy in town centres, declining footfall 
and overall town centre decline. 
Evidence must be provided showing how these 
challenges are aligned with the overall 
objectives of the Future High Streets Fund. In 
addition, bids must detail how capital 
investment of the type proposed in the Fund 
prospectus would address these challenges. 
 
We recognise that places will be facing a 
variety of different challenges. Therefore, it is 
up to bidding authorities to decide on the 
evidence of challenges that they provide in 
their bid. Supporting evidence of challenges 
could include the following: 

• British Retail Consortium KPIs such as 
retail sales monitor, retail employment 
monitor 

30 

Page 102



7 
 

• Town centre vacancy, openings/ 
closures of commercial units (over time) 

• Town centre footfall trends and 
pedestrian flows 

• Details of town centre transport 
challenges (for example details of 
congestion and air quality issues) 

• Residents/ customer surveys 
• Details of local housing demand 

2.2: Rationale for 
selecting town 
centre area 

Each bid must take the form of a single 
transformative submission that covers one 
town centre only. 
We value the role of local authorities in 
prioritising their bids to focus on the town 
centre(s) in their area that would benefit most 
from funding. 
 
Bidding Authorities should include a rationale 
with supporting evidence showing why they 
have selected the town centre area covered in 
their Expression of Interest. 
Bids should demonstrate that local authorities 
have considered alternative town centre areas 
in their bid and made an assessment of the 
pros and cons of bidding for funding for these 
different areas, including an estimation of the 
impact of funding in different places. 
 

5 

3.1: Town centre 
vision and ambition 
for change 

Bidding authorities will need to set out their 
vision for regenerating the town centre area 
covered in their bid and provide evidence of the 
level of ambition for change in the authority. 
 
Expressions of Interest should include 
evidence of a strong town centre vision which 
will include evidence to support how this vision 
will help to address the challenges that have 
been identified in section 2.1. 
 
Bids should also demonstrate that the bidding 
authority has significant ambition for change in 
the town centre area, is prepared to be 
innovative and think creatively about how to 
address the issues in the town centre area and 
provide evidence of strong local leadership, 

30 

Page 103



8 
 

partnership working and joined up thinking 
across the local authority do deliver 
regeneration in their town centre area. 
 
Bids should also include any detail on capacity 
arrangements to ensure robust governance 
and delivery. This includes any detail on a local 
team that will progress a bid to the timetable 
set out for the Future High Streets Fund. 

3.2: Engagement 
and alignment of 
vision 

Bidding authorities must set out how their town 
vision (detailed in section 3.1) links to wider 
strategic plans in their local authority area. 
 
Expressions of Interest should include strong 
evidence of alignment between their town 
centre vision and other funding streams as well 
as details of how their proposed vision would 
complement existing and planned work across 
their local authority and (where applicable) the 
wider region. 
 
Where applicable, evidence should be provided 
of previous partnership working with the private 
sector, including any details of any co-funding 
that has been identified. Co-funding could 
come from a variety of sources, including local 
authorities, private sector funds, or existing 
central government funding to a place. 
 
Bids could make reference to wider strategic 
plans including (but not limited to) housing, 
transport, local growth and the Local Industrial 
Strategies. 
 

10 

3.3: Support for 
town centre vision 

Bidding authorities must demonstrate, with 
evidence, that they have undertaken 
engagement with all relevant stakeholders in 
their area. They will also need to demonstrate 
that their proposal and town centre vision has 
the support of these stakeholders. 
 
The range of relevant stakeholders will vary 
and therefore there is no minimum threshold for 
or list of stakeholders for whom evidence of 
support must be provided. Where the success 
of a proposal and town centre vision is reliant 

15 

Page 104



9 
 

upon the buy-in and cooperation of a 
stakeholder, evidence of engagement and 
support must be provided in the Expression of 
Interest. It is up to each bidding authority to 
decide which stakeholders to engage with and 
the form that this engagement should take 
 
Stakeholders could include (but are not limited 
to): 

• Mayoral and non-Mayoral Combined 
Authorities 

• Local Enterprise Partnerships 
• Other tiers of local government in the area 
• Business Improvement Districts 
• Private sector 
• Community groups 

 
Any evidence of funding that has been 
secured, or a willingness to fund, by the local 
authority and partners should be included.  

 

 

For information only assessment question 
3.4 Estimate of revenue funding needed 

This question is not being scored and will not make up part of the overall assessment of 
Expressions of Interest. It has been included on the application form to help the 
department estimate the what level of development capacity funding might be needed by 
places should they be successful in progressing to the next stage of the Fund. 

There is no guarantee that local authorities will receive the full amount of revenue they 
submit as an estimate. Note that we expect the revenue element of the Fund to be over-
subscribed and encourage places to make realistic estimates. 

This response should explain clearly what the estimate of capacity funding would be used 
for, and what additional benefit this would bring for the development of the capital 
project(s). 

If a bidding authority has a project that they feel is deliverable in the short term were they 
to receive capital funding at an early stage, they should indicate this here and provide 
details to the department in their application. 

 

 

Page 105



10 
 

Timeline 
26 December 2018: Phase 1 opens and Expressions of Interest invited 

22 March 2019: deadline for Expressions of Interest 

Summer 2019: announcement on places moving to Phase 2 (business case development) 

Late 2019: first round of final business cases for Phase 2 to be submitted by local 
authorities 

Spring 2020: all remaining final business cases for Phase 2 to be submitted 

Not before 2020: Second round of applications to the Future High Streets Fund opens 

 

Submission of proposals 
Proposals must be received no later than 17.00 on Friday 22 March 2019. 

An electronic copy only of the bid including any supporting material should be submitted to 
highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk.  

Enquiries about the Fund may be directed to highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk. 

  

Page 106

mailto:highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk
mailto:highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk


11 
 

Annex A: Maximum number of bids permitted 
from authorities 

Methodology 
Using ONS 2017 mid-year population estimates1, the national average population for all 
eligible authorities in England has been calculated2. The 2017 mid-year estimates have 
been used as they are the most up to date national population figures available for local 
authorities. More information on the methodology of these figures can be found here. 

Authorities with a total population of less than this national average are permitted to submit 
one expression of interest to the Future High Streets fund. 

Authorities with a total population greater than this average are, if they wish, permitted, to 
submit more than one expressions of interest. The maximum number of bids they are 
allowed to submit relates to how many times greater their population is relative to the 
national average. The table below summarises this: 

 

Authority population relative to 
England average 

Actual authority 
population 

Maximum number 
of permitted bids 

Under the national average of authorities Under 170,612 1 

Between 1 and 2 times the national 
average of authorities 170,612 – 341,222 2 

Between 2 and 3 times the national 
average of authorities 341,223 – 511,834 3 

Between 3 and 4 times the national  
average of authorities 511,835 – 682,446 4 

Between 4 and 5 times the national 
average of authorities 682,447 – 853,058 5 

Between 5 and 6 times the national 
average of authorities 853,059 – 1,023,670 6 

Over 6 times the national average of 
authorities Over 1,023,670 7 

                                            
1 Office for National Statistics (2018), Estimates of the Population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland 
and Northern Ireland: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/dataset
s/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland  
2 Including Isles of Scilly and City of London 

Page 107

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/methodologies/methodologyguideformid2015ukpopulationestimatesenglandandwalesjune2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


12 
 

Maximum number expressions of interest permitted 
The table below sets out the total maximum number of bids that each eligible local 
authority in England is permitted to submit to the Future High Streets Fund. 

Local Authority 2017 Mid-year 
population 

Maximum number of 
bids permitted 

Adur 63,721 1 
Allerdale 97,213 1 
Amber Valley 125,898 1 
Arun 158,657 1 
Ashfield 126,164 1 
Ashford 127,527 1 
Aylesbury Vale 196,020 2 
Babergh 90,794 1 
Barking and Dagenham 210,711 2 
Barnet 387,803 3 
Barnsley 243,341 2 
Barrow-in-Furness 67,099 1 
Basildon 184,479 2 
Basingstoke and Deane 175,337 2 
Bassetlaw 116,304 1 
Bath and North East Somerset 188,678 2 
Bedford 169,912 1 
Bexley 246,124 2 
Birmingham 1,137,123 7 
Blaby 98,977 1 
Blackburn with Darwen 148,772 1 
Blackpool 139,870 1 
Bolsover 79,098 1 
Bolton 284,813 2 
Boston 68,488 1 
Bournemouth 194,752 2 
Bracknell Forest 120,377 1 
Bradford 534,800 4 
Braintree 151,677 1 
Breckland 138,602 1 
Brent 329,102 2 
Brentwood 76,575 1 
Brighton and Hove 288,155 2 
Bristol, City of 459,252 3 
Broadland 128,535 1 
Bromley 329,391 2 
Bromsgrove 97,594 1 
Broxbourne 96,762 1 
Broxtowe 112,718 1 
Burnley 87,705 1 

Page 108



13 
 

Bury 189,628 2 
Calderdale 209,454 2 
Cambridge 124,919 1 
Camden 253,361 2 
Cannock Chase 99,126 1 
Canterbury 164,100 1 
Carlisle 108,274 1 
Castle Point 89,814 1 
Central Bedfordshire 280,030 2 
Charnwood 180,387 2 
Chelmsford 176,194 2 
Cheltenham 117,128 1 
Cherwell 147,602 1 
Cheshire East 378,846 3 
Cheshire West and Chester 337,986 2 
Chesterfield 104,579 1 
Chichester 120,192 1 
Chiltern 95,355 1 
Chorley 115,772 1 
Christchurch 49,616 1 
City of London 7,654 1 
Colchester 190,098 2 
Copeland 68,689 1 
Corby 69,540 1 
Cornwall 561,349 4 
Cotswold 87,509 1 
County Durham 523,662 4 
Coventry 360,149 3 
Craven 56,604 1 
Crawley 111,664 1 
Croydon 384,837 3 
Dacorum 153,316 1 
Darlington 106,347 1 
Dartford 107,516 1 
Daventry 82,638 1 
Derby 257,034 2 
Derbyshire Dales 71,849 1 
Doncaster 308,940 2 
Dover 115,803 1 
Dudley 319,419 2 
Ealing 342,736 3 
East Cambridgeshire 88,858 1 
East Devon 142,265 1 
East Dorset 89,384 1 
East Hampshire 119,392 1 
East Hertfordshire 147,080 1 

Page 109



14 
 

East Lindsey 139,718 1 
East Northamptonshire 93,135 1 
East Riding of Yorkshire 338,061 2 
East Staffordshire 117,552 1 
Eastbourne 103,251 1 
Eastleigh 130,498 1 
Eden 52,779 1 
Elmbridge 136,379 1 
Enfield 332,705 2 
Epping Forest 130,576 1 
Epsom and Ewell 79,451 1 
Erewash 115,314 1 
Exeter 128,916 1 
Fareham 116,219 1 
Fenland 100,776 1 
Forest Heath 65,523 1 
Forest of Dean 85,957 1 
Fylde 78,863 1 
Gateshead 202,419 2 
Gedling 117,128 1 
Gloucester 129,083 1 
Gosport 85,509 1 
Gravesham 106,121 1 
Great Yarmouth 99,417 1 
Greenwich 282,849 2 
Guildford 147,777 1 
Hackney 275,929 2 
Halton 127,595 1 
Hambleton 90,718 1 
Hammersmith and Fulham 182,998 2 
Harborough 91,461 1 
Haringey 271,224 2 
Harlow 86,191 1 
Harrogate 160,044 1 
Harrow 248,880 2 
Hart 95,465 1 
Hartlepool 93,019 1 
Hastings 92,813 1 
Havant 125,065 1 
Havering 256,039 2 
Herefordshire, County of 191,041 2 
Hertsmere 104,031 1 
High Peak 92,063 1 
Hillingdon 302,343 2 
Hinckley and Bosworth 111,370 1 
Horsham 140,142 1 

Page 110



15 
 

Hounslow 269,100 2 
Huntingdonshire 176,979 2 
Hyndburn 80,410 1 
Ipswich 138,480 1 
Isle of Wight 140,984 1 
Isles of Scilly 2,259 1 
Islington 235,000 2 
Kensington and Chelsea 155,741 1 
Kettering 100,252 1 
King's Lynn and West Norfolk 151,945 1 
Kingston upon Hull, City of 260,673 2 
Kingston upon Thames 174,609 2 
Kirklees 437,145 3 
Knowsley 148,560 1 
Lambeth 324,048 2 
Lancaster 142,487 1 
Leeds 784,846 5 
Leicester 353,540 3 
Lewes 102,257 1 
Lewisham 301,307 2 
Lichfield 103,507 1 
Lincoln 98,438 1 
Liverpool 491,549 3 
Luton 214,658 2 
Maidstone 167,730 1 
Maldon 63,975 1 
Malvern Hills 77,165 1 
Manchester 545,501 4 
Mansfield 108,576 1 
Medway 277,616 2 
Melton 50,873 1 
Mendip 113,513 1 
Merton 206,052 2 
Mid Devon 80,623 1 
Mid Suffolk 101,543 1 
Mid Sussex 148,345 1 
Middlesbrough 140,639 1 
Milton Keynes 267,521 2 
Mole Valley 87,128 1 
New Forest 179,590 2 
Newark and Sherwood 120,965 1 
Newcastle upon Tyne 295,842 2 
Newcastle-under-Lyme 128,963 1 
Newham 347,996 3 
North Devon 95,440 1 
North Dorset 71,096 1 

Page 111



16 
 

North East Derbyshire 100,780 1 
North East Lincolnshire 159,826 1 
North Hertfordshire 133,321 1 
North Kesteven 115,230 1 
North Lincolnshire 171,294 2 
North Norfolk 104,067 1 
North Somerset 212,834 2 
North Tyneside 204,473 2 
North Warwickshire 64,069 1 
North West Leicestershire 100,109 1 
Northampton 225,656 2 
Northumberland 319,030 2 
Norwich 140,353 1 
Nottingham 329,209 2 
Nuneaton and Bedworth 128,659 1 
Oadby and Wigston 57,035 1 
Oldham 233,759 2 
Oxford 154,582 1 
Pendle 90,696 1 
Peterborough 198,914 2 
Plymouth 263,070 2 
Poole 151,270 1 
Portsmouth 214,718 2 
Preston 141,346 1 
Purbeck 46,756 1 
Reading 163,075 1 
Redbridge 301,785 2 
Redcar and Cleveland 136,005 1 
Redditch 85,204 1 
Reigate and Banstead 146,383 1 
Ribble Valley 59,504 1 
Richmond upon Thames 195,680 2 
Richmondshire 53,699 1 
Rochdale 218,459 2 
Rochford 86,209 1 
Rossendale 70,365 1 
Rother 94,997 1 
Rotherham 263,375 2 
Rugby 106,350 1 
Runnymede 86,882 1 
Rushcliffe 115,996 1 
Rushmoor 95,817 1 
Rutland 39,474 1 
Ryedale 54,311 1 
Salford 251,332 2 
Sandwell 325,460 2 

Page 112



17 
 

Scarborough 108,370 1 
Sedgemoor 122,178 1 
Sefton 274,589 2 
Selby 87,887 1 
Sevenoaks 119,429 1 
Sheffield 577,789 4 
Shepway 111,427 1 
Shropshire 317,459 2 
Slough 148,768 1 
Solihull 213,933 2 
South Bucks 69,785 1 
South Cambridgeshire 156,705 1 
South Derbyshire 102,385 1 
South Gloucestershire 279,027 2 
South Hams 85,340 1 
South Holland 93,295 1 
South Kesteven 141,662 1 
South Lakeland 104,321 1 
South Norfolk 135,471 1 
South Northamptonshire 91,074 1 
South Oxfordshire 139,767 1 
South Ribble 110,400 1 
South Somerset 167,216 1 
South Staffordshire 111,890 1 
South Tyneside 149,555 1 
Southampton 252,359 2 
Southend-on-Sea 181,808 2 
Southwark 314,232 2 
Spelthorne 99,120 1 
St Albans 147,095 1 
St Edmundsbury 113,725 1 
St. Helens 179,331 2 
Stafford 134,764 1 
Staffordshire Moorlands 98,496 1 
Stevenage 87,739 1 
Stockport 291,045 2 
Stockton-on-Tees 196,487 2 
Stoke-on-Trent 255,378 2 
Stratford-on-Avon 125,202 1 
Stroud 118,130 1 
Suffolk Coastal 129,016 1 
Sunderland 277,249 2 
Surrey Heath 88,765 1 
Sutton 203,243 2 
Swale 146,694 1 
Swindon 220,363 2 

Page 113



18 
 

Tameside 224,119 2 
Tamworth 76,527 1 
Tandridge 87,297 1 
Taunton Deane 117,423 1 
Teignbridge 131,437 1 
Telford and Wrekin 175,768 2 
Tendring 144,705 1 
Test Valley 123,957 1 
Tewkesbury 90,332 1 
Thanet 141,337 1 
Three Rivers 92,641 1 
Thurrock 170,394 1 
Tonbridge and Malling 128,891 1 
Torbay 135,247 1 
Torridge 67,821 1 
Tower Hamlets 307,964 2 
Trafford 235,493 2 
Tunbridge Wells 118,061 1 
Uttlesford 87,684 1 
Vale of White Horse 131,227 1 
Wakefield 340,790 2 
Walsall 281,293 2 
Waltham Forest 275,505 2 
Wandsworth 323,257 2 
Warrington 209,704 2 
Warwick 140,282 1 
Watford 96,675 1 
Waveney 117,897 1 
Waverley 125,010 1 
Wealden 158,941 1 
Wellingborough 78,914 1 
Welwyn Hatfield 122,274 1 
West Berkshire 158,473 1 
West Devon 55,329 1 
West Dorset 102,064 1 
West Lancashire 113,881 1 
West Lindsey 94,340 1 
West Oxfordshire 109,266 1 
West Somerset 34,865 1 
Westminster 244,796 2 
Weymouth and Portland 65,751 1 
Wigan 324,650 2 
Wiltshire 496,043 3 
Winchester 123,879 1 
Windsor and Maidenhead 150,140 1 
Wirral 322,796 2 

Page 114



19 
 

Woking 101,129 1 
Wokingham 164,980 1 
Wolverhampton 259,926 2 
Worcester 102,314 1 
Worthing 109,632 1 
Wychavon 125,378 1 
Wycombe 174,758 2 
Wyre 110,426 1 
Wyre Forest 100,715 1 
York 208,163 2 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



P
O

E
l

S
l

St

E
xe

Jo
hn

C
ar

 P
ar

k

P
s

FF

LB

River Exe

Ex

Bk

FB

C
lo

se

Bridge

River Lowman

C
hi

lc
ot

H
ou

se

P
C

C
h

C
t

1

4

3 2

8

5

7

6

9

FW

CR

G
P

P
H

CW

Lo
w

m
an

Old 
Blun

de
ll's

SM

S
ta

C
ar

Su
b

Coopers 
Court

TC
B

E
S

S

W
ei

r

U
nd

Job

C
lu

b

H
al

l TCBs

P
os

ts

D
ep

ot

Is
su

es

60.5m

69
.2

m
60

.1
m

64
.2

m

C
la

re

Works

S
in

ks

Cou
rt

The

B
us

Bank P
C

s

Li
by

Elm
ore

S
ta

tu
e

HI
LL

Sq
ua

re

to

Garage

Cine
ma

C
hu

rc
h

Gotham

Bl
dg

s

St
 P

et
er

's

Terrace

Lo
dg

e
Museum

H
am

S
up

er
st

or
e

Mill L
eat

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

Fo
rd

 H
om

es
LA

NE

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

B 
33

91

Ja
ne

s 
C

ou
rt

N
ew

 H
al

l

C
en

tre

ED &
 W

ar
d B

dy

Baptist

Sloping masonry

To
w

n

ST
R

EE
T

Hillside

W
el

l H
o

Cott
ag

e

W
el

lc
lo

se

Li
br

ar
y

Market Terrace

36

15

10

13

16

45

12

27

34

18

29

62

33

17

24

22

37

39

25

68
66

41

1a

47

19

48

54

28

26

40

60

14

20

32

8a

67

53

81

59

63

42

78

38

3a

23

84

51
5a

21

57

65

55

49

50

46

2a

31

43

7074

35

56

73
83

58
2d

64

N
ew

po
rt

Bu
ild

ing
s

Th
e 

Is
la

nd

Tarlair

M
ills

 C
ot

ts

C
og

ga
n'

s 
W

el
l

Franklyn

Ly
ch

 G
at

e

The Retreat

The Laurels

11

Th
e 

O
rc

ha
rd

MAPLE
 G

ROVE

PH
O

EN
IX

 L
AN

E

S
un

ny
ba

nk

38a

17a

31a

13
a

28a

61a

54
a

18
a

45a

35
a

66
a

54b

12
a

16
a

BE
C

K'
S 

SQ
U

AR
E

PW

B
el

l

R
ic

e

1 
to

 3

1 to 4

and 1

C
lo

ck

View

1 to 43

1 to 10

C
oa

ch

Cooks

8 
an

d 
9

Manse

28 to
 35

Oak
da

le

M
ag

no
lia

R
iv

er
ba

nk

Town Leat

St
 P

et
er

s 
C

ou
rt

Lo
w

m
an

si
de

Lo
w

m
an

 G
re

en

V
ic

to
ria

 R
oo

m
s

M
em

or
ia

l C
ot

ta
ge

D
ev

on
sh

ire
 H

ou
se

A3126

20

8

22

46

31

58

Lo
dg

e

FW

12

Court

PH

36

11

C
lu

b

36

4

2

Mill Leat

SM

P
s

24

23

40

2

CR

1a

4

8

2

27

E
l

12

C
ar

 P
ar

k

9

1

10

Town Leat

3

1

4

5

FW

B
rid

ge

17

46

2

10

2

26

6

55

10

18

1

24

1

CW

1
2

3

4

P
s

5

6

Bridge

1
9

3

TC
Bs

4

11

21

28
4

2

Ward Bdy

22

10

Bank

3

21

45

16

32

1

16

10

4

El
 S

ub
 S

ta

3

8

11

17

12

5

C
ar

 P
ar

k

P
C

H
al

l

3

1

1

66

18

1

10

22

E
S

S

38

12

3

7

115

CR

14

2

35

FW

17

1

26

53

6

18

37

3

1

3

2

21

2

35

10

4

34

1

4

42

18

11

23

9

60

13

19

2

1

1

6

29

2

16

5

Un
d

7
3

4

45

FW

35
46

65

CR

6

18

5
45

33

5

2

18

12

9

P
H

3

24

26

1

4

6

LB

1 to 3

Depot

3

1

2

2

LB

54

PH

12

Bank

34

C
ar

 P
ar

k

12

3

16

P
s

23

14

4

2

1

1

6

1

8

C
hu

rc
h

25

15

FW

Appendix 3
Future High Streets Fund
Expression of Interest for Tiverton

N
Sc

al
e 

1:
25

00

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018.  OS 100022292.  

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

CABINET   
7 MARCH 2019

FLEET SUPPLY AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT 

Cabinet Member(s): Cllr Peter Hare-Scott, Cabinet Member for Finance
Responsible Officer: Stuart Noyce – Group Manager Street Scene & Open 

Spaces

Reason for Report: To advise Members on the results of the procurement exercise 
for the provision of fleet supply and maintenance and seek approval to award the 
contract to the successful bidder.

RECOMMENDATION: 
(i) That Cabinet awards the contract jointly with Exeter City Council for fleet 

supply and maintenance to Supplier C with effect from 1 June 2019 for a 
term of 7 years with an option for a 7 year extension. 

(ii) That the Group Manager for Street Scene & Open Spaces explores 
further opportunities for joint working for Fleet Management.

Financial Implications: Table 1 (Appendix A) compares the annual cost of supply 
and maintenance under the new contract against our forecast expenditure for the 
next seven years if the Council were to continue its current approach of acquiring its 
own fleet through capital purchases and contracting out only maintenance and 
repair. The current budget for 2019-20 is £960,810 for the General Fund and 
£101,300 for the HRA.

Damaged and unfair wear and tear costs are not included as the Council will still 
have to fund these in either situation.  A budget of £70,000 is thought appropriate for 
the General Fund and £5,000 for the HRA.  This cost is currently within the existing 
maintenance budget.

Costs savings on this contract may be achieved by reducing the size of the Council’s 
fleet and disposing of vehicles which may be underutilised.

Further savings could be achieved through a shared Fleet Management 
arrangement by the awarding of a joint contract and shared working arrangements.

Legal Implications:   The method of procurement followed to date complies with the 
Procurement Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Financial Regulations.  
The 10-day standstill period will apply before the contract can be formally entered 
into.The Council holds an Operator’s Licence for its Large Goods Vehicles and it is a 
requirement of this licence to have in place a robust and effective vehicle 
maintenance regime which this contract will ensure.

Risk Assessment: An open and transparent tendering process was undertaken to 
avoid the potential for challenge, whilst at the same time ensuring that the chosen 
contractor is suitably equipped and prepared to deliver the service.

An options appraisal risk matrix that identifies the key risks is shown in section 13.5

Equality Impact Assessment: None arising from this report

Page 119

Agenda Item 10.



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

Relationship to Corporate Plan: Ensuring compliance with procurement 
regulations and to deliver our Corporate Plan priorities within existing financial 
resources.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the outcomes of the recent 
procurement exercise completed with Exeter City Council for the supply and 
maintenance of the Council’s fleet.  It includes both the vehicles for the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Mid Devon District Council have a statutory duty to provide a range of 
services that depend on having access to a variety of vehicles. The effective 
operations of these statutory functions depend on having reliable vehicles that 
are readily available and operate safely. 

2.2 There are several fleet procurement options available to the Council. In order
to ensure we achieve value for money and effective management of the
associated risks, work has been undertaken to analyse the options. The
results are summarised in this report and include input from an independent
consultant with specific experience in the area of municipal fleet procurement
acting as a ‘Critical Friend’.

2.3 Mid Devon District Council currently operates 97 road-going vehicles and 7 
items of powered equipment such as lawn mowers and a telehandler which 
will be included in this contract.  

2.4 Fleet and plant assets have been purchased as capital items as and when 
required, resulting in a fleet varying in age from new to over 10 years old.  
Mini tenders have been used under procurement frameworks for vehicle and 
plant purchases. 

2.5 Sinking funds have been used by the General Fund to ensure enough capital 
is available when items are due for replacement.  The HRA has used reserves 
to fund vehicle replacements.

2.6 The Council currently uses one main supplier for its vehicle maintenance 
requirements, as well as a number of other suppliers for tyre replacement and 
specialist maintenance and repair.  To ensure compliance with procurement 
regulations it was necessary to tender for these services.

2.7 The annual budget for the General Fund vehicle maintenance and spot hire is 
currently set for 2019/20 as £401,210. The HRA’s annual budget for vehicle 
maintenance and spot hire is currently set for 2019/20 as £101,300.  The 
budget for sinking funds for replacement of vehicles for 2019/20 is set at 
£559,600. The current and optimum life span of larger vehicles is 7 years and 
10 years for vans. 

Page 120



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

2.8 Contract Hire is generally more cost effective than prudential borrowing 
because the leasing companies have more expertise in disposing of vehicles at 
the end of life and they can maximise the residual value, thereby reducing the 
whole life cost.  The other advantages of this option are;

 The leasing companies have greater purchasing power and are able to
secure more competitive prices from the manufacturers than the Council.

 Leasing companies are able to secure comprehensive extended vehicle
warranties from the manufacturers that may not be available to the 
Council.

 These suppliers as owners of very large numbers of vehicles are able
to utilise their relationship with manufacturers to resolve issues and 
warranty repairs swiftly.

 The leasing company takes on the risk of the residual value of the vehicles 
at the end of the term.

 Contract hire is generally more flexible should there be a change in 
requirements or method of working and would allow swapping of vehicles 
(provided it is included in the tender specification).

 A significant benefit is the removal of the risk of unforeseen maintenance 
costs.

2.9 In 2017 Mid Devon District Council and Exeter City Council were in the same 
situation: owning their own vehicle fleet, with maintenance carried out by long 
standing contracts with local suppliers.  Both councils needed to tender 
their contracts to ensure compliance with procurement regulations and 
demonstrate value for money.  

2.10 The two councils therefore jointly used the services of Ricardo to assist with 
the procurement of a new contract.  A joint tender process was expected to 
deliver reduced costs by sharing consultant costs, create opportunities for 
joint working and potentially the increased size of the contract would make it 
more attractive to bidders. 

2.11 The specialist nature of fleet contracts, and as neither council had an existing 
contract, meant that appointing a consultant was the most cost effective 
approach to ensuring a successful procurement exercise with a detailed 
contract. The tender was based on a contract hire arrangement, under which 
the contractor would provide a fleet to the councils and manage the repair and 
maintenance.  It is envisaged that major fleet providers are able to purchase 
municipal vehicles more cheaply than individual councils and to negotiate with 
subcontractors to achieve competitive maintenance costs.  

2.12 Existing suppliers were notified of the contract tender and invited to confirm 
whether the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 
2006 applied to any employees engaged in providing services to the Councils.  
All Mid Devon suppliers confirmed that there were no TUPE implications.

3.0 THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS

3.1 The procurement was conducted using the competitive procedure with 
negotiation (CPN).

Page 121



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

3.2 The Council’s intention is to let a contract for seven years with the option to 
extend for a further seven year period. 

3.3 Advertising the contract

3.4 The contract was advertised via a contract notice in OJEU (the official journal 
of the European Union) on 28/08/2018.

3.5 Following publication of the notice, there was a window of opportunity for 
suppliers to express their interest in the project and submit their completed 
SQ (Selection Questionnaire). The closing date for receipt of SQs was 
22/09/2018 midday.

3.6 The notice prompted 54 expressions of interest but only 6 companies 
submitted a completed SQ by the date and time required.

3.7 All 6 of these companies passed the initial SQ stage and were invited to the 
next stage of the process; ISIT (Invitation to submit initial tenders).

4.0 EVALUATION CRITERIA AND WEIGHTING

4.1 Any contract will be awarded on the basis of the most economically 
advantageous tender.  The award criteria contained a mix of quality and 
commercial considerations.

4.2 The high level award criteria and weightings used for this procurement are set 
out below:

Quality 400 Points (40%)

MS1 30
Service Management Plan to include: Management 
Structure for the Contract, Social  Value and innovation and 
flexibility

MS2 30 Staff resources, including their management training and 
recruitment

MS3 60 Vehicle / Plant Resources

MS4 120 Service Delivery

MS5 70 Vehicle and Plant workshop

MS6 30 Mobilisation and Exit plan including TUPE Transfer

MS7 20 Performance monitoring, local management and reporting, 
including customer care and ICT arrangements

MS8 40 Health and Safety and Quality Management Plan

Price 600 Points (60%)

Page 122



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

5.0 SCORING METHODOLOGY

5.1 The scoring methodology used to evaluate the quality criteria was:

5.2 The scoring methodology used to evaluate price was:

Lowest price AES submitted receives maximum score of 600.  Other 
Applicants’ prices are scored in accordance with the following equation:

% Score = Lowest Tendered price x 600
      Tenderer’s price

AES = Annual equivalent sum

Page 123



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

6.0 INITIAL TENDERING STAGE

6.1 Tender documents were released through the e-tendering portal 
www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk on the 11th October 2018. Under the CPN 
procedure this is known as the Invitation to Submit Initial Tenders (ISIT).

6.2 Submissions were received on the 9th November 2018 from a total of 3 
suppliers.

6.3 The remaining 3 suppliers who were sent the ISIT chose not to submit a bid. 
No reasons were provided by these suppliers for their non-response.

7.0 INITIAL EVALUATION

7.1 The first part of the evaluation of initial tenders is a compliance checklist 
obtaining the following mandatory requirements:

a) Was the submission received on time?
b) Has the Provider submitted all the necessary Forms and Certificates, 

and are they appropriately signed?
c) Has the Provider submitted a completed set of Method Statements 

comprising a Service Delivery Plan and all requested enclosures?
d) Has the Provider submitted a completed Pricing Schedule and have all 

the items been priced?
e) Has the Provider completed the mandatory Vehicle and plant 

requirements in Schedules 3a and 3b?

7.2 Supplier A failed to meet c, d and e of the above mandatory requirements and 
they were advised of this fact and that their bid wouldn’t be considered in the 
onward process.

7.3 The evaluation of the initial bids for the remaining suppliers is shown in the in 
the confidential appendix Table A.

7.4 A number of clarifications for both supplier tenders were raised during the 
evaluation. These were sent to the suppliers for response, along with a list of 
items which the Councils were seeking to negotiate on. In addition, the 
suppliers were asked to provide a list of the items that they wished to 
negotiate on. This meant that in advance of the negotiation meetings, both 
parties knew all items which were tabled for negotiation and could prepare 
accordingly.

8.0 NEGOTIATION STAGE

8.1 Negotiation meetings were held on 11th and 12th December 2018 at Exeter 
City Council offices.

8.2 The meetings were recorded and full notes taken and issued to respective 
suppliers. The notes included each negotiation point and the resolution 
reached during the meeting discussion.

Page 124

http://www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk/


MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

8.3 Suppliers were also notified where a change that would affect their bid had 
been agreed with the other supplier. This was to ensure that at the next round 
of tenders, there remained an even playing field.

9.0 FINAL TENDER STAGE

9.1 All points from the negotiation meeting were incorporated into the tender 
documents to produce a final version of the tender and accompanying 
schedules.

9.2 These Final tender documents were released through the e-tendering portal 
on the 24th December 2018. Under the CPN procedure this is known as the 
Invitation to Submit Final Tenders (ISFT).

10.0 ROCO MEETING

10.1 Following the negotiation meetings, based on the volume of points which were 
discussed and the intricacies of the contract, the project team decided to add 
an additional stage to the procurement process in the form of the Revised or 
Confirmed Offer (ROCO) meeting.

10.2 The purpose of this meeting was to ensure that both parties (Councils and 
suppliers) were clear on, and had fully understood, the discussion that took 
place in the negotiation meetings.

10.3 Again, full notes were taken and issued to the respective suppliers who 
confirmed their agreement to them by return.

11.0 FINAL EVALUATION

11.1 Both suppliers provided on time submissions by the deadline of 5th February 
2019.

11.2 Evaluation was conducted individually by officers of the contracting authorities 
who then came together in a moderation meeting to review and agree final 
scores and comments.  

11.3 A summary of the final scoring is shown in the confidential appendix Table B

12.0 PRICING

12.1 A breakdown of the pricing has been set out in the confidential appendix in 
Table C which accompanies this report.  It also provides a comparison of the 
current expected costs versus the costs if the recommended option is 
progressed.

Page 125



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

13.0 PROJECT RISKS/ BENEFITS

13.1 The tender specification required bidders to explain how they offer flexibility 
over the profile of the vehicle fleet during the term of the contract.  This could 
include accommodating service changes, adding new services or reducing the 
fleet.  The preferred supplier has provided a satisfactory response on this 
matter.

13.2 The vehicles will no longer be owned by the Council once replaced through 
this contract and therefore there could be a risk if the supplier went into 
liquidation.  The preferred supplier has given options for entering into 
suspensive lease arrangements with the bank if this eventuality occurred.  
This would remove the likelihood of essential vehicles being removed.

13.3 The Council currently has built up significant sinking funds for future 
replacement of vehicles.  Moving to a contract hire arrangement means these 
funds can be released for other purposes.

13.4 The preferred supplier has given options of moving suitable vehicles for both 
authorities to greener type vehicles.  This will be more suitable currently for 
Exeter’s fleet due to the nature of a city as opposed to a rural district 
environment.  This includes supplying electrically-powered light commercial 
vehicles where suitable.  A contract hire arrangement reduces the technical 
risk to the Council of adopting new technology. In some cases diesel 
propulsion will remain the most practical option so any change will be based 
on a sound business case.  Replacing older diesel-powered vehicles with new 
Euro 6-equivalent vehicles will also reduce direct emissions.

13.5 Risk assessment for awarding contract to Supplier C

RISK IMPACT LIKELIHOOD CONTROL 
MEASURES

Financial failure of 
contractor

High; vehicles 
will be under 
ownership of the 
contractor

Low Suspensive 
Lease/Financial 
checks

Contractor fails to 
implement correct 
maintenance and 
repair arrangements 
through its 
subcontractors

Medium Low Robust contract 
management 
arrangements/ 
fleet checks

Council committed 
to high levels of 
revenue expenditure 
for 7 years

High High Contract 
clauses to allow 
vehicles to be 
given back early 
with agreed 
sums

Page 126



MDDC Report : Vehicle supply maintenance contract
V1

Risk assessment for NOT awarding contract

RISK IMPACT LIKELIHOOD CONTROL 
MEASURES

Non-compliance 
with procurement 
regulations

High Low Re-tender 
Contract

Council unable to 
procure favorable 
terms for 
maintenance-only 
arrangements

Medium Medium Market test

14.0 CONCLUSION

14.1 The outcome of the procurement shows Supplier C to be the winning bidder. 
Cabinet approval is therefore sought to award the contract to them, following 
a mandatory 10-day standstill period.

Contact for more Information: Stuart Noyce, Group Manager for Street Scene & 
Open Spaces – 01884 244635 / snoyce@middevon.gov.uk

Circulation of the Report: Cllr Peter Hare-Scott, Leadership Team 

List of Background Papers: 

Page 127

mailto:snoyce@middevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

MDDC Report – Supporting the formation of SW Mutual 1 

CABINET 
          
7 MARCH 2019 
           
SUPPORTING THE FORMATION OF SOUTH WEST MUTUAL 
 
Cabinet Member  Councillor Clive Eginton (Leader) 
Responsible Officer Stephen Walford, Chief Executive  
 
Reason for Report: To seek approval to invest £49,995 to support the next stage in 
the setting up of South West Mutual as detailed in Section 3 and Appendix A, and 
confidential Appendices B and C (exempt information) to this report. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the Cabinet recommend to Full Council: 
 

1. To approve the investment of £49,995 in South West Mutual for the 
reasons set out in this report,  the investment to be funded from the 
additional funds received from the 100% Business Rates Pilot Scheme. 

2. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (S151) to conclude the 
ordinary share acquisition. 

 
Financial Implications: These are outlined throughout the report.  
 
Legal Implications:  If the investment is not covered by the Council’s current 
investment strategy, it is outside the Policy Framework and therefore requires a 
recommendation to Council.   
The proposal is consistent with the Council’s powers to invest under the Local 
Government Act 2003 and the Localism Act 2011. 
 
South West Mutual is a co-operative society registered with the Financial Conduct 
Authority, but yet to commence trading.  The rules have been examined. If the 
Society is wound up, the members of the Society have no liability to contribute to its 
assets and no personal responsibility for settling its debts and liabilities. The liability 
of a shareholder is limited to the value of its shareholding i.e. it stands to lose out on 
its investment.   A shareholder is not automatically a member of the Society – an 
application has to be made. The Board of the Society has the right to cancel any 
shares held by non- members without repaying the principal amount.  The shares 
are non-withdrawable – this means that the Council cannot withdraw its share capital 
from the Society. 
 
There are no state aid implications from the proposed investment.  It is not aid, 
because it is not assistance which confers an advantage from the state – it is an 
investment being offered on the same terms to all with the share price fixed in the 
Society’s rules.  It is therefore a financial relationship in the normal course of 
business. 
 
Members should note that there are two appendices which are classified as exempt 
information under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
(Access to information: exempt information).  Accordingly, if they wish to discuss this 
information in Cabinet (and/or subsequently at Full Council), it will be necessary to 
pass a resolution to move into Part II business for that part of the discussion. 
 

Page 131

Agenda Item 11.



 

MDDC Report – Supporting the formation of SW Mutual 2 

 
 
Risk Assessment: [start text here and continue without indenting] 
 
Equality Impact Assessment: No equality issues identified for this report. The 
project could provide a positive contribution by making banking services more readily 
available in the district.  
 
Relationship to Corporate Plan: The proposal supports the Corporate Plan priority 
of Economy, encouraging business development and growth and also Community by 
helping the local community to access banking services, which are disappearing 
from the high streets across the District.   
 
1.0 Introduction/Background 
 
1.1 On 19 December 2018 Tony Greenham, of South West Mutual, delivered a 

presentation to Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Members and Leadership 
Team about the proposal to form South West Mutual – a regional bank for 
inclusive growth. A copy of the presentation can be found at Appendix A. 
 

1.2 It is envisaged that this economic grant would align with the Corporate Plan 
priorities. See Appendix A, Page 15. 
 

1.3 A series of questions have been answered by the Mutual as part of the 
Council’s due diligence. The responses can be found at Confidential Appendix 
C.  Members should note that this contains exempt information and is not for 
disclosure. 

 
2.0 Proposals 
 
2.1 The mutual is seeking an initial investment of £500,000 in order to progress its  

Banking licence application. It will then need to find an estimated £2.5m in 
2019 to set up operations and complete the banking authorisation process, 
and finally a further investment of £17.5m in 2020 to capitalise the bank and 
enable it to commence trading. 
 

2.2 It is envisaged that local authorities within the South West, who believe in the 
ethos behind the mutual and the benefits this could bring to the local 
economy, may wish to participate in all stages of investment including 
capitalising the bank once a provisional banking licence has been granted and 
the investment carries a lower risk. 
 

2.3 South West Mutual launched its initial fundraising on 19 November 2018 
seeking investment from private and institutional investors within the region. It 
is considered that the commitment of local authorities to invest in the initial 
Founder Share Offer will reinforce the confidence of private sector investor, 
make a significant statement of support for the social and economic mission of 
South West Mutual, and potentially shorten the timetable to opening branches 
and commencing trading within Mid Devon and the wider South West region. 
 

2.4 The issue of retail banking disappearing from local communities across the 
district is one that has been highlighted at various council committees, with a 

Page 132



 

MDDC Report – Supporting the formation of SW Mutual 3 

strong view that this disproportionately hits rural communities and rural 
businesses who need access to banking facilities. It is considered that 
supporting the formation of a new mutual bank would provide an opportunity 
to see new banking options come to fruition for local communities that might 
see branches of the big retail banks disappearing. 
 

2.5 It is proposed that the Council uses funds from the predicted business rate 
pilot dividend to invest in the Mutual. In return for this investment of £49,995, 
the Council will receive 3,333 ordinary shares. Members will recognise that 
the investment may not necessarily be returned to the Council. This should 
not be viewed as a normal investment made for purely financial return but one 
which supports the local economy. Hence, at this stage, officers do not 
recommend investing in the mutual explicitly to derive a financial return 
as this is deemed too much of a financial risk. 
 

2.6 These shares will receive a dividend of 7.5% if the new bank becomes 
profitable and this dividend will rise over time if South West Mutual is 
successful. In view of the higher risk of investment at this early stage, if a 
banking licence is obtained and the bank starts trading, Founder Shareholders 
will also receive an additional 2 shares for every share held. The combination 
of these two returns generates an estimated “internal rate of return” (being a 
measure of investment returns widely used within business and finance) of 
approximately 20% per annum. 
 

2.7 Members will appreciate that this investment is risky, but without the funding, 
the proposed benefits to the local economy may never be realised. 
 

2.8 It is envisaged that the Council would be one of the first to provide support to 
the mutual. At the time of writing this report three other authorities have 
signed up for Founder shares. 

 
3.0 Conclusion and Recommendations 
 
3.1 There are risks that should not be discounted. Members will need to be 

satisfied that the investment of £49,995 to South West Mutual, in return for 
3,333 ordinary founder shares is consistent with the Council’s corporate 
strategy. 

 
3.2 As the Council will receive ordinary shares, over the long term this initiative 

could be considered as an investment. However, this transaction should be 
viewed in the short term as akin to an economic grant. 
 

3.3 Members recognise that this transaction is not without risk and therefore do 
not expect to re-coup the grant, nor a profit on any shares acquired.  
Confidential Appendix B contains the detailed Founder Share Offer document 
– members are to note that this document is exempt information and not for 
disclosure. 
 

2.4 By making this “investment”, the Council will be forgoing potential return on 
the business rate pilot gain monies. The current investment return achieved 
by the Council is circa. 0.8% per annum. This equates to forgoing £400 per 
annum, if interest rates and returns were to remain the same. 

Page 133



 

MDDC Report – Supporting the formation of SW Mutual 4 

 
2.5 The recommendations are therefore to approve the investment of £49,995 to 

support the further establishment of South West Mutual as a founder 
shareholder and to fund this through the use of the “dividend” from being a 
Business Rates Pilot Authority in 2018/19. We estimate this Business Rates 
dividend to be in the region of £330k.  
 

2.6 The second recommendation is to delegate authority to the Deputy Chief 
Executive (S151) to complete the documentation associated with the share 
acquisition. The form is shown at Confidential Appendix B which is exempt 
information. 

 
 
 

 
Contact for more Information: Andrew Jarrett, Deputy Chief Executive (S151) 

01884 23(4242) ajarrett@middevon.gov.uk  
Jo Nacey, Group Manager for Financial Services  

     01884 23(4254) jnacey@middevon.gov.uk 
 
Circulation of the Report: Cabinet Member, Leadership Team  
List of Background Papers:  

Page 134



South West Mutual
Regional banking for inclusive growth

JULY 2015

P
age 135



Introducing South West Mutual

Mission-led business promoting sustainable and equitable prosperity 

for the South West

• First customer-owned full service bank

• Financial inclusion in the rules

• SME and social enterprise focus

• Multi-channel, committed to branches

and relationship banking

• Scale and efficiency – part of the CSBA network

• Financial strength: Profits £15m pa / loan book £380m by year 9
2

P
age 136



Helping tackle regional inequalities

3

SWM is an anchor 
institution

Supporting 
equitable and 
sustainable 
prosperity for the 
South West is our 
mission

P
age 137



SME finance is an ongoing issue

4

-14%

-12%

-10%

-8%

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

BH DT EX PL TA TQ TR

YoY change in total SME loans by postcode area

Q2 2014 Q3 2014 Q4 2014 Q1 2015 Q2 2015 Q3 2015

Q4 2015 Q1 2016 Q2 2016 Q3 2016 Q4 2016 Q1 2017

Barclays
CYBG
Lloyds/HBOS
HSBC
Nationwide 
RBS/Natwest
Santander UK

P
age 138



Lending to the real economy where you live

SME deposits and loans in 

Devon districts

Deposits £853m

Loans £462m

Net outflow £390m

5

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Big 4 SWB

SME

Business

Personal

Mortgage

International

Financial

Own assets

Real economy impact – SWM lending vs UK Big 4

SWM keeps money 
flowing within the 
region’s economy

Average of 
big 4 banks

South West 
Mutual

P
age 139



Commitment to financial inclusion

In Devon districts there are approximately*:

• 21,000 individuals without bank account

• 106,000 non-users of the internet

• 33,000 entirely dependent on cash

• 46% uncomfortable using digital only banks

• £8 million poverty premium

6

*Source: Pro-rata on population of 642,000 adults , from HMT report on 
cash March 2018, and CHASM Financial Inclusion Report 2016

People without bank accounts

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

m
ill

io
n

s

 Individual - no account

 Household - no account reported

 Households - affirmed no account

Source: FINANCIAL INCLUSION
ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2017 

SWM will provide full current 
account to any resident

P
age 140



Branches and local managers

• Losing 60 branches / 300 cash machines a month

• Branch access still important for many customers

• eg trading businesses; some older/vulnerable people

• Evidence confirms ‘soft information’ is vital for 

safe local lending

7

Branch Closures 2015-18

➢ SWM has Branch Directors and 
staff with decision making power

➢ We use modern technology to 
deliver a low-cost branch solution

RBS/
NW Lloyds

Barc-
lays HSBC Co-Op Other Total

East Devon 5 2 3 1 1 12

Exeter 2 4 1 1 8
Mid Devon 2 1 2 5
North Devon 3 4 1 2 1 11
South Hams 4 4 1 2 2 13
Teignbridge 3 4 1 1 9
Torridge 3 1 2 6

West Devon 3 1 1 1 1 7
Grand Total 25 21 10 8 4 3 71

P
age 141



Economic resilience: ‘no more boom and bust’?

-10%

-5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%
O

ct
-0

8

Ja
n

-0
9

A
p

r-
0

9

Ju
l-

0
9

O
ct

-0
9

Ja
n

-1
0

A
p

r-
1

0

Ju
l-

1
0

O
ct

-1
0

Ja
n

-1
1

A
p

r-
1

1

Ju
l-

1
1

O
ct

-1
1

Ja
n

-1
2

A
p

r-
1

2

Ju
l-

1
2

O
ct

-1
2

Ja
n

-1
3

%
 in

cr
e

as
e

 s
in

ce
 O

ct
 2

0
0

8
German bank lending to domestic enterprises

and self-employed

Commercial banks

Sparkassen

Local cooperatives

0

200

400

600

800

1000

EUR bn

Local cooperatives

Sparkassen

Commercial banks

8

P
age 142



Economic resilience: the UK’s Achilles heel?

-30.0%

-25.0%

-20.0%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

A
u

g-
0

8

Fe
b

-0
9

A
u

g-
0

9

Fe
b

-1
0

A
u

g-
1

0

Fe
b

-1
1

A
u

g-
1

1

Fe
b

-1
2

A
u

g-
1

2

Fe
b

-1
3

%
 in

cr
e

as
e

 s
in

ce
 A

u
g 

0
8

Total UK bank lending to non-financial corporates

9

SWM is committed 
to the region. We 
won’t chase the 
booms so we are 
still there during 
the busts.

P
age 143



Restoring trust in banking

• Our customers are our shareholders

• We will not engage in financial trading and 

speculation

• No bonuses or sales incentives paid to staff

• Living wage employer

• Maximum 10x pay ratio

• Board directly accountable to customers

• One member one vote

• Simple, honest and transparent charging 

structure

• No pressure to cross-sell financial products

10

Do you trust your bank? TRUST

Keeping my money safe 48%

Protecting my personal and financial information 43%

Providing me with truly unbiased advice suited to my 
needs

25%

Telling me if there is a better product for my needs/ 
situation even it means less money for them

21%

Source: EY Global bank survey 2016: Without it you’re just another bank

P
age 144



Digital channels

Online and 

app.

Full range of services competing with high street banks

South West 
Mutual

South West 
Mutual

24/7 video linked 

full service 

automated branch.

Some staffed times

Local HQ Satellite branches

Sub-regional hub 

with staff and 

Branch Director.

Safety deposit boxes.

Current accounts

SOUTH WEST MUTUAL

11

Fixed, transparent and 
simple membership fee:

Personal: £5 pcm
Organisation: £10 pcm

• Expense analysis
• ‘Jam jar’ functionality 
• Interest on whole 

balance
• Additional member 

benefits tbc

P
age 145



Why a monthly charge? Free banking does not exist

• Free-if-in-credit (FIIC) accounts are NOT free

• 90% of customers with FIIC accounts 

effectively pay charges

• Our model simple, transparent and honest 

• Allows us to be inclusive 

• and to maintain branch access

• Better value for money for many customers

12

“I do not advocate the ending of free-if-in credit 
banking. Why?  Because there is no such thing to 
start with, so it cannot be abolished as such. 

Nothing in life is free 
– sorry to disappoint.”

Andrew Bailey, Chief Executive FCA 
29th June 2017 

Bank SWM Lloyds NW

Classic Select

Monthly membership fee (5.00) - -

Interest on £1,000 in current a/c 1.22 - -

Interest on £4,000 in current a/c 4.88 - -

Cost of £500 overdraft for 15 days (1.94) (10.65) (9.74)

• 44% of Free-If-In-Credit accounts attract overdraft charges
• 80% of consumers do not know what  their overdraft charges are
• £2.9 billion paid in overdraft fees in 2014
• £4.3 billion interest foregone in 2014

P
age 146



Community Savings Bank Association

• Highly experienced Board

• ‘Bank in a box’ service

• 18 regional banks

• Test and training facility

13

P
age 147



RETURNS

Financial

Dividend of 7.5% by year 6
Growing dividend yield as profits rise
Moderate share price growth over the medium term

Economic 

Supporting local enterprises, business rates and employment
Boosting economic resilience during recessions, protecting jobs and incomes
Inclusive growth: spreading opportunities for locally driven business and 
employment
Recycling more spending and savings back into the Devon economy

Social & 
environmental

Tackling financial exclusion and problem debt
Improving financial capability and wellbeing
Restoring trust and building civic participation
Improved environmental and social performance

EXIT ROUTE
Trade with approx. 90,000 members projected by year 9 on a share trading 
platform

This is not investment advice; it is non-binding and it is subject to T&Cs that are to be agreed separately

Investment in Shares of South West Mutual

14

P
age 148



Strategic alignment

15

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

P
age 149



Local authority investment

Guidance from Arlingclose (Treasury Advisors)

Local Government Act 2003

“Investments made by local authorities can be classified into one of two main categories:

• Investments held for treasury management purposes; and

• Other investments”

“Local authorities should disclose the contribution that all other investments make towards the 

service delivery objectives and/or place making role of that local authority.”

Localism Act 2011 
The general power of competence allows local authorities in England to do “anything that 

individuals generally may do”

16

P
age 150



Local authority investment - precedents

17

Bank Authority Notes

South West Mutual West Devon Borough 
Council - £50k
South Ham DC - £50k

Approved on 4 Dec 18

Approved on 5 Dec 18

Hampshire Community 
Bank (Note 1)

Portsmouth BC -
£5m
Winchester - £250k
Test Valley - £500k

Capex funded by unsupported Prudential Borrowing / 
Capital receipts reserve. ‘Spend to save’ project. 
Economic development powers / general power of 
competence in S1 Localism Act 2011

Cambridge and Counties 
Bank

Cambridgeshire Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme

£8m in deferred shares for 50%
50:50 with Trinity College Cambridge

Cambridgeshire Building 
Society

£15 million core capital deferred shares carrying only 1 
vote

Redwood Bank Warrington BC £30m Bank will open a northern regional office in Warrington. 
Shortlisted in ‘Innovation in Finance’ category of 2017 
MJ Local Government Achievement Awards

Note 1 – Hampshire Community Bank is not part of the CSBA network and has not been licensed 
yet. It is possible that the regulators consider it to be too small scale as a stand alone bank. 

P
age 151



Pre-application Application Mobilisation LaunchPreparation

Capital:
Q1 2018

Q1 2019
Q3 2019

Q1 2020 Q2 2020

£0.5m £3m £7m

Timeline for banking licence and launch

18

£10m

Informal meetings with 
PRA/FCA

Fundraising

Refine business plan

Add experienced 
bankers to team

Formal application 
process

Maximum 12 months

Rigorous due diligence

Authorisation of key 
personnel

Provision licence gained

Operations go live with 
branch fitted out and 
systems integrated

Restriction on amount 
of deposits

Unrestricted trading 
with full licence

Incorporation

Stakeholder engagement

Business plan 
development

Form project team

P
age 152



In conclusion…

South West Mutual

www.southwestmutual.co.uk

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 159

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL – NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS 

April 2019

The Forward Plan containing key Decisions is published 28 days prior to each Cabinet meeting

Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Housing Assistance 
Policy, Devon Wide (to 
include an update on the 
Energy Company 
Obligation)
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

12 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Deposit and Rental 
Scheme (DARS)
To consider a report from the 
Director of Operation 
reviewing the Deposit and 
Rental Scheme (DARS)

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

12 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Private Sector Housing 
Fees and Charges 2019/20
To receive a report updating 
the annual fees and charges 
in relation to the Private 
Sector Housing Fees and 
Charges for 2019 / 2020.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

12 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Simon Newcombe, 
Group Manager for 
Public Health and 

Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01884 244615

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Market Schedule of Tolls
To receive a report 

Economy 
Policy 

Adrian Welsh, 
Group Manager for 

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Open

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 14.



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

recommending a schedule of 
market tolls for 2019/20.

Development 
Group

Cabinet

14 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Growth, Economy 
and Delivery Tel: 
01884 234398

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

The Grand Western Canal 
and Devon and Exeter Rail 
Project
To consider funding 
arrangements.

Economy 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

14 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Adrian Welsh, 
Group Manager for 
Growth, Economy 
and Delivery Tel: 
01884 234398

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Open

Cost-recovery and 
Commercialisation in the 
Growth, Economy and 
Delivery Service
To consider a report from the 
Chief Executive and Director 
of Growth setting out a more 
commercial approach.

Economy 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

14 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Stephen Walford, 
Chief Executive Tel: 

01884 234201

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Open

Operations Directorate 
Enforcement Policy
To receive the 2 yearly 
review of the Operations 
Directorate Enforcement 
Policy formally known as the 
Public Health Enforcement 

Community 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

15 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Simon Newcombe, 
Group Manager for 
Public Health and 

Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01884 244615

Cabinet for the 
Working 

Environment and 
Support Services 

(Councillor 
Margaret 
Squires)

Open

P
age 162



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

Policy from the Group 
Manager for Public Health 
and Regulatory Services.

Joint Meeting of PDG’s

Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers
To receive the 3 yearly 
review of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers from 
the Director of Corporate 
Affairs and Business 
Transformation.

Community 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

19 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Jill May, Director of 
Corporate Affairs 

and Business 
Transformation Tel: 

01884 234381

Cabinet for the 
Working 

Environment and 
Support Services 

(Councillor 
Margaret 
Squires)

Open

Corporate Health & Safety 
Policy
To receive the annual review 
of the Corporate Health & 
Safety Policy from the 
Director of Corporate Affairs 
and Business 
Transformation.

Community 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

19 Mar 2019

4 Apr 2019

Jill May, Director of 
Corporate Affairs 

and Business 
Transformation Tel: 

01884 234381

Cabinet for the 
Working 

Environment and 
Support Services 

(Councillor 
Margaret 
Squires)

Open

Environmental Health Fees 
and Charges 2019/20
A report from the Group 
Manager for Public Health 

Community 
Policy 

Development 
Group 19 Mar 2019

Simon Newcombe, 
Group Manager for 
Public Health and 

Regulatory Services 

Cabinet Member 
for Community 

Well Being 
(Councillor Colin 

Open

P
age 163



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

and Regulatory Services 
presenting the Environmental 
Health Fees and Charges 
2019/20

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019
Tel: 01884 244615 Slade)

Moorhayes Community 
Centre, Tiverton
To consider options for the 
disposal of an asset.

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019 Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Fully exempt

Statement of Community 
Involvement Review 2018
Report to seek authority to 
consult on the draft revised 
text

Cabinet

Council

4 Apr 2019

24 Apr 2019

Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

01884 234346

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Open

Tiverton Eastern Urban 
Extension Area B 
Masterplanning
To consider the outcome of 
the tender process

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019 Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

01884 234346

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Part exempt

Cullompton Town Centre 
Masterplan
To consider the contract 
award

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019 Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

Open

P
age 164



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

01884 234346 (Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Beech Road, Tiverton - 
Design and Build Tender
To consider the award of the 
tender

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019 Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Part exempt

Tiverton Regeneration 
Scheme - works to Fore 
Street and the market 
access - Award of Contract
To approve the outcome of 
the procurement exercise.

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019 Andrew Busby, 
Group Manager for 
Corporate Property 

and Commercial 
Assets Tel: 01884 

234948

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Part exempt

Design Supplementary 
Planning Document
To consider a report seeking 
approval to consult on the 
draft Supplementary 
Planning Document.

Cabinet 4 Apr 2019 Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

01884 234346

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Open

Greater Exeter Strategic 
Plan for Consultation
To consider a report of the 
Head of Planning, Economy 
and Regeneration regarding 

Cabinet

Council

Not before 
30th May 2019

Not before 6th 
Jun 2019

Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

01884 234346

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 

Open

P
age 165



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

a draft strategic plan. Richard 
Chesterton)

Environment Educational 
Enforcement Policy
To receive a report from the 
Group Manager of Street 
Scene and Open Spaces on 
the updates to the 
Environment Education and 
Enforcement Policy

Environment 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

11 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Stuart Noyce, Group 
Manager for Street 
Scene and Open 

Spaces Tel: 01884 
244635

Cabinet Member 
for the 

Environment

Open

Play Area Safety 
Inspection Policy
To receive a 3 year review 
from the Director of 
Operations of the Play Area 
Safety Inspection Policy

Environment 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

11 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Leader of the 
Council 

(Councillor Clive 
Eginton)

Open

Homelessness Strategy
To receive a report from the 
Group Manager for Housing 
presenting the revised 
Homelessness Strategy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Claire Fry, Group 
Manager for 

Housing Tel: 01884 
234920

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Market Rights Policy
To receive a report 
presenting the Market Rights 

Economy 
Policy 

Development 

Stephen Walford, 
Chief Executive Tel: 

01884 234201

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 

Open

P
age 166



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

Policy Group

Cabinet

Council

13 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

24 Jul 2019

Regeneration 
(Councillor 

Richard 
Chesterton)

Pets and Animals Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

National Assistance Burial 
Procedure
3 yearly review

Environment 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

11 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Leader of the 
Council 

(Councillor Clive 
Eginton)

Open

Housing Revenue Account 
Asset Management 
Strategy
To consider a revised 
strategy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Hoarding Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group 18 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

P
age 167



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

Cabinet 27 Jun 2019

Harassment Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Domestic Abuse Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Allocations Policy and 
Procedures

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Tenancy Strategy Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

18 Jun 2019

27 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Corporate Asbestos Policy Homes Policy 
Development 

Group 18 Jun 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 

Open

P
age 168



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

Cabinet 27 Jun 2019
01884 234950 Stanley)

Data Protection Policy
To consider the policy as 
part of an annual review

Cabinet 27 Jun 2019 Catherine Yandle, 
Group Manager for 

Performance, 
Governance and 
Data Security Tel: 

01884 234975

Leader of the 
Council 

(Councillor Clive 
Eginton)

Open

Revenue and Capital 
Outturn
To consider a report 
presenting the revenue and 
capital outturn figures for the 
financial year 2018/19

Cabinet 27 Jun 2019 Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Cabinet Member 
for Finance 

(Councillor Peter 
Hare-Scott)

Open

Annual Treasury 
Management Report
To consider a report 
providing members with a 
review of activities and the 
actual prudential treasury 
indicators

Cabinet

Council

27 Jun 2019

24 Jul 2019

Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Cabinet Member 
for Finance 

(Councillor Peter 
Hare-Scott)

Open

Freedom of Information 
Policy
To consider the policy as 
part of an annual review

Cabinet 27 Jun 2019 Catherine Yandle, 
Group Manager for 

Performance, 
Governance and 
Data Security Tel: 

Leader of the 
Council 

(Councillor Clive 
Eginton)

Open

P
age 169



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

01884 234975

Design Supplementary 
Planning Document  - post 
consultation
To consider the 
Supplementary Planning 
Document post consultation

Cabinet 25 Jul 2019 Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

01884 234346

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Open

Income Management 
Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

13 Aug 2019

22 Aug 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Tenancy Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

13 Aug 2019

22 Aug 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Single Equalities Policy 
and Equality Objective
To receive the annual review 
of the Single Equalities 
Policy and Equality Objective 
from the Director of 
Corporate Affairs and 
Business Transformation

Community 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

20 Aug 2019

19 Sep 2019

Jill May, Director of 
Corporate Affairs 

and Business 
Transformation Tel: 

01884 234381

Cabinet for the 
Working 

Environment and 
Support Services 

(Councillor 
Margaret 
Squires)

Open

P
age 170



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

Design Supplementary 
Planning Document for 
adoption
To consider the SPD 
following consultation for 
adoption

Cabinet 22 Aug 2019 Jenny Clifford, Head 
of Planning, 

Economy and 
Regeneration Tel: 

01884 234346

Cabinet Member 
for Planning and 

Economic 
Regeneration 

(Councillor 
Richard 

Chesterton)

Open

Compensation Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

1 Oct 2019

23 Oct 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Community Safety 
Partnership
To consider a report from the 
Group Manager for Public 
Health and Regulatory 
Services outlining the 
Council’s Community Safety 
Action Plan, and to seek 
Members recommendation to 
acknowledge and accept the 
priorities action plan

Community 
Policy 

Development 
Group

Cabinet

8 Oct 2019

17 Oct 2019

Simon Newcombe, 
Group Manager for 
Public Health and 

Regulatory Services 
Tel: 01884 244615

Cabinet Member 
for Community 

Well Being 
(Councillor Colin 

Slade)

Open

Cleaning Contractors
To approve the outcome of 

Cabinet 17 Oct 2019 Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Cabinet for the 
Working 

Open

P
age 171



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

the procurement exercise. Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Environment and 
Support Services 

(Councillor 
Margaret 
Squires)

Treasury Management 
Strategy and Mid Year 
Review
To consider a report with 
information regarding the 
treasury performance in the 
first 6 months of the 
municipal year.

Cabinet

Council

21 Nov 2019

8 Jan 2020

Andrew Jarrett, 
Deputy Chief 

Executive (S151) 
Tel: 01884 234242

Cabinet Member 
for Finance 

(Councillor Peter 
Hare-Scott)

Improvements to Council 
Property Policy
To consider a revised policy.

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

3 Dec 2019

19 Dec 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

ASB Policy and 
Procedures

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group

Cabinet

3 Dec 2019

19 Dec 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 
01884 234950

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 
Stanley)

Open

Leasehold Management 
Policy

Homes Policy 
Development 

Group 3 Dec 2019

Andrew Pritchard, 
Director of 

Operations Tel: 

Cabinet Member 
for Housing 

(Councillor Ray 

Open

P
age 172



Title of report and 
summary of decision

Decision 
Taker

Date of 
Decision

Officer contact Cabinet Member Intention to 
consider report in 

private session 
and the reason(s)

Mid Devon District Council Cabinet Forward Plan – April 2019

Cabinet 19 Dec 2019
01884 234950 Stanley)

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 175

Agenda Item 16.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 177

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 185

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5. S106 Governance
	Appendix C POS Full Process Flowchart Cabinet March 2019

	6. Costs in the Planning Service.
	Planning Costs Appendix 1 Analytical report CIPFA 2018

	7. Discretionary fee setting in Development Management
	8. Crediton Town Centre Masterplan
	Appendix 1 Crediton Town Centre masterplan boundary

	9. Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 1 Future_High_Streets_Fund_prospectus
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Background: structural changes on high streets
	Scope of the fund
	Objectives
	How the Fund will work
	Funding decisions

	Eligibility
	Eligible places
	Local and stakeholder support
	Type and size of projects
	Phase 1: shortlisting places
	Phase 2: Business case development

	Application process
	Application form
	Submission of bids
	Enquiries
	Transparency and privacy


	Appendix 2 FHS_Fund_Supplementary_guidance_for_bidding_authorities
	Future High Streets Fund:
	Annex A: Maximum number of bids permitted from authorities

	Appendix 3 Tiverton EOI boundary

	10. Vehicle Supply and  Maintenance Contract
	FLEET Report Part II

	11. Supporting the formation of a South West Mutual Bank
	Appendix A - South West Mutual
	Confidential Appendix B - Share Application Form C-010 (3)
	Confidential Appendix C - MDDC DD Questions and Answers Feb 2019 (2)

	14. Notification of Key Decisions
	16. 3 Rivers Development Limited - Business Plan
	Business Plan 21 02 2019 Final
	Appendix 1 - Risk Register February 2019
	Copy of Appendix 2 - 5 Year BP PART 2 _ 21 02 2019 FINAL


